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Vision

RATPEHZEAZBERP LN KE
Being the most student-oriented
university in the PRC

“Top 50 National Employment”

China New Higher Education Group (the “Group”) is a leading higher vocational
education group focusing on higher vocational education for more than 20 years
which first put forward and promoted the school operation model of application
oriented universities. As at 31 August 2023, the Group’s schools covered various
regions of China, cumulatively cultivating about 400,000 high-quality technical
talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality employment, the schools of the
Group have been awarded the “Top 50 National Employment (%2 B gt % T £
505%)", “Top 100 Typical Cases of Employment and Entrepreneurship of College
Graduates in China (2 B ¥l m IR E £ £ E A% TEMRA ZF10058)
by the Ministry of Education, and the employment rate of each school is among
the highest in each province and region, with continuous improvement in high-
quality employment rates.

2+ ¢ A
Aap

Qk Mission

BEEUEBLEESHE
REBMAEER
Enabling every student to achieve
career success and happiness in life
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Upgrade school operation conditions and educational environment
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Remarkable achievements of comprehensive education
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1 999 9 China New Higher

Guizhou Technology and

ETMERARBEREE ) .
Business Institute was

Education Group listed on

?\\%ﬁf@ﬁ : F%EE& T established 2015 the Main Board of
MEREE AR The school has now become ¥t BHEZ Bz fn A%  the Stock Exchange
Yunnan Einsun Vocational 2009 the largest private school (B R A=  Stock code: 02001.HK
Skills Training Station Was & )il TEM#EER iy Guizhou Province with a REEA)
established, starting the ekt leading employment rate and ~ Hubei Enshi College
entrepreneunal .hIS’[OI’y Guizhou Technology an increasing social reputation joined the Group (formerly
of China New Higher and Business Institute known as Science and
Education Group was commenced 0 e g 48 2 ¢ @ B E 4L R Technology College of
constructed The Group’s headquarter Hubei Minzu University)
relocated to Beijing from
Yunnan

2014

2004 2011 EEIHRREHE

- s s e o BETI2EEXLE
EHERRRTBERRAY Y ZHERARUEBESKRALS ?ﬁ;iéfﬁﬁ%i%

FMEESEERAENET IMRR RELAERHIEE 2 B3 2 T 4502 |
B B REMEH ZEAF By Technology and ~ 2()16

Yunnan Einsun Software Vocational YV EEBENRE AR . -
Business University was o g
College was established, unveiling a  Yunnan Einsun Software Vocational ’ IEEERBERNASE (R

. , awarded as “Typical o T BE S/ pE S ) B
new teaching phase of the Group's Collage was Upgraded to an Model School for National Eﬁél%k%ig%ﬁf )&
formal higher education undergraduate college, and was Graduate Employment tf:ﬁigjﬁ{{i&%ﬁ B

BEilETaEl] #\smER

renamed as Yunnan Technology and and Top 50 National
Business University, the first batch Employment” by the
of private undergraduate colleges in MOE

Southwest China and the first private

undergraduate college in Yunnan

Province

Harbin Huade University joined
the Group (formerly known as
Huade College of Harbin Institute
of Technology), being the first
batch of pilot universities for the
“Excellent Engineer Education and
Training Scheme” in Heilongjiang
Province

6 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#iEEBERAT



2020

EMIEBESRET 2EaREXEERERAETHA
HEHIHE

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute was awarded the “Top
100 Typical Cases of Employment and Entrepreneurship of
College Graduates in China”

EHMIMERENERABASEE RBRREREN
Yunnan Technology and Business University was awarded as a model
school construction unit for application-oriented talent cultivation
RZAMERIEF L HEHRERLEEHMNEM

The Yangtze River Delta Employment and Entrepreneurship Center
and Teaching and Research Center were launched in Suzhou

2021

tRBRER®
CORPORATE MILESTONES

2022
EMNIEBEERARRERERNBERENAE
METHOE| aRRERENIEE B

The promotion of Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
to an undergraduate-level vocational university has been

included in the cultivation unit of Guizhou Province’s “14th
Five-Year Plan” College Establishment Plan

EEIRERET 2EEREEEREENEFIE
b |

Yunnan Technology and Business University was awarded the
“Employability Training Base for National College Graduates”

2018
HHEREBERERINALSE
Luoyang Science and
Technology Vocational College
joined the Group

EMEERRBRMNASE
(EMMEIRSBHMIRE
2r)

Lanzhou College of Information
Science and Technology joined
the Group (formerly known

as College of Technology and
Engineering of Lanzhou University
of Technology)

ERAAERBEBEZRNA
L]

Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation College joined the
Group

BRI T 2 B R A S E
Zhengzhou City Vocational College joined the
Group

WL B Z Bt~ BN S B BHE 2B 5K
3%

Hubei Enshi College and Lanzhou College of

Information Science and Technology completed

conversion

R=ARERERBRL RRERE
BIZERBH 05 BIERY - bR
The Pearl River Delta Employment and
Entrepreneurship Service Center and the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Employment and
Entrepreneurship Service Center were launched
in Shenzhen and Beijing, respectively

2023
THERIENBBHE
BT

Yunnan School successfully passed the
qualification assessment of undergraduate
teaching by the Ministry of Education

HEREREFRFKAZEE—ET [E
% AR BFARIB R

Gansu School became the only private
undergraduate college rated “Excellent” in the
province during the annual inspection

EMNERERHENERS KFEEERHK
BRI T8 R)

Guizhou School was approved as a provincial-
level high-level vocational major group
institution in Guizhou (i.e., “high-level higher
vocational” school)

ok

[ARRIZHEBTE
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REVIEW OF THE 2023 FINANCIAL YEAR
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RitAiL &&=
Y7 AOBEHEREEAL
% @ Cumulatively cultivated
high-quality technical talents

ERE for the society

Students 400’0004.

J\FBREE100%32 8% 140,000+
/‘I.Iﬂl Eight schools are

wholly owned

100%

HBEER
Gansu School

RIEER
Northeast School
ERANEB AL
Zhengzhou School
BIEER
k Luoyang School

ERER
Central China School

EEER
Yunnan School

EMER BB
Guizhou School Guangxi Schools

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHF X EBAERAT



EHER

Yunnan School

EhER
Central China School

2R &
SCHOOL NETWORK

FF B % Undergraduate Universities

EEE-—E2BFRFEAR

H A 22 B E 2 A 3 T {E5058
PRABHZHMEARERZEER
BEAEEE—
TEKE—EATBEREMASE (KE)E
BERBEUNRRSR
EETFTARELEER B BEERY IS ERE
F— RERREEH158
EETFEER[BEFICTREMR] ARk —
The first full-time private undergraduate university
in Yunnan Province

Top 50 universities in national graduates
employment granted by the MOE

Ranked among the top 100 new undergraduate
universities in China and the first of the same
level in Yunnan Province in the Best Chinese
Universities Ranking (XA B X 22 5 )

The only private university in China to be the vice-
council member of the Association of Universities
(Colleges) of Applied Science

Ranked No. 1 in Yunnan and Top 15 in China for
five consecutive years in the number of awards won
by undergraduates in academic competition
Awarded “Excellent ICT Academy” by Huawei for
five consecutive years, which is the only school in
Southwest China

A S RBILEREREBRNFEER
NEBES2REHN—MERARARN
BECFRAMEANBR BEIFHEX
7t 4895%

BT (28 HEEREREN
Formerly known as Science and Technology
College of Hubei Minzu University

An application-oriented undergraduate university
with Medicine as its key disciplines

Typical employment school in the province for
two consecutive years, with employment rate
exceeding 95% for three consecutive years

The commissioned and targeted unit of the

[

government’s “Village Doctor Scheme”

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT &% 11



2R A &
SCHOOL NETWORK

e FIBAWMMNEIXRERMIEBER

s HEZBHEARMAE

e HEEAZAREIREMER

e Formerly known as College of Technology
and Engineering of Lanzhou University of
Technology

e One of the first batch applied technology
universities in Gansu Province

e Gansu Province College Student Employment
Demonstration School

HEER

Gansu School

o EIRM—i[985] ERMEEIXKRE
A TRERZ ] TRIEXAFE B0 FH
ABRBER

s HRBEBEREMRRLZEEZE WK
THEMBEI R &3 TEIAB

e EREITABHEBIREMBESIAEKR
B

o BEAFMIMRKEGTBEKNEH L2058

e TAREZAEZERKRE2023HBIAE—RZHE
X592 (AR PEERERREHE

e Qriginated from Harbin Institute of Technology
(HIT), a first-class “985” university, and a private
undergraduate university with “hard-core”
engineering majors as its feature for more than 30
years

e Jointly established the welding major with Harbin
Welding Institute, and successfully approved the

B national new engineering project
ij‘t **35 ' e The first batch of pilot universities for the
- Excellent Engineer Education and Training Scheme
NortheaSt ‘ in Heilongjiang Province
e Ranked among the top 20 universities in China by
Alumni Association for five consecutive years
e Top 7 majors were selected in the Ranking of
top majors in first class Applied Universities in
China by the Alumni Association in 2023

12 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#EHEBERAT



BEMEBR
Guizhou School

ERM B
/hengzhou Sehool

B E 8% Vocational Schools

2R A &
SCHOOL NETWORK

EMERERERNERER
HEBRERDRPITRASR
RETERRERBRIEFBESRS
ERERBRAREANERBEREZNE
BEu
KHBIHTEINAEME [THE] R
HEHRE

The largest private college in Guizhou Province
Top 100 universities and colleges with typical
employment cases recognized by the MOE

The employment work was praised by Huai
Jinpeng, Minister of MOE

Became a cultivation unit for promoting to an
undergraduate-level vocational university
Included in Guizhou Province’s “14th Five-Year
Plan” College Establishment Plan by the MOE

AEERERBERERR

HEEE+ERR
SRR 2 EE-HRHANNEEDS
B

Featured School of Vocational Education in
Henan Province

Top ten colleges with best education quality
The only college in China to offer a major in
refractory materials

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £ #&
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2R &
SCHOOL NETWORK

2ESBERREKR

A RMEEIFRIEHE RER
BHERBER

Top 100 higher vocational education schools
Deepening innovation and entrepreneurship
education demonstration school in Henan
Province

e \Vocational Academy Reform Model School

B fE B
Luoyang School

EEMFREREANRERRE—
BEEIFETEARAREBEERETH
RHEMN 58EAE—

s KENEMMIBFEARNHEREE
HRE BEEREEERZMERNEE

e Ranked No. 1 of its kind in employment rate for
two consecutive years in the province

e The only schools awarded as the outstanding
unit for employment of college graduates in the
autonomous region for five consecutive years

e Won the Guangxi Private Education Outstanding
Contribution Award for the 40th Anniversary of
Reform and Opening Up

e Cooperated with various famous schools in
Southeast Asian countries including Thailand and

EE%*& Vietnam
Guangxi Schools

14  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#ESHEEGRAT


CS01
Pencil


BEWMHBULARR

RAANERREEGMARNSNBRRIEZALEEE
E2023F8ANHIEMFEHEERE - HRSUR
RERHURGTFRFREFSHREEN D EEHEE
TE X RFRR R AR |

TEFTRHEEEINSEREREEE OF24
FHBRL -ERRNHBEEE RMAREEME
MBRE T ZELBEHARNEL UIEES—
BLEGREMMMALEZR| RABED
NRERTEKABRERFLNARE] BRI &
BE7EE (D B MBPT =R - P AR - & B4R
EREUEN BBITOEAN CRIFALEEHX
HBELASREEME  BMRERAT -

ITEBMEE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to the Shareholders the annual
results report of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2023. | would like to
express my heartfelt thanks to all Shareholders for their trust and support to
China New Higher Education Group.

China New Higher Education Group has been focusing on higher vocational
education and has a history of 24 years. As a private education group,
we conscientiously carry out the Party’s educational policy, implement the
fundamental task of strengthening morality through education, with the
organizational mission of “enabling every student to achieve career success
and happiness in life”, and is committed to become the “most student-oriented
university in the PRC”. At present, the Group has 8 universities in 7 provinces,
including 4 undergraduate universities and 4 higher vocational colleges, with
140,000 students and nearly 10,000 faculty and staff, cumulatively cultivating
about 400,000 high-quality applied and technical talents for the society.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £ #&
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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In the past year, with the joint efforts of all faculty and staff, we have overcome
a series of difficulties and challenges. While continuing to improve connotation
construction, this year, Yunnan Technology and Business University successfully
passed the undergraduate teaching qualification evaluation of the Ministry of
Education, and the enroliment work for the new academic year has also achieved
a historic breakthrough. It should be said that the high-quality development of
the Group has achieved significant new progress and new achievements in the
past year. The Group’s schools have made great progress in various aspects
such as education and teaching, employment results, students’ and teachers’
experience, management services, and the spirit and atmosphere of teachers
and students. The achievements are remarkable and are acknowledged by all.
Meanwhile, we continued to achieve steady growth in results, with 11.7% year-
on-year increase in total revenue and 13.4% year-on-year increase in net profit
attributable to owners of the parent, and maintained a dividend payout ratio of
50% and a dividend yield of 10% (on 28 November 2023).

Next, | will report on the Group’s high-quality development from the following
three aspects.

Firstly, we continued to increase investment in school operation. In the
past year, we invested RMB250 million in the construction and renovation of
teaching buildings, training buildings, supporting teaching and experimental
equipment and apartment facilities, and upgrading campus network, etc., which
has made each school take on a completely new look. At the same time, we
solidly promoted major projects such as the construction of upgrading Guizhou
School to an undergraduate university. The investment in teachers increased by
11%, with a targeted focus on strategic core personnel, the number of dual-
qualified teachers increased by 29% year-on-year, and the remuneration and
benefits of highly educated and qualified teachers increased by 7%, significantly
improving the competitiveness of salary in the industry, and continuing to build
a high-quality teaching team. The Group's schools launched the “students’ and
teachers’ experience improvement activities” for the first time among national
college and universities, and has built a digital experience management platform,
leading to a continuous increase in their satisfaction. In 2023, we invested over
RMB8 million to create the “peak experience” and focused on launching peak
experience activities for the opening and graduation seasons which were highly
recognized by students in eight schools, and were widely reported by CCTV,
People’s Daily and other authoritative media and greatly enhanced the influence
of the schools. The Group’s experience management efforts have become a new
carrier and name card of “three comprehensive education”.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHFEHXEEERAT
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TEH/ES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Secondly, we solidly promoted educational reform. Adhering to the
development strategy of “high-quality employment as the foundation of our
schools” and guided by the demands of the industry, the Group has insisted
on teaching students in accordance with their aptitude, guided the education
work through high-quality employment, deepened the OBE teaching reform,
designed and improved talent cultivation program in a reverse manner, and
promoted the changes in the teaching curriculum and education and cultivation
models. Focusing on classroom teaching and learning, the Group has organized
“Wonderful Classroom” competition for 14 consecutive years, and established
a rewarding mechanism for outstanding lessons, achieving “teaching more or
less and better or worse does make a difference”. The Group has built a cloud
platform for classroom teaching and management, constructed digital teaching
resources, compiled more than 100 high-quality cloud teaching materials, and
used 211,000 cloud teaching materials. Based on national policies, professional
construction standards, professional accreditation requirements and industry
needs, the system of talent cultivation objectives is constructed. The Group has
continued to deepen the exploration and practice of the integration of industry
and education by establishing collaborative training programs with more than
1,150 enterprises, established a total of 51 modern industrial colleges and
991 off-campus practice bases, with a total of more than 50,000 students
having learned and grown in the teaching model of integration of industry
and education. Rich achievements have been made in high-quality education
consolidating high-quality development. The Group’s schools have been awarded
14 first-class majors, 9 backbone major groups, 19 first-class courses and 15
high-quality courses. Guizhou School was approved as one of the provincial high
level professional group institutions (‘Double-High” Institutions). Students have
won 3,421 awards in various subject competitions, including 419 at the nationa
level, 40 top awards, and 1,997 at the provincial level and above. Yunnan Schoo
ranked top 15 in China among similar institutions in terms of the number of
awards.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £ %R
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Thirdly, we strived to improve employment quality. First, we increased
investment in employment and explored a vast number of positions in prestigious
enterprises. The Group has established employment bases in Beijing, the
Yangtze River Delta and the Pearl River Delta, and has collaborated with 1,109
well-known enterprises such as Huawei, ByteDance, BYD, Geely Automobile,
etc., providing more than 22,000 high-quality jobs for the graduates of 2023;
and the Group has initiated strategic cooperation with Zhaopin (5 B 48 ),
the leading recruitment agency in China, to provide more than 800,000 job
opportunities for students. Second, we targeted students’ needs to improve
the accuracy of employment services. We have set up an employment “iron
triangle” consisting of employment counsellors, professional teachers and
graduating class counsellors, and cooperated with “Beisen Career” (3t #k &£ ),
the most authoritative professional platform for career education in the country,
to develop customized counselor employment guidance competency courses
and conducted multiple training sessions and workshops. Special subsidies for
employment services were provided to graduating class counselors to support
employment services and job stabilization work. The Group has developed the
online employment service platform “Qiduo.net” (Communication Cloud, Training
Cloud, Guidance Cloud, Recruitment Cloud, Graduation Cloud, Promotion Cloud
and Security Cloud), and invited senior HR from famous companies such as
Alibaba to conduct 165 special training sessions to improve students’ job search
skills such as resume preparation, interview skills and workplace etiquette.
The Group has cooperated with Offcn Education and New Oriental to provide
guidance for further studies and postgraduate entrance examinations, organized
special employment activities such as the “Heart-warming Action” and “100-Day
Race” to give priority to families with subsistence allowances, families who have
been lifted out of poverty, disabled students, and graduates with employment
difficulties, carried out a special action to provide “one-to-one” guaranteed
assistance for graduates with employment difficulties and organized warm
employment services such as principals and secretaries delivering jobs to homes,
achieving 100% employment for graduates with employment difficulties for three
consecutive years. Third, we drove educational reform and enhanced the quality
of talent cultivation. We invested nearly RMB10 million to carry out a large-scale
survey of “exploring enterprises, expanding jobs, enquiring needs”, conducted in-
depth cooperation with Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, established strategic
partnerships with well-known companies such as Huawei, Geely Automobile and
Siemens, and opened 108 employment-oriented classes for famous enterprises.
In the last academic year, cooperative enterprises donated teaching instruments
and equipment amounting to more than RMB57 million to our schools.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHFEHXEEERAT
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TEH/ES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

This year, the total number and increment of college graduates across the
country reached a new record high, and the employment pressure on graduates
has been unprecedentedly high. However, the initial employment rate of the
graduates of 2023 from the Group’s schools still reached 90.65%. Among them,
the number of graduates with high-quality employment accounted for 24.7%,
with the number of employments in famous companies which are among the
world’s Top 500 companies and the China’s Top 100 companies, etc. increased
by 67% year-on-year. The proportion of graduates of 2023 from Northeast School
who were employed by the world’s Top 500 companies exceeded 10%. This
year, the Group was awarded 158 employment supply and demand education
projects by the Ministry of Education, of which 82 projects were granted to
Gansu School, ranking fourth in China. In the selection of the “National Award for
Excellence in Grassroots Employment for College Graduates” organized by the
Ministry of Education, 4 graduates were commended. Last month, Yunnan School
and Guizhou School participated in the assessment of 2023 Demonstration Units
of Employment and Entrepreneurship for Graduates of National Colleges and
Universities as the outstanding representatives of the province.

While adhering to high-quality development, the Group proactively implements
the ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) development philosophy, pays
attention to environmental protection, actively fulfils its social responsibilities,
improves the governance of the Group and its institutions, remains committed
to implementing the “No one should be left behind” student support program,
continues to implement the Western Yunnan Youth Entrepreneurship Institute
project of the Ministry of Education, and launches rural revitalization and
assistance projects, actively serving national and local economic and social
development. The Group continues to promote the integration of ESG concepts
into its development, and has initiated the cooperation with KPMG on ESG
projects, with a view to benchmarking against international standards and
global best practices, so as to enhance the Group's overall ESG standards and
steadfastly follows the path of sustainable and high-quality development.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £ %R

19



20

ITEH/RES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERAR EEEUEN -+ XBEHARSIE 2@
MABRSZEHERAERER RERITIL
EEA BAMEH ZUBBINEAERD  BEE
PRXSTHERNSZLRMAE  RMKREREA
T MAERBERE EHARBEKLELESEE
BR-FAE SESRERERSIER BHaRR
HORFRE REDRBREES K& B2
AEEE BEREHRENAHERR BHRER
BENREHRR -

AR |
TEFSEEEARLTF
FIE

TEH

2023411 H28H

Looking towards the future, guided by the spirit of the 20th Party Congress, the
Group will fully integrate into the construction process of national high-quality
education system, solidly execute the educational philosophy of “strengthening
morality through education, teaching students in accordance with their aptitude,
studying for the sake of application”, cultivate high-quality applied and technical
talents who have comprehensive development in morality, intelligence, physical
fitness, aesthetics, and labor skills, so as to assist in the construction of a
strong education nation and better serve the high-quality economic and social
development. Meanwhile, the Group will maintain its advantages in stable
performance growth, abundant cash flow, stable dividends and steady investment
returns, so as to create value in a sustained and steady manner, thereby
realizing long-term benefits and sustainable development, and achieving a long-
term win-win situation for both investors and the Group.

Thank you all!
China New Higher Education Group Limited
Chairman

Li Xiaoxuan

28 November 2023

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHFEHXEEERAT
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HIGHLIGHTS

The Group resolutely implements the strategy of high-quality
development, firmly adheres to the educational philosophy of
“strengthening morality through education, teaching students in
accordance with their aptitude, studying for the sake of application”,
takes “enabling every student to achieve career success and happiness
in life” as the mission of the Group, and devotes itself to building the
“most student-oriented university in the PRC”. Taking high-quality
employment as the foundation of a school, the Group continuously
strengthens the teaching innovation and educational investment,
comprehensively improves the quality of education, teaching and talent
cultivation, and serves the regional economic and social development,
S0 as to contribute to the high-quality development of higher vocational
education in China.

The Group continued to deepen education and teaching innovations, and
led its high-quality development with superior talent training. The Group
fully leveraged on the advantages of centralized school operation, clearly
defined the overall goal of talent cultivation, guided institutions to set up
professional talent cultivation goals, implemented comprehensive and
all-encompassing education for all students throughout their learning
journey, continuously improved the support system for talent cultivation
to enhance cultivation quality, and promoted the high-quality employment
and sustainable development of students.

The overall quality of education and teaching within the Group has
been significantly enhanced. The Group has established collaborative
training models with more than 1,000 enterprises, established a total
of 51 modern industrial colleges, 108 employment-oriented classes for
famous enterprises and 991 off-campus practice bases. The Group has
been newly granted with eight “Four New” majors (new engineering,
new medical, new agricultural and new liberal arts) that are urgently
needed for the development of national strategies and local regions, and
7 advantageous majors at the Northeast School have been selected as
the top applied majors in China in 2023. Remarkable achievements have
been made in high-quality education, and students from our schools
have won 40 top national prizes in 56 top comprehensive academic
competitions recognized by the Ministry of Education, achieving a new
record high.
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The Group continued to promote the development strategy of “high-
quality employment as the foundation of a school”. As of 31 December
2022, the overall employment rate of the Group’s graduates of 2022
reached 95.6%, maintaining a high level for three consecutive years;
as of 31 August 2023, the initial employment rate of graduates of
2023 reached 90.65%, representing an increase of 1.24 percentage
points compared to the same period of last year, of which the number
of students employed by famous enterprises such as the world’s Top
500 companies, the China’s Top 100 companies and A-shares listed
companies increased by 67% compared to the same period of last year.

Each of the schools has achieved outstanding results in high-quality
employment. More than half of the graduates majoring in nursing at
Yunnan School and Central China School who practiced in the General
Hospital of the People’s Liberation Army (“301 Hospital”) were employed
upon graduation; 1 out of every 10 graduates from Northeast School
secured positions in the world’s top 500 enterprises; Gansu School was
honored as “Demonstration College for Student Employment in Gansu
Province” and “Advanced Unit of Employment”, being the only college
in the province to receive such honor among similar institutions; four
students from Yunnan School, Central China School, Guizhou School and
Guangxi Schools respectively were awarded the First National Award for
Excellence in Grassroots Employment for College Graduates Granted by
Ministry of Education B EH EEZESREXEEEREF Y
%)

In the 2023/2024 academic year, the total number of students in
our Group’s schools is approximately 140,000, with a 2.7% year-on-
year increase in terms of number of new students. The structure of
students has further been optimized, with a continuous increase in
the proportion of undergraduate students among the total number of
students. The proportion of undergraduate students has increased by
3.4 percentage points. Additionally, there has been a significant increase
in the proportion of cross-province admissions in the Group’s schools,
with a continued expansion of enrollment in provinces with a large
student population and economically developed areas. The admission
cut-off scores continue to increase, the brand competitiveness has been
further enhanced, and the high-quality development strategy is steadily
advancing.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimBEEERAT
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BUSINESS REVIEW
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading higher vocational education group focusing on higher
vocational education for over 20 years which first put forward and promoted the
school operation model of application-oriented universities. The Group’s schools
covered various regions of China, cumulatively cultivating about 400,000 high-
quality applied and technical talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality
employment, the schools of the Group have been awarded the “Top 50 National
Employment (2 B 5t % T 1E5058)", “Top 100 Typical Cases of Employment
and Entrepreneurship of College Graduates in China (2B E@mE R E %
AL EAIE T EHA 2 I10058)” by the Ministry of Education, and the
employment rate of each school received top ranking from all provinces and
regions, with continuous improvement in high-quality employment rates.

BUSINESS ADVANTAGES

The Group firmly implemented and realized the strategy of high-quality
development with high-quality talent cultivation driving high-quality development.
We continuously increased investment to ensure sustained high-quality
development and use high-quality employment as a measure of our progress.
The Group’s focus was centered around addressing the core demands of our
students and to make precise efforts in areas closely related to students, such
as education, teaching, internships, practical training, and campus activities. The
quality of education and teaching continues to improve, resulting in a significant
improvement in student and teacher satisfaction. The outcomes in high-quality
employment are fruitful, and the Group’s high-quality development strategy is
effectively implemented, leading to rapid development in various endeavors.

CONTINUOUSLY STRENGTHENING THE LEVEL OF CONNOTATION
CONSTRUCTION WITH SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT IN THE QUALITY OF
EDUCATION AND TEACHING

() Continuously increasing investment to fully support the high-quality
development of Schools

The Group continued to increase investment in faculty costs, nurturing
potential and teaching facilities and equipment to ensure high-
quality development. The investment in teacher costs has increased
by 11% year on year, with a more targeted focus on strategic core
personnel. The Group has been expanding its dual-teacher teaching
team, enhanced the remuneration and benefits of highly educated and
qualified teachers, introduced industry experts and academic leaders,
and achieved remarkable results in high-quality faculty development.
Meanwhile, the Group has continuously upgraded its learning platform
for faculty and staff, optimized its training strategy, and tilted its
training resources towards frontline core staff (including teachers and
tutors), so as to efficiently support their professional development and
skills enhancement. In addition, the Group has continued to invest in
the development of experimental and training laboratories, libraries,
and teaching buildings, as well as the continuous upgrade of teaching
equipment such as desks, smart boards, and the overall improvement of
the teaching environment, providing comprehensive support for the high-
quality development of the schools.
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Focusing on classroom teaching and learning and comprehensively
improving the quality of talent training

The Group has adhered to the cultivation of high-quality talents as a
driving force for high-quality development. The Group’s affiliated schools
focus on classroom teaching and learning, emphasizing the importance
of delivering captivating lessons. For fourteen consecutive years, the
Group has organized the Wonderful Classroom competition, compiled
excellent teaching case studies, and established a rewarding mechanism
for outstanding lessons to promote significant improvement in students’
learning outcomes. Teachers have achieved remarkable results in
provincial teaching competitions and skills competitions. Teachers from
schools of the Group won 291 awards in various teacher-teaching
competitions, including 175 awards in top competitions recognized by
the Ministry of Education. Among them, our teachers won a second
prize at the national level with 6 first prizes, 13 second prizes and 19
third prizes at the provincial level in three authoritative national teaching
competitions for teachers, which has substantially improved the level of
teaching.

The Group innovated the talent training model to promote teaching
process management and evaluation with the digital transformation
of teaching. This enables the monitoring, supervision, and support of
teaching through the use of educational big data, facilitating a hybrid
model of online and offline teaching. The Group is fully committed to
promoting the digital transformation of teaching by leveraging new
platforms in educational information technology. They have developed
100 high-quality cloud teaching materials, with 50 of them officially
published. Among them, the book of “Java Programming” was recognized
as one of the top ten cloud teaching materials in the country, and the
book of “Computer Fundamentals” was selected as one of the provincial
teaching materials in the “14th Five-Year Plan” for vocational education.
This effort contributed to further enhancement of teaching efficiency.

Continuously promoting the integration of industry and education
with distinctive and differentiated features in eight schools

The Group has continued to deepen the integration of industry
and education by establishing collaborative training programs with
1,150 well-known companies. Together, we have built 51 modern
industry academies, 108 employment-oriented classes with renowned
enterprises, and 991 experimental training bases. The Group continues
to conduct the survey of “exploring enterprises, expanding jobs,
enquiring needs”, organizing core teaching backbones to “go out of
schools and into famous enterprise”. Guided by national professional
construction standards, they made improvements to teaching content,
methods, teaching processes, and the integration of industry and
education. The Group increased investment in teaching and optimized
the professional structure.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimBEEERAT
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The eight schools within the Group have achieved differentiated
development through the integration of industry and education. For
example, the Modern Welding Industry College at Northeast School has
established a joint training program with the world’s second-largest
welding research institute. Distinguished academicians have visited
the campus to provide teaching, resulting in an increasing number of
students enrolled in the program each year. The Huawei ICT College at
the Yunnan School is the only college in the southwest region that has
been awarded the Huawei Excellent ICT College for five consecutive
years. Students from this college have won first place in the 6th
Huawei ICT Global Finals. In addition to undergraduate universities, the
Group’s four vocational schools also have their own characteristics in
terms of industry-education integration. For instance, the Refractory
Materials Industry College at the Zhengzhou School is the only national
college specializing in refractory materials. The college has established
collaborative partnerships with industry and government to build
experimental training laboratories. The continuous deepening of industry-
education integration strengthens the foundation for cultivating high-
quality applied talents within the Group.

Significant achievements have been made in the construction
of advantageous majors, with rich achievements in high-quality
education

The Group actively responds to and undertakes the “Reform Plan for the
Adjustment and Optimization of Subjects and Majors Setting in General
Higher Education” (( EBEEHESEMBERBERABE LLE
J7 28 ) ) issued by five ministries including the Ministry of Education,
accelerates the adjustment and optimization of the structure of subjects
and majors, and has been granted eight new “Four New” majors that
are urgently needed for national strategic development or local regional
development, such as artificial intelligence, big data management and
application, and medical imaging technology. The Group has continued
to collaborate with internationally renowned universities to develop
advantageous majors. For example, the Snow Laboratory of Harvard
Graduate School of Education has fully settled in and jointly built the
pre-school education major with the Group, and completed the syllabus
construction of 13 courses through cooperation, while the results of
the investigations and research carried out in cooperation were shared
with world-renowned universities such as Fudan University, the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and Beijing Normal University. The Group has
cooperated with Xi’an Jiaotong-Liverpool University in carrying out
the “Shadow Mentorship Program” (82 F iR [ & AT 5+ ) and jointly
developed talent training programs and 12 courses, and carried out 6
professional certification and first-class curriculum construction training
lectures at Yunnan School.

The Group has achieved remarkable results in the construction of
advantageous majors. At present, the Group has been awarded 14 first-
class majors, 9 backbone major groups, 19 first-class courses and
15 high-quality courses. Seven advantageous majors at the Northeast
School, including welding technology and engineering, automotive
service engineering and communication engineering, have been selected
as 2023 China’s top application-oriented majors. Students have
achieved fruitful results in the competition. Students from the Group’s
schools have won 40 national top awards in 56 top-level comprehensive
competitions recognized by the Ministry of Education, setting a new
historical record, among which Gansu School achieved outstanding
results by winning gold, silver, and bronze medals in the China Robot
and Artificial Intelligence Competition, ranking first in both the quantity
and quality of awards in the province.
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CONTINUOUSLY STRENGTHENING EMPLOYMENT SERVICES TO
IMPLEMENT THE STRATEGY OF “HIGH-QUALITY EMPLOYMENT AS THE
FOUNDATION OF THE SCHOOL”

The Group insists on high-quality employment as the foundation of its
educational mission, considering high-quality employment as a benchmark for
high-quality development. In the 2022/2023 academic year, against the backdrop
of a challenging employment situation and intensified job competition, the Group
has consistently adhered to a prioritized employment strategy. It has continuously
expanded employment opportunities for graduates through the establishment of
three employment and entrepreneurship centers in the Yangtze River Delta, the
Pearl River Delta and the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region (the “Three Centers”). We
have also collaborated with platforms including Zhaopin (5 B #3E%) to focus
on emerging industries and explore more high-quality employment resources.
Meanwhile, we have incorporated employment guidance and career planning into
the curriculum, and provided ongoing training to optimize graduates’ resumes,
interviewing skills, and other enhancements in employment competition and thus
further enhanced graduates’ employment confidence and competitiveness.

The Group has achieved outstanding results in high-quality employment. As
of 31 December 2022, the final employment rate of the graduates of 2022
reached 95.6%, maintaining a high level for three consecutive years. The initial
employment rate of the graduates of 2023 as of 31 August 2023 reached
90.65%, representing an increase of 1.24 percentage points from the same
period of last year. In particular, the proportion of high-quality employment
reached 24.7%, with the number of employments in famous companies which
are among the world’s Top 500 companies, China’s Top 100 companies and
A-shares listed companies increasing by 67% compared with the same period of
last year.

The Group’s schools have achieved remarkable results in high-quality
employment. At Yunnan School and Central China School, over half of the nursing
graduates who interned at the renowned 301 Hospital have been retained for
employment. In Northeast School, 1 out of every 10 graduates has secured
employment in the world’s Top 500 companies. In Gansu School, 1 out of every
2 graduates has entered central and state-owned enterprises. The school has
been recognized as a “Demonstration College for Student Employment in Gansu
Province” and “Advanced Unit of Employment”, making it the only university in
the province to receive this honor among similar institutions. Four students from
Yunnan School, Central China School, Guizhou School, and Guangxi Schools
respectively were awarded the First National Award for Excellence in Grassroots
Employment for College Graduates Granted by the Ministry of Education (24 & &8
HEZ2E SR EEAEE ¥ £ 848, Yunnan School and Guizhou School
stood out among the colleges and universities in their respective provinces and
participated in the assessment of 2023 Demonstration Units of Employment
and Entrepreneurship for Graduates of National College and Universities as the
outstanding representatives of the province.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBAERAT
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THE IMPROVEMENT OF STUDENTS’ AND TEACHERS’ EXPERIENCE HAS
ACHIEVED SIGNIFICANT RESULTS TO SERVE DIVERSIFIED SUCCESS OF
STUDENTS BY A STUDENT-ORIENTED APPROACH

The Group attaches great importance to students’ and teachers’ experience.
Earlier, it pioneered the establishment of an experience management center
and built an experience management platform among national colleges and
universities. It has continuously improved the experience of students and
teachers, leading to a significant increase in their satisfaction and sense of
achievement. The Group conducted a survey on the satisfaction degree of
graduates and implemented 88 optimization measures related to employment
services, curriculum design, internship arrangements, etc., resulting in an 8%
increase in the satisfaction degree of graduates. The Group conducted the survey
on partner companies for two consecutive years, and the school management
and business environment were praised by graduates and partner companies,
resulting in an 5% increase in the satisfaction degree of partner companies.
Additionally, the Group iteratively upgraded its digital platform for managing
student and faculty feedback, achieving a 99.9% resolution rate. The Group
completed 176 tasks for experience improvement by listed and settled style,
including the establishment of “Canteen Express Inspection Room” and “Courtesy
Window” in all eight schools to ensure food safety. The Group also continued to
conduct activities such as “Principal Reception Day” and experience seminars to
collect opinions and suggestions. Many new suggestions proposed by students
were adopted and solved. During the year, the satisfaction rate of current
students increased by 7.2%, and faculty and staff satisfaction rate increased
by 8.1%, with significant results in improving the experience of students and
teachers.

The Group remains committed to the student-oriented approach and continuously
introduced top-tier chain catering establishments to cater for students’ campus
life, and added new mobile dining trucks, shared printers and shared coffee
machines to constantly improve students’ living experience and make their
intelligent lives more convenient. At the same time, the Group has continued
to enrich students’ campus activities. All eight schools have launched “peak
experience activities for the opening/graduation season”, including a large-scale
music festival and ceremonies where thousands of students wore traditional
Chinese clothing, which have been highly recognized by students and reported
by authoritative media. The Group’s experience management efforts have become
a new carrier and name card of “three comprehensive education” and received
praise from students as well as recognition from educational authorities.
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THE BRAND EFFECT OF OUR SCHOOLS IS INCREASINGLY PROMINENT
AND HIGHLY RECOGNIZED BY THE SOCIETY

The Group has achieved remarkable results in quality development. The
brand effect of our schools is increasingly prominent and highly recognized
by the authorities, the society and the industry. The following table shows the
representative recognitions or awards received by each school:

AR EIE
Recognition and Awards

HETFABABNGEERSENINERE — FERKEE158  # M A e HB2T2023F
PREREBELREANETERGEN

The number of awards won by university students in academic competitions ranked first in Yunnan and the top 15
in China among similar institutions for five consecutive years; selected and recommended by Yunnan Province to
participate in the assessment of 2023 Demonstration Units of Employment and Entrepreneurship for Graduates of
National College and Universities as the outstanding representatives of the province

BEHEMNERSKEEERERER (D E5]RRK)
Approved as one of the high level professional group institutions (i.e. “Double High” Institutions) in Guizhou Province

ENIRAR R 2023 B REREBH L P HFE70 - (25 B RNRERR TRESE —AL
Ranked 17th in the 2023 China Private Universities Ranking by Airuishen Alumni Association, and ranked 1st among
universities of the engineering class of the same level in the Northeast Province

BELREYENEEZERRELELEER XU
Its graduates receive the First Excellence Award in Grassroots Employment for National High School Graduates by the
Ministry of Education

EHTHE B EREEXEHBEREYH B THEA M BT ERELEESY
Approved as a provincial-level vocational education professional teaching resource library in Henan Province, and
approved as the first batch of exemplary traditional advantageous professional schools in Henan Province

XPBEEABAESREERENRTHGMARES
Invited to make a typical speech in the action meeting on graduation and employment of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region’s colleges and universities

BIHREABARETEREESR REIELESN A2ERERKRAH—BILKER
B
The employment work was recognized as the exemplary college in Gansu Province for employment of college
students and the advanced unit for, being the only collage among similar institutions in the province to receive this
honor

B EEMFEGREERETEMIIAELHLRE —F&
Its students won the first prize in the national final of the National College Digital Art & Design Awards for two
consecutive years

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBAERAT
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STEADY IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY AND CONTINUOUS OPTIMIZATION OF STUDENT STRUCTURE

In the 2023/2024 academic year, the total number of students in our Group's
schools was approximately 140,000, with a 2.7% year-on-year increase in terms
of number of new students. The structure of student has further been optimized,
with a continuous increase in the proportion of undergraduate students among
the total number of students. The proportion of undergraduate students has
increased by 3.4 percentage points. Additionally, there has been a significant
increase in the proportion of cross-province admissions in the Group's schools,
with a continued expansion of enrollment in provinces with a large student
population and economically developed areas. The admission cut-off scores
continue to increase, the brand competitiveness has been further enhanced, and
the high-quality development strategy is steadily advancing.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

VOCATIONAL EDUCATION IS AT THE RIGHT TIME WITH BRIGHT FUTURE
AND GREAT POTENTIAL

Policies continue to support the development of vocational education, with
a number of supporting policies have been introduced. In October 2022,
the report of the 20th Party Congress pointed out “insisting on the priority
development of education”, “accelerating the construction of an education
power”, “accelerating the construction of a high-quality education system”,
“providing education that satisfies the people”, and “implementing the strategy
of giving priority to employment”. In December 2022, the General Office of the
CPC Central Committee and the General Office of the State Council issued the
“Opinions on Deepening the Reform of Modern Vocational Education System
Construction” ((BER R BRRBEHERAZEIRNENER) ),
which proposed to “placing the promotion of the high-quality development of
modern vocational education in a more prominent position”, formulated specific
measures to support vocational education in terms of finance, fiscal, land, credit,
employment and income distribution incentives, and explored new mechanisms
for local governments and social forces to support the development of vocational
education, and attract investment from social capital and industrial funds in
the meantime. In addition, in December 2022, the CPC Central Committee and
the State Council issued the “Outline of Strategic Plan for Expanding Domestic
Demand (2022-2035)" (1% X A 75 B B 47 1 41 2 (2022-20354F ) ), which
clearly put forward to “encourage social forces to provide diversified education
services to support and standardize the development of private education” and
“steadily promote the classified management reform of private education”. In
March 2023, it was mentioned in the Government Work Report at the National
Two Sessions to “vigorously develop vocational education and promote the
innovation of higher education”. In June 2023, the National Development and
Reform Commission and other organizations jointly issued the “Implementation
Plan for the Empowerment with Integration of Industry and Education of
Vocational Education and Enhancement Actions (2023-2025)" ( (Bt # &
EXEE B R A TE E i 77 2 (2023-20254F ) ) ), which clearly put
forward to “increase support in finance, investment, taxation, land, credit, and
other policies and further improve the comprehensive incentive policy system”,
thus providing a favorable guarantee for the development of private higher
education institutions.
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China New Higher Education Group will unwaveringly follow the path of high
quality development, implement the fundamental task of strengthening morality
through education, deepen the integration of industry and education, and
comprehensively improve the quality of education, teaching and talent training to
serve regional economic and social development, with the mission of “enabling
every student to achieve career success and happiness in life”, so as to
contribute to the high-quality development of higher vocational education.

WITH THE “THREE SUSTAINABILITY”, FUTURE DEVELOPMENT CAN BE
EXPECTED

@

(1

()

Continue to follow the path of high-quality development

The Group has always insisted on being a long-term runner in the higher
vocational education industry. The Group will continue to increase its
investment and steadfastly follow the path of high-quality development
supported by national policies to create and provide education
opportunities with high quality teaching, high quality employment and
high-quality experience for students of all our schools.

Sustained and stable value creation under the ESG approach

The Group is committed to the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG") philosophy and uses ESG as a guide to integrate financial
indicators such as stable performance growth, steady investment returns,
abundant cash flow and stable dividends with ESG, so as to create value
in a sustained and steady manner, thereby realizing long-term benefits
and sustainable development, and achieving a win-win situation for both
investors and the Group in the long run.

Becoming the most “student-oriented” university and continuing to
provide education that satisfies the people

In the face of the new development stage, new development pattern
and new development opportunities of higher education, the Group
will follow the trends closely, adhere to the path of high-quality
development, with the mission of “enabling every student to achieve
career success and happiness in life”, and is committed to become the
“most student-oriented university in the PRC” and solidly execute the
idea of “strengthening morality through education, teaching students
in accordance with their aptitude, studying for the sake of application”.
We will continue to cultivate high-quality applied and technical talents
who have comprehensive development in morality, intelligence, physical
fitness, aesthetics, and labor skills to meet the needs of local economic
and social development, so as to assist in the strengthening of a strong
country of education and create greater values for the society, and to
provide education that satisfies to the people.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimBEEERAT
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The financial results for the year ended 31 August 2023 and last year are as

/N follows:
BETHRHILEEE
Year ended
20234 20224
8H31H 8H31H -0
31 August 31 August
2023 2022 Change
AREEHET AREEETT (%)
RMB million RMB million (%)
g AN Total revenue” 2,526.9 2,262.5 +11.7%
WA Revenue 2,119.1 1,921.7 +10.3%
F AR Cost of sales (1,313.1) (1,171.3) +12.1%
EF Gross profit 806.0 750.4 +7.4%
H b Y s Mg o Other income and gains 407.8 340.8 +19.7%
HERDIHEAX Selling and distribution expenses (35.8) (28.7) +24.7%
THRAX Administrative expenses (95.7) (87.7) +9.1%
Hihfx Other expenses (92.8) (112.5) -17.5%
A& AR Finance costs (143.6) (114.7) +25.2%
R Bt A& R PROFIT BEFORE TAX 845.9 747.6 +13.1%
FrEBiAx Income tax expense (142.6) (117.4) +21.5%
= R E Net profit 703.3 630.2 +11.6%
&R EFE R E Adjusted net profit* 727.5 671.2 +8.4%
F RSO TN Net profit attributable to owners of

the parent 703.3 620.0 +13.4%

BARERFERE Adjusted net profit attributable to
owners of the parent* 727.5 661.0 +10.1%

U A =R+ E A Y 28 Je 38 &

# LAEER = E2023F8A3A L FEFHBARE ¢
7033E B L MEETREERERIBRARK242BEE
7T (202281 F : &, 22022F8 A31 A L FEFF B AR
6302EBILMEIETREERERLIBIXARENBEE
7T)

E R R R R B=8 202348 A310 I FE B %5
BARBINBIEETLMEETREERENBRXARE
2428 B 7T (202281 4F : B 202248 A31 0 It F E &%
FBEARKG200EETMEETREERELIBLAAR
¥ 0EET)

Total revenue = revenue + other income and gains

Adjusted net profit = net profit of RMB703.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2023 plus
exchange loss of RMB24.2 million arising from the USD syndicated loans (FY2022: net profit
of RMB630.2 million for the year ended 31 August 2022 plus exchange loss of RMB41.0
million arising from the USD syndicated loans)

Adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the parent = net profit attributable to owners of
the parent of RMB703.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2023 plus exchange loss of
RMB24.2 million arising from the USD syndicated loans (FY2022: net profit attributable to
owners of the parent of RMB620.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2022 plus exchange
loss of RMB41.0 million arising from the USD syndicated loans)
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REVENUE

The Group’s revenue reached RMB2,119.1 million for the year ended 31 August
2023, which was increased by 10.3% as compared to RMB1,921.7 million of
last year, which was mainly attributable to steady growth of revenue from tuition
fees and boarding fees driven by leveraging the advantages of centralized school
operation and continuous high quality connotation development.

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales was RMB1,313.1 million for the year ended 31 August
2023, which was increased by 12.1% as compared to RMB1,171.3 million of
last year, which was primarily due to (1) an increase of 10.9% in labor-related
costs as compared to last year as the Group continued to optimize the cost
structure of teachers, enhance the remuneration and benefits of core teaching
positions and strengthen the construction of a high quality teaching team; and (2)
an increase of 19.4% in depreciation and amortization costs as compared to last
year as the Group continued to upgrade and renovate its campus and upgrade
its laboratory training equipment.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group’s gross profit was RMB806.0 million for the year ended 31 August
2023, which was increased by 7.4% as compared to RMB750.4 million of last
year. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 August 2023 was 38.0%,
representing a decrease of 1 percentage point as compared to the gross profit
margin of 39.0% of last year. The decrease was mainly due to the Group’s
adherence to a connotation development strategy and the increasing investment
in talents and teaching. As such, the growth of revenue for current stage was
temporarily lower than the growth of cost of sales. The development strategy,
which is based on high quality, will lay a solid foundation for its future organic
growth.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group’s other income and gains reached RMB407.8 million for the year
ended 31 August 2023, which was increased by 19.7% as compared to
RMB340.8 million of last year, which was mainly due to (1) the enhancement of
school-enterprise cooperation by various schools utilizing their own professional
strengths after the end of the COVID-19 pandemic, which led to a year-on-
year increase of 246.6% in school-enterprise cooperation donation revenue;
(2) leveraging on the advantages of its centralized school operation to actively
expand the rentable area, resulting in a year-on-year increase of 24.7% in rental
income; and (3) the integration of the Group’s training resources accumulated
over the years, exploring best practices and actively providing training services
in vocational skills enhancement to the community and students, leading to a
15.1% increase in service revenue year-on-year.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses were RMB35.8 million for the
year ended 31 August 2023, which was increased by 24.7% as compared to
RMB28.7 million of last year. This increase was primarily attributable to the
Group’s continuous efforts to strengthen brand building and enhance its schools’
brand image. The expenses accounted for approximately 1.4% of the Group’s
total revenue for the Reporting Period, which was basically flat with the historical
level.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBAERAT
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses were RMB95.7 million for the year ended
31 August 2023, which was increased by 9.1% as compared to RMB87.7 million
of last year, which was primarily due to that for the purpose of enhancing the
student-teacher experience and the quality of its centralized school operation,
the Group commissioned external organizations to provide advice on the reform
of remuneration packages, the construction of brand culture and community
platform, and the improvement of the nurturing environment, etc., and therefore
the commissioned business fees increased.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses were RMB92.8 million for the year ended 31 August
2023, which was decreased by 17.5% as compared to RMB112.5 million of
last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to (1) the Group’s repayment
of US$16 million syndicated loan as scheduled and the appreciation of the US
dollar at the end of the financial year being less than that of last year, which
resulted in the year-on-year decrease of 41.0% in the provision of exchange
loss made by the Group from RMB41.0 million to RMB24.2 million. Excluding the
effect of the exchange loss above, other expenses amounted to RMB68.6 million,
representing a decrease of 4.1% as compared to last year; and (2) the change
in the operation mode of the canteen of the Northeast School, which was shifted
from self-operation to leasing out for rent, so that the cost of the canteen was
no longer incurred.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs were RMB143.6 million for the year ended 31 August
2023, which was increased by 25.2% as compared to RMB114.7 million of
last year, which was mainly due to the increase in the interest rates for the
Group’s USD syndicated loans whose interest was calculated at floating interest
rates affected by the continued interest rate hikes performed by the US Federal
Reserve, resulting in an increase in finance costs of the USD syndicated loans.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Due to the combined influence of revenue, cost and expenses above, the Group
recorded a profit before tax of RMB845.9 million for the Reporting Period,
representing an increase of 13.1% as compared to RMB747.6 million of last
year.

NET PROFIT

Due to the combined effects of revenue, costs and expenses above, the net
profit of the Group was RMB703.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2023,
representing an increase of 11.6% as compared to RMB630.2 million of last
year.

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

Due to the combined effects of the above revenue, costs and expenses, the
Group’s net profit attributable to owners of the parent was RMB703.3 million
for the year ended 31 August 2023, representing an increase of 13.4% as
compared to RMB620.0 million of last year.
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NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented under HKFRS, we
also use adjusted net profit and adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the
parent as additional financial measures. The Company considers that these non-
HKFRS measures can eliminate the potential impact of items that management
believes are not reflective of the Group’s operating performance and thus
facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to period.

The use of non-HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool as these
measures do not include all items that affect our results in the related period.
In view of the limitations of the non-HKFRS measures above, readers should
not read the non-HKFRS measures in isolation or as an alternative to our profit
for the year, or any other measure of operating performance calculated in
accordance with HKFRSs, in assessing our operating and financial performance.
In addition, as these non-HKFRS measures may be calculated differently
by different companies, they should not be compared with similarly named
measures used by other companies.

The calculation of adjusted net profit and adjusted net profit attributable to
owners of the parent is as follows:

BETHBEHBLFEE
Year ended
20234 20224F
8H31H 8H31H
31 August 2023 31 August 2022
ARBBETR AREEHET
RMB million RMB million
= R Net profit 703.3 630.2
FARIER  ELIREERERIBX Adjusted item: Exchange loss arising from
the USD syndicated loans 24.2 41.0
AR R E Adjusted net profit 727.5 671.2
BETHHEHBLFEE
Year ended
20234 20224F
8H31H 8H31H
31 August 2023 31 August 2022
AREBER AREEET
RMB million RMB million
BRFEANE Net profit attributable to owners of the parent 703.3 620.0
FRIEBER ELIREERERIBX Adjusted item: Exchange loss arising from
the USD syndicated loans 24.2 41.0
BAEFZFRE Adjusted net profit attributable to
owners of the parent 727.5 661.0
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H=SHEEERAT
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TOTAL CAPITAL

The total capital of the Group, which equals to the aggregate of cash and cash
equivalents plus pledged and restricted deposits, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (excluding the purchased U.S. dollar call options) was
RMB1,148.6 million as of 31 August 2023.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted
of short-term working capital loans and long-term project loans for our school
buildings and facilities. The interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
as well as lease liabilities amounted to RMB2,718.3 million as of 31 August
2023 (31 August 2022: RMB3,333.1 million), among which US$84.0 million was
denominated in United States dollar, while the remaining was denominated in
Renminbi.

Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings and lease liabilities as of 31 August 2023. The Group’s
interest-bearing debt/total assets decreased from 36.7% as of 31 August 2022
to 29.4% as of 31 August 2023, which was mainly due to the early repayment
of its bank borrowings with higher interest rates in order to control the scale of
debt and reduce the overall financing costs.

Net interest-bearing debt equals to the total interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings and lease liabilities net of total capital as of 31 August 2023.
The Group's net interest-bearing debt/total equity decreased from 55.6%
as of 31 August 2022 to 44.4% as of 31 August 2023, which was primarily
attributable to the combined effects of the decrease in the size of the Group’s
net interest-bearing liabilities and the increase in the amount of total equity.

Gearing ratio equals to the ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity
as of 31 August 2023. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from 104.9% as of
31 August 2022 to 76.9% as of 31 August 2023, primarily due to the decrease
in the scale of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities and the increase in the
amount of total equity.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 August 2023, the Group’s capital expenditures were
RMB745.7 million, which was primarily used for the construction of our school
buildings, facilities, purchase of equipment and software.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments were primarily used in the payment of
construction and maintenance of school building and purchase of facilities. The
following table sets out a summary of our capital commitments as of the dates

indicated:
HZE HE
20234 20224
8H31H 8H31H
LHFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2023 2022
AREEBEETR ARBEBET
RMB million RMB million
BET#B KRB Contracted but not provided for:
ME - BERSZE Property, plant and equipment
—F AR Within one year 231.4 2442
—F P F Over one year 86.6 175.5
318.0 419.7
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As of 31 August 2023, the Group had no significant capital commitment
authorized but not contracted for.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other plans for
material investments and capital assets as of the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

No other significant investments and acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures were made by the Group, nor was there any plan
authorized by the Board for other material investments or additions of capital
assets during the Reporting Period.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD. The majority of the
Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 August
2023, certain bank loans and bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD.
The Group had purchased call options with an underlying value of US$11 million
to hedge its exposure to the exchange rate risk of USD loans. In future, the
management will continue to pay attention on the Group’s foreign exchange risk
exposure and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The pledged assets of the Group as at 31 August 2023 are as follows:

(i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries; and

(if) deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB196,726,000 as at 31
August 2023 (31 August 2022: RMB301,000,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 August 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantee or any litigation or claims of material importance, pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this report, the Group had not entered into any off-balance
sheet transactions.

FAVOURABLE POLICIES TO FACILITATE THE DEVELOPMENT
OF PRIVATE HIGHER VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

On 12 October 2021, the General Office of the Chinese Communist Party Central
Committee and the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on
Promoting the High-quality Development of Modern Vocational Education ( € &
RHEHERBESREREELERMER) ) (the “Opinions”), and issued
a notice requiring serious implementation. The Opinions put forward that (1)
Speeding up the establishment of the “vocational education college entrance
examination” system, to promote the vertical connection of vocational education
at different levels, and strengthen the penetration and integration of general
education and vocational education at all levels; (2) Adherence to major national
strategies, to encourage schools setting up more scarce and market-oriented
majors; (3) Improving the diversified school operation pattern, to encourage
listed companies and industry leading enterprises to establish vocational
education, encourage all kinds of enterprises to participate in the establishment
of vocational education according to law, and enrich the school operation forms
of vocational schools; (4) Governments at all levels should coordinate the scale,
structure and level of vocational education and human resources development,
and include the integration of production and education into the economic
and social development plan. Local governments should take the promotion of
enterprises’ participation in school-enterprise cooperation and the cultivation of
technical and skilled talents as the important contents of industrial development
plans, industrial incentive policies and rural revitalization plans, to provide
“financial + fiscal + land + credit” incentives to industry education integrated
enterprises, and implement the relevant tax and fee policies in accordance with
the regulations; (5) Realizing the innovation of school enterprise cooperation
mechanism, deepening the reform of education and teaching, building the
brand of vocational education with Chinese characteristics, and exploring the
international development mode of “Chinese + vocational skills”.
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In December 2021, the Opinions on the Authorization and Awarding of Bachelor’s
Degrees in Vocational Schools at the Undergraduate Level ( < B8 4F AR
MEABEERETEUREER T IIENER) ) was issued by
the Academic Degree Office of the State Council, which makes it clear that the
authorization, awarding and management of bachelor’s degrees in vocational
education at the undergraduate level will be subject to the same rules as those
for general undergraduates, while highlighting the characteristics of vocational
education. The undergraduate-level vocational education degree certificate will
thus be given the same status as the general undergraduate degree in terms of
effectiveness and application value. The Group’s development direction has been
in line with the Group’s commitment to strengthen the educational characteristics
of vocational education, emphasize vocational competence and qualification, and
promote high-quality development.

In January 2022, the Ministry of Education and other four departments issued
the “14th Five-Year Plan for Vocational Skills Training” which was the first “Five-
Year Plan” of vocational training of the Central Government, aiming to improve
the capability of workers and relieve the pressure of employment. Such policy
sets up key goals for the year of 2021 to 2025: (1) conducting subsidized
vocational training with no less than 75 million persons, in which no less than
30 million persons for farmers; (2) no less than 40 million persons for newly
obtained vocational qualification certificates or vocational skill level certificates;
(3) no less than 200 of newly built public training bases. The higher education
industry will continue to benefit from the favorable policy on vocational
education.

In February 2022, the Ministry of Education announced the work focus of
vocational education in 2022, proposed to promote fuller and higher quality
employment for college graduates, supported and regulated the healthy
development of private education and accelerated the digital transformation and
smart upgrade of education. It is expected that the Group will continue to benefit
from the favorable policies of vocational education.

The Vocational Education Law promulgated by the Standing Committee of
the National People’s Congress in April 2022, which became effective on
1 May, clarifies that vocational education and general education have the
same important status, supports the social forces to extensively participate in
vocational education, fosters, guides and backs up enterprises and other social
forces to sponsor vocational schools and vocational training institutions in
accordance with the law, and encourages enterprises to participate deeply in the
integration of industry and education, as well as school-enterprise cooperation.
The new law also makes it clear that when government, public institutions,
state-owned enterprises are in the recruitment of technical skills positions, the
level of technical skills should be an important criteria and public institutions
can appropriately lower educational requirements when publicly recruit positions
with vocational skills level requirements. From which we can observe that the
new law continues the consistent policy direction of the state to support the
development of vocational education. And through the improvement of the
protection mechanism and measures of vocational education, it focuses on
improving the recognition of vocational education and the quality of technical
skills personnel training. The new law will definitely promote the high-quality
development of vocational education, and the higher vocational education groups
will also welcome a new round of development opportunities in a more sound
and friendly legal environment.
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In October 2022, Xi Jinping, General Secretary of the Communist Party of
China (“CPC”) Central Committee, pointed out in the report to the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China that China will continue to give high
priority to the development of education, build a strong educational system,
and move faster to build a high-quality educational system. It is clear that the
focus of vocational education, higher education, and continuing education is
collaborative innovation. China will promote integration between vocational
education and general education, between industry and education, and between
science and education. China will also better establish vocational education as
a category in the educational system, setting out the direction for the future
development of higher vocational education.

In December 2022, the General Office of the Chinese Communist Party Central
Committee and the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions
on Deepening the Reform of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education
System, which put forward the strategic tasks of exploring a new model for the
construction of a modern vocational education system at the provincial level,
building a municipal industry-education consortium and creating a community of
industry-education fusion. It also specifies the key tasks of enhancing the key
school-running capacity of vocational schools, strengthening the construction of
“dual-teacher” teams, building an open regional practice centre for integration
of industry and education, broadening the channels for students to grow up and
become successful, and innovating the mechanism of international exchanges
and cooperation.

In March 2023, Premier Li Kegiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a
Report on the Work of the Government at the First Session of the Fourteenth
National People’s Congress, in which he proposed that over the past five years,
the development of vocational education has achieved remarkable results, the
adaptability of vocational education has been enhanced, and the conditions of
operation of vocational schools have continued to improve, and proposed, among
the priorities of this year’s work, to promote the high-quality and balanced
development of compulsory education and the integration of urban and rural
areas, to develop vocational education vigorously and to promote the innovation
of higher education.

In July 2023, the General Office of the Ministry of Education issued the Notice
on Accelerating the Reform of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education
System, deploying 11 key tasks for the reform of the construction of modern
vocational education system, accelerating the construction of a new mechanism
for the high-quality development of vocational education that involves interaction
between the central government and the local government, regional linkage, and
collaboration between government, industry, enterprises, and schools, so as to
promote the reform of the construction of modern vocational education system in
an orderly and effective manner.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

(1)

CLASSIFIED REGISTRATION

According to the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development
of Private Education (29 December 2016), a classification registration
and management system shall be applicable to private schools, and
private school sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit
private schools. The revised Laws for Promoting Private Education of the
PRC (implemented on 1 September 2017) also promulgated the same
provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School Classified
Registration (30 December 2016), if an existing private school chooses
to register as a non-profit private school, it should modify its article of
association, continue to run the school and complete new registration
procedures in accordance with relevant laws. If it chooses to register as
a for-profit private school, it should conduct financial settlement, clarify
the ownership of school land, school premises, school accumulation, and
pay related taxes and fees, obtain a new permit in running a school, re-
register and continue the operations for education.

In order to further implement the above requirements, government
and relevant competent departments in the region where the Group
runs schools have successively issued supporting measures, including
(1) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of
Yunnan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (18 December
2017), Notice of the Five Departments including Education Department
of Yunnan Province on Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified
Registration and Management of Private Schools (12 June 2019); (2)
Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of Guizhou
Province on Supporting and Regulating Social Forces to Set up Education
to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (3 August
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Examination and
Approval of Registration and Supervision and Management of Private
Schools in Guizhou Province (Trial) (11 June 2019); (3) Implementation
Opinions Issued by Heilongjiang Province on Encouraging Social
Powers to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development
of Private Education, Measures for the Implementation of Classified
Registration of Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province, and Measures
for the Supervision and Administration of For-profit Private Schools in
Heilongjiang Province (26 February 2019); (4) Implementation Opinions
of the People’s Government of Gansu Province on Further Promoting the
Healthy Development of Private Education (8 November 2017), Measures
for the Implementation of Classified Registration of Private Schools
in Gansu Province (15 November 2018); (5) Implementation Opinions
Issued by the People’s Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote
the Healthy Development of Private Education (2 July 2018), Measures
for the Implementation of Classified Registration of Private Schools
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (10 October 2018), Measures
for the Implementation of Supervision and Administration of For-profit
Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (16 October
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of
Existing Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (19 April
2022); (6) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (20 December
2017); (7) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Henan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education
to Further Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (2
February 2018).
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The above local regulations only provide a procedure framework for
the classification and registration of existing private schools in relevant
provinces as for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but
do not further specify the various preferential taxes and land use policies
that can be enjoyed by for-profit and non-profit schools.

As of the date of this report, except that the Northeast School, Guangxi
Schools, Yunnan School and Guizhou School are currently in the process
of classified registration according to the guidance of the relevant
provincial authorities, the Company has not commenced the process of
classified registration for other schools under the Group. However, due
to the uncertainties in the interpretation and application of the above
requirements, there are uncertainties as to when the private schools
under the Group can complete the classified registration, whether
the relevant taxes and fees will need to be paid in accordance with
local supporting rules in the process of classified registration in the
future, and what kind of tax and land use policies and other aspects of
government supports such schools will enjoy in the future. The Group
will continue to pay close attention to any further development on the
application of the above requirements.

THE 2021 IMPLEMENTATION RULES

On 14 May 2021, the State Council promulgated the Implementation
Rules for the Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (the
‘2021 Implementation Rules”), which has been implemented since
1 September 2021. The 2021 Implementation Rules stipulate that: (1)
private schools may enjoy the preferential tax policies stipulated by
the State, among which non-profit private schools may enjoy the same
preferential tax policies as public schools; (2) for the construction or
expansion of non-profit private schools, the local people’s governments
shall grant preferential treatments in terms of land use by means of
allocation in accordance with the principle of treating non-profit private
schools equally as public schools. For the land use of private schools
that implement preschool education and education for academic
credentials, the governments may provide lands by means of agreement,
bidding, auction and etc. according to the laws. Lands may also be
supplied by long-term lease, lease and assignment, and combination
of sale and rental. Charges for the assignment or rental of land may
be paid in instalments within the specified time limit as agreed in the
contract.

The 2021 Implementation Rules do not involve specific provisions on
preferential taxation and land use policies. Therefore, there are still
uncertainties as to what kind of tax and land use policies and other
aspects of government supports the private schools under the Group will
enjoy in the future.
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The 2021 Implementation Rules further stipulate that: (1) the State
encourages enterprises to establish or participate in the establishment
of private schools that implement vocational education in various forms,
such as sole proprietorship, joint venture or cooperation according
to law; institutions that implement nationally recognized educational
examinations, vocational qualification examinations and vocational skill
level examinations shall comply with the relevant provisions of the State
in the establishment or participation in the establishment of private
schools related to the examination implemented by them; (2) private
schools that provide compulsory education are not allowed to enter into
transactions with their interested parties, and other private schools shall
conduct transactions with their interested parties in a manner that is
open, justified and fair, shall price such transactions reasonably, shall
establish standardized decision-making for such transactions and shall
not harm the interests of the State, schools and teachers and students.
Private schools shall set up an information disclosure mechanism
for dealing with their interested parties. The relevant governmental
authorities, such as the education department, the human resources
and social security departments and the financial departments, shall
strengthen the supervision of the agreements entered into between non-
profit private schools and their interested parties, and shall review the
connected transactions annually; (3) if the sponsor is a legal person,
its controlling shareholder and the actual controller must meet the
requirements stipulated by laws and administrative regulations for the
establishment of a private school, and any change of the controlling
shareholder or the actual controller must be reported to the competent
department for record-filing and publicity. Any social organizations and
individuals shall not control private schools which provide compulsory
education or non-profit private schools which implement preschool
education through mergers and acquisitions or contractual agreements;
and (4) the start-up capital and registered capital of a private school
shall be compatible with the type, level and scale of the school and shall
be paid in full when it is formally established.

Pursuant to the 2021 Implementation Rules, the Group is not prohibited
from acquiring non-profit private schools providing higher education
services or controlling them through structural contracts. As the Group
has no plans to acquire private schools providing compulsory education
or non-profit private schools providing preschool education, we do not
consider that the 2021 Implementation Rules will have any adverse
impact on the Group’s future acquisitions.

The Structured Contracts may be considered as transactions with
interested parties of private schools under the Group, and we may incur
significant compliance costs due to the establishment of a disclosure
mechanism. If the private school under the Group chooses to register as
a non-profit private school, the competent government department shall
review its relevant transactions annually. These processes may not be
under our control and may be very complex and cumbersome, and may
divert management attention. During the review process, government
departments may require us to modify or terminate the Structured
Contracts, which may lead to penalties, resulting in a material adverse
impact on the operation of the Structured Contracts.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the 2021 Implementation Rules.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT



(1)

SEREE

20193 A HEHR 2B AREZBBAN (F
EARLEMBEINGIREE) ([HEREE])
B R20205F1 B1H B IETT - A A B SN 1%
ERERE-REZEZ BENECETR
BIEREFERZBRAFANGEFTHER
BHEBLERE-

2019F 12268 - B m (R = AR &
MBS EEERIES ) (BRG] ) -
HR20200F 1 A1REER HEEEBE
FHINEIREENEARAFRE -

SNEIREEREMRE T =B ERELN
185N R M B i 15 B 19 0K BR RE A% 175 &
ZHRERIBREN BN - RIFEHM
MR BARBERER BRI EREEINE
B R I A K 7 i B R E RINERE R
B RRIOEE  TTBOEAR KB H R
TR AL BN REN N - &
BEAHNEBEBRBREBEANNSHD
AR TEXTE BREBYHITONAER
M- BUEEORD - BERARAREE
HDA R~ TTHUR M N B 75 B 47 7€ #5 5 % 12
MERIBRENAAZ — NEEMES
RIBEROER ORR MBI AR E 1 2 REK
HURRRTE i - T M2 5 B M SR AR 5E
PE LTS R — ER TN EEE - RE R
By PR B & A FE 0 R JE L AR T R T
m—IHAREERAEHRFERAEE
R RADAENEBELCELEATE -

RARERH Korw2ERAX (A
REX) EE-

EFEeRRERRERRINBREZENEM
EH AR BEDERBEM S KIES AER
—BEETTENAARBERER-

(1)

BB &Y wm B AT
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN INVESTMENT LAW

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC ( { FEE AR EME I g
& & L) ) (the “Foreign Investment Law”) approved by the National
People’s Congress on 15 March 2019 has been implemented since 1
January 2020, and has become the basic law for foreign investment in
China. According to this law, existing foreign-invested enterprises may
maintain their existing organization structure within five years from the
effective date of the Foreign Investment Law.

On 26 December 2019, the State Council issued the Implementation
Regulations of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“Implementation Regulations”), which also came into effect on 1
January 2020, aiming to implement the legislative principles and
purposes of the Foreign Investment Law.

The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three forms of
foreign investment, but neither the Foreign Investment Law nor the
Implementation Regulations explicitly stipulate contractual agreements
as a form of foreign investment. As confirmed by our PRC Legal
Advisors, as the Foreign Investment Law and the Implementation
Regulations do not define contractual agreements as a form of foreign
investment, if future laws, administrative regulations, and regulations
of the State Council do not include contractual agreements as a form
of foreign investment, the Structured Contracts as a whole and the
agreements constituting the Structured Contracts will not be affected,
and will continue to be legally valid, effective and binding on the parties.
However, if future laws, administrative regulations, and regulations of
the State Council stipulate contractual agreements as one of the ways
of foreign investment, the Group may need to take relevant measures
in accordance with the requirements of the laws, regulations and
regulations of the State Council at that time. There will be uncertainty
as to whether we can complete these measures in a timely manner or at
all. Failure to take appropriate measures in a timely manner to address
any of the compliance requirements in the above provisions may have a
significant effect on our current group structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates regarding the Foreign
Investment Law and seek guidance from our PRC Legal Advisors to
ensure that the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations in
China.
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(Iv)  THE TRIAL ADMINISTRATIVE MEASURES OF OVERSEAS

SECURITIES OFFERING AND LISTING BY DOMESTIC COMPANIES

On 17 February 2023, the China Securities Regulatory Commission
(the “CSRC") released the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas
Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies ( 3% A 1b 2
BONEITESFM EMEBEHITHIE) ) (the “Overseas Listing
Trial Measures”) and five supporting guidelines, which came into
effect on 31 March 2023. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures will
regulate both direct and indirect overseas offering and listing of PRC
domestic companies’ securities by adopting a filing-based regulatory
regime. On the same day, the CSRC also held a press conference for
the release of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures and issued the
Notice on Administration for the Filing of Overseas Offering and Listing
by Domestic Companies ( { R IR AN EIRINEITETHERE
2 BER93@ A0 ) ), which, among others, clarified that the domestic
companies that have already been listed overseas on or before the
effective date of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures (i.e. 31 March
2023) shall be deemed as existing applicants (£ &= 1 %), or the
Existing Applicants. Existing Applicants are not required to complete the
filling procedures immediately, and they shall be required to file with
the CSRC when subsequent matters such as refinancing are involved.
The Overseas Listing Trial Measures also requires subsequent reports
to be filed with the CSRC on material events, such as change of control
or voluntary or forced delisting of the issuer(s) who have completed
overseas offerings and listings.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Overseas Listing Trial Measures.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMB0.096 per Share for the year ended 31 August 2023 (for the year ended
31 August 2022: RMB0.093 per Share). The final dividend will be declared
in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted for
conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the People’s
Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 21 November 2023 to 27 November 2023) (RMB1.0 to
HK$1.09420). Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong
Kong dollars will be HK$0.10504 per Share. The final dividend, subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the annual general meeting, will be paid on
Friday, 20 September 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Thursday, 29 August 2024.

FHIRE (AR®T)
EEAHKE (ARET)

Interim dividend (RMB)
Proposed final dividend (RMB)

BZE HE
20234 20224
8H31H 8H31H
LHFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2023 2022

0.119 0.106
0.096 0.093
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting to be held on Wednesday, 28 February 2024, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, 23 February 2024 to Wednesday, 28
February 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than Thursday, 22 February 2024.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 August
2024 to Thursday, 29 August 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be qualified for
the final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Group’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 August 2024.
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Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z ¥f), aged 49, the founder of the Group, master degree
in business administration (MBA), senior economist. He was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and an executive Director on 8 July 2016. Mr. Li has
more than 20 years of experience in education and is responsible for the overall
management and strategic development of the Group.

The following table sets out the key working experience of Mr. Li:

46

H & AT B 7%
Period Company Position
19994F Z 20044 53k S
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005F &4 EEEH e
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

2016245
2016 to present

hEFSHEEFRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

EFESXE RITES
Chairman of the Board, Executive Director

FHAENR0F1IAEEFTRARRABESHES
THE2HZEE L8 K ZHR2010F3 A EEF
ERNAEHEETR SR WN2018F 28 & #
FEAREXNEEZFFTZE2BRARRERREREK -
BRAEEBRARMAS (BR)HRAAEER F
HEEREKSeeR TRARH%EHeI S
R URTBEBERNHELEEETHES-

TR ER2009F10 A RS m AREERE K- TR A&
R2010F6 A EF R ASEBR IHERBLZ

fiL

Mr. Li became a member of the 14th session of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2023. He became
the first vice chairman of The China Association for Non-Government Education
in March 2010, and a member of the Thirteenth National People’s Congress of
People’s Republic of China in February 2018. He is currently the vice chairman
of the Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science, the vice chairman
of the Chinese Society of Educational Development Strategy, the vice chairman of
The China Association for Non-Government Education and the managing director
of The Chinese Society for Technical and Vocational Education.

Mr. Li obtained the qualification as senior economist in October 2009. Mr. Li was
awarded a master’s degree in business administration from Nankai University (=
7 K &), the PRC, in June 2010.
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Mr. Zhao Shuai (& BP), aged 43, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive Director on 19
August 2016. Mr. Zhao has nearly 20 years of experience in education and is

responsible for setting annual operational targets and daily management.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

B A B
Period Company Position
200444 5 200848 A EEER BEEHE

April 2004 to August 2008

20089 H £20144F3 A
September 2008 to March 2014

201454 4 £ 2015F4 A
April 2014 to April 2015

201545 £2016F3 A
May 2015 to March 2016

2016F3 R &5
March 2016 to present

2016F =5
2016 to present

Yunnan School

EEBR
Yunnan School

TEEE
Yun Ai Group

021

Guizhou School

REEE
Yun Ai Group

TR SHEEERAA

China New Higher Education Group Limited

Student recruitment director

gkt &
Associate dean

TR AR A 18

General manager of administration department
MiTh &

Executive dean

Senior president

BHEHTERAMTES

Chief executive officer and executive Director

HAEER0I3F1N2AN S REBMEDL - B
004FE7TAERTRERBE I ASKEITIZEAas
B4 E0 0 M R2017F6 A K&/

PR -

EMREBEHFTIE

Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist in December 2013. He
was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from
Kunming University of Science and Technology (2 BHI2 T KE2), the PRC, in

July 2004, and a master’s degree in software engineering at Jilin University (&

MK E2) in June 2017.
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Ms. Shen Chunmei (B2 & #8), aged 40, joined the Group as vice president in
early 2020 and was appointed as an executive Director on 27 August 2020. She
has over 10 years of professional experience in investor relations management,
initial public offering, fundraising, merger and acquisition, strategic consulting
and international financial media of companies listed in Hong Kong and the
United States, as well as internationally renowned strategic consulting firms.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen was the director of corporate finance and
investor relations of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1070), taking up the overall responsibility of its
capital market related matters. From 2016 to 2018, Ms. Shen was the general
manager of the group strategic communication department of Grab Holdings Inc.,
a multinational company offering ride-hailing transport services and payment
solutions based in Singapore, during which she participated in and assisted with
its series G financing of USD2.5 hillion which was the largest single financing
transaction in the history of Southeast Asia at that time. From 2015 to 2016,
Ms. Shen was the investor relations director of Xinyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.,
a top 100 real estate company in China and listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (stock code: XIN). From 2012 to 2015, Ms. Shen was a director at
FTI Consulting, one of the largest financial consulting firms in the world and
headquartered in the United States, leading a team and in charge of projects
relating to initial public offering and investor relations consulting of Chinese
companies seeking a listing in Hong Kong and the United States. In 2014, she
led the team to win the Sabre Awards (Global Campaign of the Year). From 2009
to 2012, Ms. Shen was the investor relations manager at Feihe International, Inc.
(now known as China Feihe Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6186)).

Ms. Shen received her bachelor’s degree from University of Leeds in the
United Kingdom in 2005. She also received her master’s degree in business
administration from University of Aberdeen in the United Kingdom in 2006.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (B8 {£15), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 March 2017. Mr. Kwong has more
than 10 years of experience in corporate finance and equity capital markets in
Asia. Mr. Kwong is currently an executive director of China Metal Resources
Utilization Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1636),
in charge of its corporate and strategic development. He has also been an
independent non-executive director of Shunfeng International Clean Energy
Limited (stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011, China Outfitters Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1146) since 8 June 2011 and Koolearn Technology Holding
Limited (stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kwong was the president of Gushan
Environmental Energy Limited, a company whose American depositary shares
were listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from December 2007 to October
2012. Prior to joining Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006, he was the
managing director of investment banking and he held the position as the head
of Hong Kong and China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets
Limited from March 2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from 2002
to 2003, and the general manager of the corporate finance department from
1997 to 2003 for Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University of
Cambridge, England with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as
a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (BR £8), aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 August 2019. He is currently the chairman of the board
of directors of Soar Industries Limited (3% & % HR AT E=ZEK) and the
chairman of the board of directors of BC International Investment Ltd. (& )II
BB AR AR EE ) He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee of
CPPCC (EF & B #Z &) during 2013 to 2018, served as the vice chairman
of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association (Ef & 5 4 € 8 X /%)
from 2010 to 2018 as well as the chairman founder of the Hongkong-Yunnan-
Macau-Taiwan Youth Exchange Association (B R & FEZRIEER) in
2010. He is currently the life honorary chairman of The Y. Elites Association
EBEEEXKERZLETE), the vice president of the Yunnan Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association (358 /NI 2 2 &) € &), a member of the
Standing Committee of the CPPCC Yunnan Province (E & 1 % %) and
the president of the Association of Hong Kong and Macau Members of CPPCC
In Yunnan Province Ltd (EFE K HERZ BEiEE® € K). He holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jinan University (2% fa A £2).
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Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (& F #£), aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 August 2019. Dr. Pang received his master’s
degree in business administration from University of Western Sydney in 1999.
He also obtained a degree of doctor of philosophy in business administration
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010 as well as a
post-doctorate from University of Oxford in 2015. He is a fellowship member
of CPA Australia, and fellowship member of the Financial Services Institute
of Australasia, and a member of the expert committee of the task group of
“Financial Regulation and Financial Reform and Development Strategy” in the
Institute of Finance of the Development Research Center of the State Council (B4
BREERAEFLOEHARFT eRETHSHMAFERHK]R
BHEXRZ B =), and has been a council member of the Guangdong Council
for Investment and Development (Foshan, Guangdong) (& 58 & 1% & 2 B (2 i
& (B - f#11)) since 2017. Dr. Pang has over 30 years of experience in
banking, financial and consulting industry and has served in senior management
positions in various renowned financial institutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was
the head of the settlement department of Dresdner Bank (Hong Kong). From
1998 to 2003, he worked in Northeast Asia region of the Standard Chartered
Bank. From 2003 to 2005, he served as the senior manager in BearingPoint
Management Consulting (formerly KPMG Management Consulting) (Beijing).
He was the head of operation design and development department of Dah
Sing Financial Group (Hong Kong) from 2005 to 2006. From 2006 to 2014, he
served as the consulting partner of global financial market in China in Deloitte
Management Consulting (Beijing). He then served as leading partner of financial
business in China for Roland Berger Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014
to 2016. He was the external senior advisor to Zhangjiakou Financial Holding
Group (Beijing, Zhangjiakou) from 2016 to 2018, and he was an independent
director at Metropolitan Bank (China) from 2017 to 2018, and was re-invited
to the board of directors by the bank as an independent director from August
2020 and chairing its Related Party Transactions Control Committee. During late
2018, he was also the general manager headed the group risk management
department of Citic Bank (International). He was the partner, head of financial
industry consulting and investment services in China and Beijing office head of
YCP Solidiance Strategy and Management Consultant from October 2019 to June
2020. He is the founder and currently a director of Liquid Gold Development
Strategy Co., Ltd. (Ef 1% %% & 5% B 5 BR /2 &]). Dr. Pang has been appointed as
an independent director of Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (China) Limited
since 1 January 2023.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liu Fengming (2l /& B8), aged 53, joined the Group in September 2002,
She was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016 and
was appointed as a senior vice president on 4 December 2020.

The following table shows the key working experience of Ms. Liu:

AR AT He 7%
Period Company Position
200249 A £2003F10A o)l uh B RBAEEF

September 2002 to October 2003 Training Station

BiE Bk
Zhuan Xiu School

200310 H £2005F1H
October 2003 to January 2005

SR
Yunnan School

200551 H £201143 A
January 2005 to March 2011

L
Zhuan Xiu School

201143 5 £20155F9H
March 2011 to September 2015

20159 A4 £201647 A RS
September 2015 to July 2016 Beijing Lianhe
2016F7TAES TERHE
July 2016 to present Yun Ai Group

201648 4 £2020F12H
August 2016 to December 2020

2020F12A &S
December 2020 to present

PEFSHEEFRRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

PEFSHEEFRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Teacher and director of education research office

HEBEARERE
Director of education department and vice principal

BlIft &
Associate dean

(=
Dean

FER e
General manager

Bl

Vice president

ElEEE4
Vice president

= AR B
Senior vice president

B2 T R2009F 12 A EFRIZEMAERERTIEHE
BETEMN FR20I7TF12AESEREBEIRES
BREHETEEFE IS0 - FR2012F1AEER
ERMELESREERNBBEIEZESNSGES
WA AN WHR2013FE10f BEEEE = KA
HRENHETERLZESNBRHTER-

Ms. Liu was awarded a master’s degree in business administration from Yunnan
University, the PRC, in December 2009, and awarded a doctorate degree
in management science and engineering at Kunming University of Science
and Technology in December 2017. She obtained the qualification as senior
economist from Yunnan Township Enterprise Senior Professional and Technical
Position Evaluation Committee in November 2012 and the qualification as
associate professor from Yunnan Higher Education Institution Professor and
Associate Professor Evaluation Committee in October 2013.
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BREER200IFTHEERNIKRE BEHEITREN
BeE4 B I R2004F48 EBNT KEREND
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BT ERE T E2AL(EMBA)

EEREXE 475 MN2004F 128 MAKREE I
R2016F8 A19HEZE A AR AR BE -
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Mr. Xu Xiaogiang (& /) 3®), aged 44, joined the Group as a senior vice
president in November 2020. He has more than 10 years of experience in
the education industry as well as strong experience in administration and
management in listed companies. He has been the vice chairman and the
secretary general of the Higher Education Professional Committee of The China
Association for Non-Government Education since January 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2019 to November 2020, Mr. Xu served
as a director and vice executive general manager of Dalian My Gym Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (RiEZEH WA BHE IR 5 AR A 7)) (formerly known
as Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. X = & # 22 i {5 B R A 7)) (stock
code: 002621.S7). From November 2017 to January 2019, he served as a vice
general manager of Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. (K& = £ # 25 i% {7
B BR AR (stock code: 002621.57) and served as director and vice executive
general manager from January 2019 to April 2019.

From June 2004 to September 2017, he worked in the Department of
Development Planning of the Ministry of Education of the PRC.

Mr. Xu graduated from Zhejiang University in July 2001 with a bachelor’s degree
in Engineering Mechanics, and he received a master’s degree in Fluid Mechanics
from Zhejiang University in April 2004. Currently, he is studying for an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree in the School of Economics
and Management in Tsinghua University.

Mr. Qin Hongkang (% 7% &), aged 47, joined the Group in December 2004,
and was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Qin:

B AT B
Period Company Position
19994F7 A4 22004412 A R AT HEHBELE E2HELMEFEEIE

July 1999 to December 2004

THER
Yunnan School

200412 A 2200911 A
December 2004 to November 2009

BEMER

Guizhou School

200912 A 22013412 A
December 2009 to December 2013

EEEE
Yun Ai Group

2013F 128 &5
December 2013 to present

2016F8 A =4
August 2016 to present

Dianchi Morning News Agency

PRI RYEEBEBRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Reporter of social news, director of important news
and economic news

BlfT &
Associate dean
HiTht &
Executive dean

Bl 4
Vice president

Bl
Vice president

RELER2008FIARRNMHFERFEABBIELRE
SREGHEMER KM99FTAETBEER KL
BMEERCBELEM-

Mr. Qin obtained the qualification as lecturer from Intermediate Title Evaluation
Committee™ (P AR BT 5T & 8 2) of Software College in September 2008.
He was awarded a bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry from Yunnan University
(EZF K E), the PRC, in July 1999.
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Mr. Zhang Yan (58 %), aged 37, joined the Group in May 2015. He was vice
president of Yunnan Technology and Business University and has nearly 10 years
of experience in the education industry. He also possesses extensive experience
in financial management and administration and holds the certificates of the
Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) and Certified Management
Accountant (CMA) of the United States.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang has obtained the approval under the Hong
Kong Quality Migrant Admission Scheme and worked in Mazars CPA Limited in
Hong Kong engaging in audit work.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shandong Agricultural University (L3R 2 2 K2
in October 2010 with a bachelor's degree in accounting and graduated from
University of Southampton in the United Kingdom in December 2011 with a
master’s degree in accounting and finance. He is currently pursuing a Doctor of
Business Administration (DBA) in Management at the University of Wales in the
United Kingdom.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (£ %), was appointed as a joint company secretary on
19 August 2016 and has become the company secretary on 23 March 2018.
She has over 15 years of experience in providing company secretarial services
in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, which is a corporate service provider, and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior
to joining SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked
in a corporate service provider and the company secretarial department of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operations of Yunnan School, Guizhou
School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang School, Guangxi
Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School. The analysis of the principal
activities is set out in the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The business review and future outlook of the Group for the year ended
31 August 2023 is stated in the sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”. The description of principal risks and
uncertainties exposed to the Group is stated in the section of the “Principal
Risks and Responses” in Corporate Governance Report. The details of significant
events subsequent to the end of the financial year, which would affect the
Group, and discussion on future business developments of the Group are set
out in the sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. The “Financial Summary” on pages 220 to 221
of this annual report sets out the analysis on the Group’s performance for the
year by key financial performance indicators. A separate Environmental, Social
and Governance Report will set out the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the discussion
on the relationship between the Group and students, employees, suppliers and
other stakeholders. The aforementioned contents form parts of this Report of
Directors.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 119 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 August 2023 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMB0.096 per Share for the year ended 31 August 2023 (for the year ended
31 August 2022: RMB0.093 per Share). The final dividend will be declared
in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted for
conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the People’s
Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 21 November 2023 to 27 November 2023) (RMB1.0 to
HK$1.09420). Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong
Kong dollars will be HK$0.10504 per Share. The final dividend, subject to
approval by shareholders at the 2024 annual general meeting, will be paid on
Friday, 20 September 2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Thursday, 29 August 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 123 to 124 of this annual report and note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 August 2023, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB152,828,000 (as at 31 August 2022: RMB148,047,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Shares during the Reporting Period are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB36,997,432.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 August 2023 and as at the date of this
annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Ms. Shen Chunmei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023)
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, the changes in information of Directors are set out
below pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director of the Company, became a member
of the 14th session of the National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in January 2023;

- Mr. Chan Tung Hoi, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, retired as the Supervisor of the Association of Hong Kong and
Macau Members of CPPCC In Yunnan Province Ltd (& EJ & I #7680
Z BHtiEEE ER) in April 2023 and was appointed as the chairman
of the Association of Hong Kong and Macau Members of CPPCC In
Yunnan Province Ltd (BF 4 K #5782 & B ¥ E 2 g &) at the same
time. He was also appointed as a member of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 25 April 2023;

- Mr. Hu Jianbo, an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
resigned as the independent non-executive Director, a member of the
audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company with effect from 25 April 2023; and

- Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as an independent director of Sumitomo Mitsui
Banking Corporation (China) Limited (= H £ & R17 (R R ) BR A7),
with effect from 1 January 2023 and was appointed as a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 25 April 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2024 annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no
Director or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any direct or indirect major transaction, arrangement or contract to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, there was no provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and no contract of significance was entered
into.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 August 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

) REXTROFNEZR KR ()  INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

Fr#% 78 1 R R

& L £33 BHEHEO BMAOB DO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company @
e REGEEER BEaEEAR 757,340,225 (L) 48.70%
LA A
Mr. Li @ Interest in a controlled corporation, beneficial
owner and founder of a discretionary trust
FHEN® EmEEA 1,087,500 (L) 0.07%
Zhao Shuai © Beneficial owner
B EE EmEEA 224,000 (L) 0.01%
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson @ Beneficial owner
PR &0 EmEEA 169,200 (L) 0.01%
Chan Tung Hoi © Beneficial owner
ZF o EmfEA 169,200 (L) 0.01%
Pang Tsz Kit Peter © Beneficial owner
R AD EmfEA 350,000 (L) 0.02%
Shen Chunmei ) Beneficial owner
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Hiat:

(1)

LI ATRBRDFPEILTA - [FTEA R B R ER
HESL] THEENE S LB F TR #1,555,250,630
BER% D (BNA R B A £202348 831 B BTG
WE)TERB/E -

Z 4% 4 ZAspire Education Management Co., Ltd. &M —
AR B AR IR 3 5 K HR B K B4 AR B % B Aspire
Education Management Co., Ltd.FT#} T8 1D A 25 -
Z= 4 4 45 5 Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd. 61.47%
A7 B AR IR 35 55 K BB B 1K I 4 4R B 7 B Aspire
Education Technology Co., Ltd.ET#5FT A R mysEzs -
7202348 529H - Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
(B BARF0.76%HE AR R ) BB R F S AR T
MR IEEFLH A 230D - {8 BAspire Education
Consulting Co., Ltd.# £ F Fortune Trophy Limited ( 58 2
RERNWEHNBRR)NEDREEETZREE
5t © Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.BYFT B RXE 2
REFEETEEAREZE AUREIZIFRPER
Il 2= % A 4% 48, & 7 Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
HEHEHTRAPEEER - FTEEBERBRIT
5 5 A2018F9A3H ~ 2019F 10 A21 A &2020F7
A238 # F E #9709,30015 * 122,9001) £620,30017 B&
% 4 1 B] B2 [A) EL 81T A91,452, 5000 A% 10 AR B #e o o

i AD ST A AR R ITE S B 2018F10H 268 -
201944 A18 2019410 21 H K 202047 238 #
F H #9680,5001% * 114,4001% ~ 72,7001 F148,9001%
B8 A% 12 7] Bt 1A L 3 1T #91,016,5000% A% 15 Fh 1 A 4E

X o

fm

BB EZ S EH MR RRITE D B R20184F10 5261 »
201954 A1H - 201910821 8 K%202047 238 %
F H #9114,40015 + 57,2001 + 12,1005 £%40,30017 f&
% 1 1% 7] B2 [F) EL 26 17 #9224,000% B 10 7R A 1 25

BR 28 MR ANITE S BIR2019F10A21H &
20204F7 A23H % F H #9135,60017 £.33,60017 8 A% 4
% 7T B 17 L 31T #9169,200 8 I% 10 R B s o

TF RIS TR ARITESD B M2019F10A218 &
20204F7 238 % F H #9135,60011 £.33,60017 5 A% 4
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Notes:

(1)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. The percentage figures
disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in the Company” were
calculated based on the 1,555,250,630 Shares, being the number of total issued
Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2023.

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. and he
is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Aspire Education
Management Co., Ltd. under the SFO. Mr. Li holds 61.47% shares in Aspire Education
Technology Co., Ltd. and he is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd. under the SFO. On 29 August 2023,
Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd., a Shareholder holding 0.76% interests in
the Company, repurchased all of its shares owned by a family trust settled by Mr.
Li, at a consideration of Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd. transferring its entire
shareholding in Fortune Trophy Limited, a Shareholder holding 2.91% interests in the
Company, to such family trust. All the shareholders of Aspire Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. have authorised Mr. Li to exercise his voting rights thereof and thus Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in the entire issued capital of Aspire Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. under the SFO. Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in 1,452,500 Shares which
may be issued to him upon exercise of the 709,300, 122,900 and 620,300 share
options granted to him on 3 September 2018, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020,
respectively.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 1,016,500 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 680,500, 114,400, 72,700 and 148,900 share options
granted to him on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020,
respectively.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested in 224,000 Shares which may
be issued to him upon exercise of the 114,400, 57,200, 12,100 and 40,300 share
options granted to him on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019 and 23
July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on 21
October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be
issued to him upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him
on 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Ms. Shen Chunmei is deemed to be interested in 350,000 Shares which may be issued
to her upon exercise of the 350,000 share options granted to her on 23 July 2020.
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() LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

EFEH Yun Ai Group
EER N FEEEEEKE
" £ B Mg W& BHBE D
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
=3 SU) ZPEHERE RS AR #24,720,5237C 70.8305%
Mr. Li © Interest in a controlled corporation RMB24,720,523 70.8305%
it - Note:
©) BEREEZE (HERE REA% BREKE ©) Pursuant to the Equity Transfers, (i) each of the Chengxin Investment, Daai Partnership,

REREEAEBENETEENORE L5140
55.3041% : R() L BAESHEZREREESARD
¥ (BREGE) ([LBXE] )REZEEEMEF
MER BERESEEI55265%0RIEEZET S
BAEE.

B Pt P B E AN FR2023F8 A31H B EA R A
EERUESTHRABRAEE AR ARRHEME
BOABEMRRG  BERDSREEER BEREE
HF R EEPIEBUEREARAATETNERL
ETEe 8% skiR IR (IR ESFRI) BAAE A A A7) M B
R EmIAR o

EEREROIEEZTNER

BRAFHREMITDMEEEN REREHE A2
A ETMHEARBET LEALZHE <EFA
BARBARBAREMEAMEEER RO LE
HEMESNR BEHEEEHHEMMEBRI18HK
AT FREREMRBEARAREMEMEE
BB EANES ZENRBTETAAERER -

Huihuang Investment and Mr. Li transferred their equity interest in Yun Ai Group,
totaling approximately 55.3041%; and (i) Shanghai Taifu Xiangyi Equity Investment
Fund Limited Partnership (“Shanghai Taifu”) transferred 15.5265% of its equity
interest in Yun Ai Group, to Songming Dexue with reference to the registered capital of
Yun Ai Group contributed.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire interests by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other corporations, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 August 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, are
as follows:

() INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

mE /B

Name

B EEEE

Capacity/Nature of interest

BRHBEE

Number of shares ™

Frfe a4t B R A
BB DO
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company @

Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.
Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.

Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd.
Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd.

ImiREE@
UBS Group AG @

TX Capital (HK) Limited ©
TX Capital (HK) Limited ©

EMEEEBEEEARAAY
Greenwoods Asset Management
Hong Kong Limited ¥

Invest Partner Group Limited @
Invest Partner Group Limited @

EnlEAA
Beneficial owner

EnERA
Beneficial owner

REHEEER
Interest in a controlled corporation

WEKE
Investment manager

BREKIE

Investment manager

REHEEER
Interest in a controlled corporation

522,727,625 (1)

176,160,100 (L)

160,170,384 (L)

3,383,214 (S)

110,139,000 (L)

98,099,000 (1)

98,099,000 (1)

33.61%

11.33%

10.30%

0.22%

7.08%

6.31%

6.31%
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() TLIEZATRBRG T ER - [5]IEZATRBS
KA -

[FR/AARARESNED L] THENE D L E
F YR #51,555,250,630% A% 17 ( BN AN 2 &) & 20234
SAIEMBEBITRNBE)TEST -

2) UBS AG - UBS Switzerland AG - UBS Asset Management
Switzerland AG ~ UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG *
UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. -~ Credit Suisse
Funds AG - Credit Suisse International 5 Credit Suisse AGS
B3 IR &2 E100% % 6l o E UL - IBRIRE F R B E K6 -
¥ 81 55 8 ¥ 45 A HAUBS AG - UBS Switzerland AG - UBS
Asset Management Switzerland AG ~ UBS Fund Management
(Switzerland) AG~UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg)
S.A. ~ Credit Suisse Funds AG * Credit Suisse International 2
Credit Suisse AGFT AR (D P B 2= ©

(3) TX Capital Value FundF3TX Capital (HK) Limited 100%3% % -
It TX Capital (HK) Limited iR 1% 3 %5 M 23 & & I 45 18,
/A HATX Capital Value FundFr4s B B8 0 P A #E2S -

(4) Golden China Master Fund }2 Greenwoods China Alpha Master
FundE BB EMEEEEESARAA (FAIRE
4% 32 - flnvest Partner Group Limited 100%%E & )100%3%
A% o 1tk » Invest Partner Group Limited 5 5 7% & B & 18
BEEEAERARZSERBEESFRBERIIEE AR
Golden China Master Fund }2 Greenwoods China Alpha Master
FundFr s B I fn P E G 1% -

Iy RNREEBEENFRE

Notes:
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. The letter “S” denotes
the person’s short position in the Shares.

The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in
the Company” were calculated based on the 1,555,250,630 Shares, being the number
of total issued Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2023.

Each of UBS AG, UBS Switzerland AG, UBS Asset Management Switzerland AG, UBS
Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A., Credit
Suisse Funds AG, Credit Suisse International and Credit Suisse AG is 100% controlled
by UBS Group AG. Therefore, UBS Group AG is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by UBS AG, UBS Switzerland AG, UBS Asset Management Switzerland AG, UBS
Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A., Credit
Suisse Funds AG, Credit Suisse International and Credit Suisse AG under the SFO.

TX Capital Value Fund is 100% controlled by TX Capital (HK) Limited, and therefore TX
Capital (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TX Capital Value
Fund under the SFO.

Each of Golden China Master Fund and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund is 100%
controlled by Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as the investment
manager which is in turn 100% owned by Invest Partner Group Limited. Therefore,
each of Invest Partner Group Limited and Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Golden China Master Fund
and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund under the SFO.

LONG POSITION IN YUN Al GROUP

FREER

wE/ AR B e EMERNSEE RESHAOEI L
Approximate

percentage of

Amount of shareholding

Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
EHRES BB A AR #24,720,523 7T 70.8305%
Songming Dexue Beneficial owner RMB24,720,523 70.8305%
PR Bk BB A AR #7,000,0007T 20.0568%
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner RMB7,000,000 20.0568%

B X EEIN 20238 A3H  EF WM
FETWAL(UIEESHIARAESITHAR)
REHSRAREERD TP REREESLBE
MM BXVER B2 F3n B BT IR BEMERS AR
KRB EH RS G FI36IEBZ TR ZIEHE
JERRMARERIAE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2023, the Directors were not aware of
any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT &3 61



62

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ERIR R Z T T A

M2023F8A31H R RITEF B EMEMA
Eaﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁw%l%%%ﬁ%#ﬂiﬂ%ﬂ‘%m@é

E\I

EA2017¢3H20E| S G- W NN T 3 IRVAR
BEZE BRETHFELENFS S2HERE
ﬁ&ZIS’ATﬂﬁE’ﬁE#&%o

ZIN/N TE&%% BERELNERE BRE
EHEFIRFLE UERKFREE -

i

BYFMITESCENIERBRIEZER  ERYL
MB@QERBRREBAHENBEHH 2 EET
TEFRE  RO)ERRRN RS HHE L EREE
MHBFUEXF - BUFATESTEN RBREH
BABRFRBENGRCEZZET MMT-

EENBRFEEBNER

REEHE EFAESENBBEALERLFEAN
SEXGEEIRERFRAERFNEAES
KNEERGTHEA T MER-

HEXZREEBERS

RBEHREEEAFREH RELTRUSE
THARE U THAKRERARRBEALTETH
RGBUARR T ERRFERERS -

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 August 2023, none of the Controlling Shareholders had any other
interests in any business which is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

The Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of Non-competition on
20 March 2017 in favor of the Company. For the details of the Deed of Non-
competition, please refer to the Prospectus and previous annual reports of the
Company.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders
confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-competition during the
Reporting Period for disclosure in this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the declarations made
by the Controlling Shareholders, confirmed and noted that (a) the Controlling
Shareholders declared that they had fully complied with the Deed of Non-
competition throughout the Reporting Period; and (b) no new competing business
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting Period.
The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied that the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition had been duly complied with and enforced throughout
the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interests in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
following transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of
the Company constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A.

BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW

As the PRC laws and regulations generally restrict foreign ownership
involve in the private education industry in the PRC, therefore we currently
conduct our private higher education business, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business through the
PRC Operating Schools in the PRC. The PRC laws and regulations currently
restrict the operation of higher education institutions, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business under
Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing qualification
requirements on the foreign owners. We do not hold any sponsor’s interest
in the PRC Operating Schools. The Structured Contracts, through which
we obtain control over and derive the economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools, have been narrowly tailored to achieve our business
purpose and minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations. We had entered into the Structured Contracts for the PRC
Operating Schools and expect to enter into structured contracts for the
schools to be newly established or invested in, the terms and conditions
of which shall be the same as the Structured Contracts in all material
aspects.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10
December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August 2019, respectively,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with, among
others, the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School
Sponsors, under which all economic benefits arising from the business of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School Sponsors held
directly or indirectly by Yun Ai Group are transferred to Huihuang Company
to the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means
of service fees payable by the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the
Existing School Sponsors to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered
Shareholders are not consolidated as part of the Group, they are parties
to certain agreements which constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure
that the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai Group are actually controlled by
Huihuang Company.

The Existing Structured Contracts were amended due to the equity transfer
agreements entered into between certain then Registered Shareholders
and Songming Dexue on 26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019. The
Existing Structured Contracts were terminated and a series of agreements
comprising the New Structured Contracts were entered into between New
Registered Shareholders, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
Huihuang Company and Yun Ai Group. The terms and conditions of the
New Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the
Existing Structured Contracts. The New Structured Contracts were further
amended by various supplemental agreements due to the acquisition
of interest in new schools by the Group on 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020,
27 August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28
September 2021 and 19 November 2021, respectively.
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Please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the
Prospectus, as well as the announcements of the Company dated 8
October 2018, 10 December 2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August 2019,
6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020, 27 August 2020, 4
February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and 19
November 2021 for details.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group
stipulated under the New Structured Contracts:

KA E]
The Company
100% LT TTT T i
v v :
BEAT 36| SERE !
Huihuang Company Registered shareholders ' (4)(6)
N S l
(1) 1 (2)(8) 100% i i
| v PRC !
FEGEHBER
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
BERENEESEIREZMER
denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
----- BEBMEEY
denotes Structured Contracts
Kiat - Notes:
(1) T REE - 1 Payment of service fees.
(2) BB KM AR & E R R R - 2 Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.

@) WEATHZESRNEDANNSREREES
RERERENZHRBOBRBEZBRBEE-

4) BREBREZERTHETEESESRABREN
EHEM -

6 PHEEPREFZARTHETELESZRNE
=RT BREERREE-

6) EEBRTRROESN BEBRREEE-

(7 REBRREARSEREZZEENRE-

®) BEARRNEEEEREHEN

@ BREHEERER AREAERNOEBRMEA—
RIETBRSEMEIMIEHEAN L BRER] -

(3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the school sponsors’ interest in the PRC
Operating Schools and all or part of equity interest in the School Sponsors.

(4) Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by the School
Sponsors.

(5) Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.

(6) Entrust of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.

7) Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun
Ai Group.

(8) Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.
9) According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private

schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.
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As of the date of this annual report, no regulatory authority has interfered
or prevented us from adopting the new structured contracts as planned,
and the consolidated financial results of the PRC Operating Schools
engaged in higher education services have been consolidated into the
results of the Group.

SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL TERMS OF THE NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the New
Structured Contracts is set out below.

(1)

Business Cooperation Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), Huihuang
Company shall provide technical services, management support
and consulting services required for the private education business,
and the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall pay the
corresponding fees accordingly.

To ensure the due performance of the New Structured Contracts,
each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to
comply with, and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and
the New Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations
as prescribed under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019)
set forth as follows:

(@  to carry out its private education operations in a prudent
and efficient manner in accordance with proper financial and
business standards while maintaining the assets value of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the quality
and standard of private education;

(b)  to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(c)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Huihuang Company;

(d)  to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Huihuang
Company;
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(@)

to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huihuang
Company in terms of employment and removal of senior
management and staff;

to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huihuang
Company in relation to their respective strategic development;
and

to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its relevant requisite licenses.

In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019),

(@)

Mr. Li undertakes to Huihuang Company that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other
circumstances which may affect the exercise of his direct or
indirect equity interest in the New Registered Shareholders,
he shall have made all necessary arrangements and sign all
necessary documents such that their respective successor,
guardian, spouse, and any other person which may as a
result of the above events obtain the equity interest or
relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement
of the New Structured Contracts;

the New Registered Shareholders undertake to Huihuang
Company that, in the event of a merger and subdivision
of the New Registered Shareholders, any application
for winding up, liquidation, winding up restructuring or
reconciliation by the New Registered Shareholders or a third
party, dissolution and liquidation of the New Registered
Shareholders pursuant to an order, application for involuntary
dissolution of the New Registered Shareholders or for other
reasons, or other circumstances which may affect the New
Registered Shareholders in exercising their direct or indirect
interest in Yun Ai Group, they shall have made all necessary
arrangements and sign all necessary documents such that
the successor, administrator, liquidation committee and any
other person which may as a result of the above events
obtain the direct or indirect interest or relevant rights in Yun
Ai Group shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the
New Structured Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the
event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) Huihuang Company shall
have the right to exercise all school sponsor’s interests/
shareholders’ rights on the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing PRC Operating
Schools) on behalf of the Existing School Sponsors; (ii)
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or Existing
School Sponsors and/or the shareholders or sponsors
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
transfer all assets received or receivable in their capacity
as school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools/as shareholders of each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing
PRC Operating Schools) as a result of the dissolution or
liquidation of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to Huihuang Company or other persons designated by us
at nil consideration, and instruct all of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to transfer such assets directly
to Huihuang Company before such dissolution or liquidation;
(iii) if consideration is required for such transfer under the
then applicable PRC laws, the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and/or the shareholders or sponsors of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall compensate
Huihuang Company or the person as designated by us the
amount and guarantee that Huihuang Company or other
persons as designated by us do not suffer any loss; and

the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed that,
without the prior written consent of Huihuang Company,
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not
declare or pay to the New Registered Shareholders any
school-running balances (3 £ 45 &%) or other interest or
benefit. In the event that the New Registered Shareholders
receive any school-running balances (32245 #%) or other
interest or benefit, the New Registered Shareholders shall
unconditionally and without compensation transfer such
amount to Huihuang Company.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company agreed
to provide exclusive technical services to the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a)
design, development, update and maintenance of software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and
maintenance of webpages and websites necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (c)
design, development, update and maintenance of management
information systems necessary for the education activities of
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (d) provision of
other technical support necessary for the education activities of
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (e) provision of
technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical training; (g)
engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical support; and
(h) providing other technical services reasonably requested by the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Huihuang Company agreed to provide exclusive
management consultancy services to the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a) design of
curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or recommendation of
course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment and
training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment
support and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f)
preparation of long term strategic development plans and annual
working plans; (g) development of financial management systems
and recommendation and optimization on annual budget; (h)
advising on design of internal structures and internal management;
(i) provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct
of market research; (k) preparation of market development plan; (I)
building of marketing network; and (m) providing other management
technical services reasonably requested by the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Huihuang Company, each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to pay Huihuang Company
a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their respective
amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all costs,
expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required by the
law) and the legally compulsory education development fund of
the respective school (if required by the law)). The compulsory
education development fund is included as statutory surplus reserve
at the Group’s level and retained at schools’ level. Huihuang
Company has the right (but not the obligation) to adjust the amount
of such service fee by reference to the actual services provided
and the actual business operations and needs of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, provided that any adjusted amount
shall not exceed the amount mentioned above. The Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities do not have any right to make any
such adjustment.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the New
Registered Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang
Company or its designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the Existing School Sponsors
in the Existing PRC Operating Schools and equity interest in the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing
PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huihuang Company in respect of the transfer of such
school sponsor’s interest or equity interest upon exercise of the
Equity Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations. Huihuang Company or its designated
purchaser shall have the right to purchase such proportion of the
school sponsor’s interest of the Existing PRC Operating Schools
and/or equity interest in the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities (except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as it
decides at any time.

School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), the Existing School Sponsors have irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all their
rights as school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include,
but are not limited to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/
or elect supervisors of the schools; (c) the right to understand the
operation and financial situation of the schools; (d) the right to
review the resolutions and records of the board of directors and
financial statements and reports of the schools; (e) the right to
obtain school-running balances as school sponsor of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of association of each
school; (f) the right to acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the
schools in accordance with the laws and the articles of association
of each school; (g) the right to transfer school sponsors’ interest
in accordance with the laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of each school as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools as appointed by the Existing School Sponsors and to the
extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but are not
limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of the board of directors
as representatives of the directors appointed by the Existing School
Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all
matters discussed and resolved at the board meeting of each of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right to propose to convene
interim board meetings of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions
and other legal documents which the directors appointed by the
Existing School Sponsors have authority to sign in their capacity
as directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (e) the right
to instruct the legal representative and financial and business
responsible persons of the Existing PRC Operating Schools to act
in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors as
prescribed under the articles of association of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools; (g) the right to handle the legal procedures of
registration, approval and licensing of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (h) other directors’ rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools as amended from time to time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by the Existing School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company, the Existing School Sponsors authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company (none of whom is a director of any of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and therefore does not
give rise to any conflicts of interest), as their agent to act on their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all their rights as
school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. The Existing School Sponsors irrevocably agreed
that the authorization appointment in the School Sponsor’s Powers
of Attorney shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of the Existing School Sponsors’ subdivision,
merger, winding up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar
events. The School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’ and
Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).
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Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed by
each of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company (none of
whom is a director of any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts of interest),
as his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate
the exercise of all of his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School
Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise
all of his/their respective rights as shareholders of the Existing
School Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are
not limited to: (a) the right to attend shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at
the shareholders’ meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (c) the right to appoint directors or legal representative
of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (d) the right
to propose to convene interim shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (e) the right to sign all
shareholders’ resolutions and other legal documents which the New
Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in
his or their capacity as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (f) the right to instruct the directors and legal
representatives of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be to
act in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of shareholders
as prescribed under the articles of association of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (h) the right to handle the legal
procedures of registration, approval and licensing of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (i) other shareholders’ rights pursuant to
applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association
of the Relevant Subsidiaries as amended from time to time.
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In addition, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue
has irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company may delegate
its rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019) to the directors of Huihuang Company or its designated
person, without prior notice to or approval by the New Registered
Shareholders and Yun Ai Group; and (ii) any person as successor
of civil rights of Huihuang Company or liquidator by reason of
subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huihuang Company or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace Huihuang Company
to exercise all rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed
by each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company, as his or their agent to act on his or their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all his or their rights
as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to its directors or other designated person. Each
of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the
authorization appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Spouse Undertakings (2019)

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the spouse of Mr. Li
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li,
and in particular, the arrangement as set out in the New
Structured Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge
or transfer the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group, or the disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest
in Yun Ai Group in any other forms;

(b)  the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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(c)  the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the
spouse in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai
Group (direct or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest
of Huihuang Company under the New Structured Contracts
and give effect to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and
confirms and agrees to all such documents and procedures;

(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

(e) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events;

() all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall continue to be
valid and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing; and

(@  The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same term as and
incorporate the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019).

Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), each of the New
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged
and granted first priority security interests over all of its equity
interest in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto
to Huihuang Company as security for performance of the New
Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect or consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huihuang
Company as a result of any event of default on the part of the New
Registered Shareholders, or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the New Registered
Shareholders and/or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured Contracts (the “Secured
Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), without the
prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the New Registered
Shareholders shall not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any
unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any
transfer of the equity interest shall be first used in the payment
of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third party as
agreed to by Huihuang Company. The New Registered Shareholders
also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement (2019).

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019) and the
First Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts were
registered with the relevant Administration for Market Regulation of
the PRC on 2 September 2019 and 2 January 2020 and became
effective on the same date of the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company
agreed to provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance
with the PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to
utilize the proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools in its capacity as school sponsor
or the shareholder of the school sponsors in accordance with our
instructions. Both parties agree that all such capital contribution will
be directly settled by Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai Group.

The terms of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall continue until all
interest of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are
transferred to Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the
Company or designee of the Company and the registration process
required thereafter has been completed with the relevant local
authorities.

Each loan to be granted under the Loan Agreement (2019) will
be for an infinite term until termination at the sole discretion
of Huihuang Company. The loan will become due and payable
upon Huihuang Company’s demand under any of the following
circumstances: (i) a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy
reorganization or bankruptcy settlement has been filed by or
against Yun Ai Group, (i) a winding-up or liquidation application has
been filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (i) Yun Ai Group becomes
insolvent or incurs any other significant personal debt which may
affect its ability to repay the loan under the Loan Agreement (2019),
(iv) Huihuang Company or its designee exercises in full its option
to purchase all the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
interests to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations, or
(v) any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities commits
any breach of any obligations under the New Structured Contracts,
or any warranties provided by any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured Contracts is proved
incorrect or inaccurate. As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors,
interest-free loans granted by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group
is not in violation of the applicable PRC laws and regulations.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE PRC OPERATING SCHOOLS AND THE
SCHOOL SPONSORS

The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group are Yunnan School,
Guizhou School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang
School, Guangxi Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School, their
respective school sponsors, and other schools and other investment
holding companies which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of
the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time. Their business
activities are primarily engaged in higher education services. All of the
School Sponsors are investment holding companies.

SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE PRC
CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITIES TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the New Structured Contracts and the various supplemental
agreements in relation thereto, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the Group:

HAEENEZER
B s aE R to the Group

HASBNWEEM R U H SR
Significance and financial contributions to the Group
WA R E EEH#E
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
BZ2023%F B Z20235F 20235
8A3ALEE B8RINALFE 8A31H
For the year ended For the year ended As of

31 August 2023 31 August 2023 31 August 2023

Significance and financial contributions

100% 132% 96%

HEBUESHNFRIURAREE

TREAIINEE2023F8ANH LFEHEE
BERLBREBEREMSROOEA  K()E
ERE BRBRANBEESRENGEIES
MEREEEENZNMABEMFALEELD
MBHE:

REVENUE AND ASSETS INVOLVED IN THE NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS

The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) total assets involved in the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the year ended 31
August 2023, which would be consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements pursuant to the New Structural Contracts and the various
supplemental agreements in relation thereto:

PR IBEER REREYE  PRC Operation Schools and School Sponsors

ON BE
Revenue Assets
AR® T AR® T
RMB RMB

2,119,140,467 8,890,268,130
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F.

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2021 Edition) (the “Negative List”), the
provision of higher education in the PRC falls within the “restricted”
category. In particular, the Negative List explicitly restricts higher
education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and shall operate higher
education in the PRC through cooperation with a PRC educational
institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation. In
addition, the Negative List also provides that the domestic party
shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the school
shall be a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than half of the total members of the
board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration
committee of the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution
(the “Foreign Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the
Foreign Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools
on the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers
of the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant
to the Sino-Foreign Regulation and its Implementation Regulations,
if we were to apply for any of the Schools to be reorganized as a
Sino-foreign joint venture private school for PRC students (a “Sino-
Foreign Joint Venture Private School”), the foreign investor in
the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School must be a foreign
educational institution with relevant qualification and high quality
education (the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of
the total investment in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”)
and the establishment of these schools is subject to approval of
education authorities at the provincial or national level.

Our PRC Legal Advisors have advised that as of the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience required and form and extent
of ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations, including the
Qualification Requirement, the relevant education authorities will not
accept an application to convert the PRC Operating Schools or the
schools to be newly established or invested by us into Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private Schools.
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Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint venture private school
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted
a specific plan and had taken concrete steps which the Company
believes are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with
the Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC Legal Advisors, there have
been no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts”
in the Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2018 for the Group’s efforts and actions undertaken to
comply with the Qualification Requirement. As of the date of this
report, we are still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.

Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.

RZBEBENEAREARERRMMRENIT G RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ARRANGEMENTS AND THE ACTIONS
TAKEN TO MITIGATE THE RISKS

il

BRI — RIGH MR M0 AN ED
AMIe 2 R R A B IR BUS B A
BB B 35 -

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huihuang Company receives economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the agreements.

FEHEEENIBREIBEBZRELRS
ERG - R —EEERSEE KBRS
HEAENRERMPNBEER-

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the New Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £, 77



78

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

HWARKRLERMPEEGEERBOERE
MR RBREETER/ERREMSPBEIERIOE
M SR EUAS 3K M 15 AT (] PR AR O BT AT GE X
E EETREENM (BEREHEESR
MBER EREZSERBEAR 8EEZ
MR B

o WHEERMNTEMBEARNES LS

AR ;

o HRIE SR ok B A 7R 0 (T BB
ELE

o BRIAFIREE IR I BB R FR
W BESIE ST Y B M AR T

s EXRAMBAKERB HERMEY
MER EVPEIMFTREBRIERR
B-AEBREE:

o SRR SE T OB b SR
5 o

o RBHIRMABREIIAFAESHBENN
BREASTEERBLEERHTES

i B PT8 52 E st AR AT B2 & - RUFRPIE 575 - B
BRARBEXEAREXBNEATNTE -

AEBERRATER BRAKSEEEBH
THEBEAOMAERKEEERE MERE T
MEBIEEH:

@ WELE BEERET B L
SBT2 55 H 39 1) 2K P9 28 ST 28 P ) £
MEEES WA EF SRR

N
i

b EFCeSFELEHBIMETHEER
AHMBERBIENBE —X

(© ARBHREFERSE KT HRE T I
BETRETHEBUHEAONERE
o ABRRRBEBREENARIBER:

(d) ARBEHRDBERZEINRERERK
HMEXER HhEESRANERE
HRONERBIL LRI ER AR LT
HRABBERNEZRZAREBN R
MEBEANSI RN ARHERER

If the New Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating
our China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or
regulations in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the
MOE, which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion
in dealing with such violations, including:

revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC
subsidiaries;

discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to
compel us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary
licenses or relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the New Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the New Structured Contracts:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the New Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the New Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance of and
compliance with the New Structured Contracts in its annual reports
and interim reports to update the Shareholders and potential
investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the New Structured Contracts, review the
legal compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the New Structured Contracts.
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In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we believe that our Directors are
able to perform their roles in the Group independently and the Group is
capable of managing its business independently after the Listing under
the following measures:

(@  the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

(b)  each of our Directors is aware of his or her fiduciary duties as a
Director which requires, amongst other things, that he acts for the
benefits and in the best interests of the Group;

(c) we have appointed three independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board (including
independent non-executive Directors) relating to any business or
interest of each Director and his or her associates that competes or
may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

MATERIAL CHANGES

On 26 August 2019, pursuant to termination of the Existing Structured
Contracts, a series of agreements comprising of the New Structured
Contracts were entered into between the New Registered Shareholders,
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Huihuang Company.

On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Contracts was entered into among Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming
Dexue, Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company,
pursuant to which, among other things, all the rights and obligations
attached to Shanghai Taifu’'s equity interests in Yun Ai Group will be
transferred to Songming Dexue (the “First Supplemental Agreement”).

On 8 May 2020, Henan Rongyu, Luoyang School, the newly appointed
director of Luoyang School and Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered into a
supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the
Group’s further acquisition of interest in the Luoyang School (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”).
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On 29 July 2020, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi School
Sponsor and Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement to
the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the
then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Guangxi Schools (the “Third Supplemental Agreement”).

On 27 August 2020, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi, the school
sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School, Yunnan Vocational School and the
newly appointed director of the Yunnan Vocational School entered into a
supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of the Yunnan Vocational School (the “Fourth
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 4 February 2021, Songming Gaoxue and Beijing Lianhe entered into a
supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Beijing Lianhe (the
“Fifth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 20 April 2021, Bei Ai Company, the Gansu School and the newly
appointed directors of the Gansu School designated by Bei Ai Company
entered into a supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Gansu School (the “Sixth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 25 May 2021, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi School
Sponsor, and the Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement
to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group,
and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s
further acquisition of interest of the Guangxi Schools (the “Seventh
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 28 September 2021, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Beijing New
Higher Education (the company holding 100% equity interest of the school
sponsor of the Zhengzhou School and a wholly owned subsidiary of Yun
Ai Group), the Zhengzhou School and the newly appointed directors of
the Zhengzhou School designated by Zhengzhou New Higher Education
entered into a supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Zhengzhou School (the “Eighth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 19 November 2021, Haxuan Company, the Northeast School and the
newly appointed directors of the Northeast School designated by Haxuan
Company entered into a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group and the registered
shareholders of Yun Ai Group to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Northeast School (the “Ninth Supplemental Agreement”).

Save as the principal terms of the First Supplemental Agreement, the
Second Supplemental Agreement, the Third Supplemental Agreement, the
Fourth Supplemental Agreement, the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the
Sixth Supplemental Agreement, the Seventh Supplemental Agreement, the
Eighth Supplemental Agreement and the Ninth Supplemental Agreement,
the clauses of the New Structured Contracts remained unchanged.
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UNWINDING OF THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding
of any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus
and the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured Contracts” of
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019. In the event
that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control
Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other changes in the
relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that
the Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using
the Structured Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations at the relevant time.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
Structured Contracts and confirmed that, during the relevant financial
year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and

(iiy  the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 August 2023
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Structured Contracts, and have been operated so that the profit
generated by the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors
have been substantially retained by the Group;

no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group;

(i

(il the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is

concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole; and

no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

(iv)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 August 2023 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for
those described in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been
complied with.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

PURPOSE

The Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-
going relationships with eligible persons, to facilitate the performance, growth or
success of the Group. In addition, in the case of executives (as defined below),
the Share Option Scheme may enable the Group to attract and retain individuals
with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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ELIGIBLE PERSONS

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director, manager, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member
of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or part-
time for any member of the Group (‘Employee”); (b) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of
any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person
involved in the business affairs of the Company whom the Board determines to
be appropriate to participate in the Share Option Scheme.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the
Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.20%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the number of shares subscribed by an
eligible person upon exercise of options, plus the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) granted to such eligible person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue at that date, failing which separate approval of the Shareholders
shall be obtained and such eligible person and his or her close associates (or
his or her associates if such eligible person is a connected person) shall abstain
from voting.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of the Group (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted to him (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares
in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million (or such other higher amount as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange), such grant
must be first approved in a general meeting.
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VESTING AND EXERCISE PERIOD

At any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date, the Group may propose to
the Board, in its absolute discretion, to grant options to any eligible person to
subscribe at the subscription price for (subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme) such number of Shares as determined (provided the same shall be a
board lot for dealing in the Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including
such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise),
there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which must be achieved by the grantee
before the option can be exercised.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the Adoption Date, after which no further options will be granted or offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in
all other respects. All options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme, which will
expire on 19 March 2027, is approximately three years and four months from
the date of this annual report.

AMOUNTS PAYABLE FOR APPLICATION OR ACCEPTANCE OF SHARE
OPTIONS

An eligible person can accept an option within 28 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option, sign the offer letter comprising acceptance of the
option and submit it to the Company, and pay a remittance of HK$1.00 (as the
consideration for the grant of the option) in favor of the Company.

EXERCISE PRICE

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an option shall
be determined by the Board but shall not be less than whichever is the highest
of:

the nominal value of a Share;

(b)  the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing
Rules) immediately preceding the offer date.

OTHERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had 13,363,620 outstanding share
options (granted but not yet exercised), representing 0.86% of the issued shares.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
was 88,817,000 as at 31 August 2023 (as at 31 August 2022: 88,817,000).

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
99,310,300 Shares and representing 6.39% of the issued Shares as at the date
of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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The fair value of all the share options granted by the Company during the year
ended 31 August 2023 was RMBO, comprising of RMBO and RMBO, being the
value of the share options granted to the Directors and employees (excluding
directors and chief executives) respectively.

There were no share options granted by the Company during the Reporting
Period. Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows:

=3 SERL R2022% 20235 R2022% 20235

fTEE AMARHE

91R  AHH  AHE  AHE  FHE 8A31A 9A1AZ 8A31AZ

SEATER R AHo (B7x) (B7x) i R AT Rt EOE i 3 HRTHR KERBRE REBEBERE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise Immediately share options  share options
price before the date  Outstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at as at as at
Category of per share of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant (HKS) (HKS) 2022  the Period the Period the Period the Period 2023 2022 2023
Bz
Directors
TEH 2018F9A3H 5.92 543 709,300 - - - - 709,300 - -
Li Xiaoxuan 3 September 2018
2019F10A21H 311 311 122,900 - - - - 122,900 49,160 -
21 October 2019
20207 A23H 533 533 620,300 - - - - 620,300 248,120 -
23 July 2020
TR 2018510 A 26H 4.202 3.950 680,500 - - - - 680,500 80,000 -
Zhao Shuai 26 October 2018
2019F4A1R 3.64 3.64 114,400 - - - - 114,400 - -
1 April 2019
2019F10A21A 311 311 72,700 - - - - 72,700 29,080 -
21 October 2019
20207 H23R 533 533 148,900 - - - - 148,900 59,560 -
23 July 2020
RER 20207 A238 533 533 350,000 - - - - 350,000 140,000 -
Shen Chunmei 23 July 2020
BER 2018510426R 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - - 114,400 - -
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 26 October 2018
2019F4A1R 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - - 57,200 - -
1 April 2019
2019107218 311 311 12,100 - - - - 12,100 4,840 -
21 October 2019
20206 7A238 533 533 40,300 - - - - 40,300 16,120 -
23 July 2020
HBK 20185104268 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - - 114,400 - -
**Hu Jianbo 26 October 2018
201954418 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - - 57,200 - -
1 April 2019
2019F10A21H 311 311 8,700 - - - - 8,700 3,480 -
21 October 2019
20207 A 238 533 5.33 29,800 - - - - 29,800 11,920 -
23 July 2020
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B ZERL 20228 R2023%F R202F R2023%F
f6EE BHARHE 981 AHE AHE AHE AU 8A31A 9A1A2  B8A3IAX
SEALER Rt AHY (Bx) (B7x) i R AT Bt EOE BE %X HRTHR REBBRE REBERE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise Immediately share options  share options
price before the date  Outstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at as at as at
Category of per share of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant (HK$) (HKS) 2022  the Period the Period the Period the Period 2023 2022 2023
AN 2019F10A21H 311 311 135,600 - - - - 135,600 54,240 -
Pang Tsz Kit Peter 21 October 2019
2020674238 533 533 33,600 - - - - 33,600 13,440 -
23 July 2020
BLE 2019F10A21R 311 311 135,600 - - - - 135,600 54,240 -
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019
20207238 533 533 33,600 - - - - 33,600 13,440 -
23 July 2020
TH 2018410 26H 4.202 3.950 240,250 - - - - 240,250 - -
“Ding Yu 26 October 2018
"EIR 2018410 A 26H 4.202 3.950 57,200 - - - - 57,200 - -
“*Wong Man Chung 26 October 2018
Francis
E&
Employee
EE (BREEMRE 2018F10A26H 4.202 3.950 2,824,560 - - - 203,700 2,620,860 40,000 -
SEFMATING 26 October 2018
HtERA)
Employee (Other grantees 201811 A28 4.320 4.320 19,700 - - - - 19,700 - -
excluding Directors 2 November 2018
and five highest paid
individuals) 2019F4A1R 3.64 3.64 1,787,230 - - - 138,800 1,648,430 - -
1 April 2019
2019108216 311 311 1,467,380 - - - 76,000 1,391,380 612,600 -
21 October 2019
202067 H238 533 533 2,436,800 - - - 142,300 2,294,500 822,400 -
23 July 2020
HEGBEMAL (FTREES) 1,499,800 - - - - 1,499,800 206,360 -

****Five highest paid individuals (excluding Directors)

4% Total 13,924,420 - - - 560,800 13,363,620 2,459,000 -

* R2019F4 A30R BT ES * Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019

* R2019F 12 A6B BT ES * Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019

R2023F4 25 AEITES Ceased to be a director on 25 April 2023

o ABEHENAEERTFMATEE=2RERITES " =+ The five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period includes three existing executive
WENBREREN L - Directors, whose options are disclosed above.

Hat - Note:

RIREHR - R EREEITE - No share options were exercised during the Reporting Period.
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K15t - Notes:
) BR2018FOASH B HMBREMS ZSEREHESE (1) For share options granted on 3 September 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period
MHRITES B AMBE B AL E2023F9H28 Ik - commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 2 September 2023:
BFEEZ
FEAS “RAEW BREBSL

Percentage of
the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2019479 A3H 202359 A2H 50%
3 September 2019 2 September 2023
2020479 A3H 202349A2H 30%
3 September 2020 2 September 2023
20214F9A3H 202359A2H 20%
3 September 2021 2 September 2023

) BR2018F10A26B R EMERENS EEBEERE (2 For share options granted on 26 October 2018, the exercise period commencing from the

ERERBEZITES FIRMOT relevant vesting date and ending date are shown as follows:
719,692,10017 3 AL 7 & & > 5,726,3001) B 7 (R IE® T Among the 19,692,100 share options, 5,726,300 share options (including 343,200 share
H AD 2 343,20017 8 AR 4 - % F B2 13 2114,40017 8 A 4 - options granted to Zhao Shuai, 114,400 share options granted to Kwong Wai Sun Wilson,
B BRI 2 114,40010 B8 B 4 - 1% F T "2 480,50017 i 114,400 share options granted to Hu Jianbo***, 480,500 share options granted to Ding Yu*
B& 1% T & SR 2 114,40015 BE B i ) 78 52 DA T 57 /B R and 114,400 share options granted to Wong Man Chung Francis**) shall be subject to a vesting
FTRRR period as followings:
BIEEZ
FEAS “REH BREASLL
Percentage of
the share options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2019F3A1H 2023108258 50%
1 March 2019 25 October 2023
20203 A1H 202310258 30%
1 March 2020 25 October 2023
2021318 202310258 20%
1 March 2021 25 October 2023
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719,692,10017 8% A% 7 & = > 1,319,1001) BE & (BIEH® T Among the 19,692,100 share options, 1,319,100 share options (including 137,300 share
{tHED 2 137,300170 B AR 4 R 1% F T H*,2.22,90017 AR 4 I % options granted to Zhao Shuai and 22,900 share options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400
TR 2114,40010 FE AR HE ) 7B 52 DA T 55 88 B TR AR - share options granted to Chen Shuo**) shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:
BETEB2
REAH “RAM BRETS

Percentage of
the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
201949 A3H 2023F10H25H 50%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023
202059 A3H 2023F10H25H 30%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023
202149 H3H 2023F10H25H 20%

3 September 2021

25 October 2023

719,692,10017 i A% # & & » 600,00017 f& 4 (B #EE T #
B 2.200,00017 i Ak 42 ) 78 2 LA T BR B B FT AR IR -

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 600,000 share options (including 200,000 share options
granted to Zhao Shuai) shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

BFHEEz

SEAH “REM BREBS

Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

20194 9A3H 2023%F10H25H 20%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023

202059 A3H 2023F10H25H 20%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023

202149H3H 2023F10H25H 20%
3 September 2021 25 October 2023

2022%9H3H 2023F10H25H 20%
3 September 2022 25 October 2023

202356 H3H 2023F10H25H 20%
3 June 2023 25 October 2023
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719,692,10015 B A% 4 & =+ 12,000,0001) B AR B = LA T~
SREEFTARR (Mo BRED LR

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 12,000,000 share options shall be subject to a vesting
period as follows (Such part of the share option has lapsed):

BFEEZ

FEAH EREB BREBSLL
Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
20194F9 311 H 20235104 25H 20%

11 September 2019

202059 A11H
11 September 2020

20216F9811H
11 September 2021

202299 H811H
11 September 2022

202346 H11H
11 June 2023

25 October 2023

2023410H25H
25 October 2023

2023410H25H
25 October 2023

2023410H25H
25 October 2023

2023410H25H
25 October 2023

20%

20%

20%

20%

F#246,70017 FEAREBR A T 5B HIFTAR IR -

The remaining 46,700 share options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

BFrEEz

SEAH ERES BREASLL
Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2019410426 H 2023410H25H 50%

26 October 2019

2020910426 H
26 October 2020

2021410426 H
26 October 2021

25 October 2023

2023%10H25H
25 October 2023

20234104 25H
25 October 2023

30%

20%

FR2018F 11 A2ERHMERENS  ZSBREHESE () For share options granted on 2 November 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 1 November 2023:

MHRITES B EHEE R PRE2023F11A18 1E:

BEAS

Vesting date

EREM

Ending date

BFEE2
BREBSH
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

2019411 A28
2 November 2019

2020411 A28
2 November 2020

2021411 528
2 November 2021

2023411 818
1 November 2023

2023411 518
1 November 2023

202311 /18
1 November 2023

50%

30%

20%
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)

BAR019F4AIBREMBERENS ZEEREHVAE @ For share options granted on 1 April 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 31 March 2024:

HETES B AMSE R PRE2024F3831H I

BEAY

Vesting date

HRAM

Ending date

BFEEZ
BRETS L
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

202044 A1H
1 April 2020

202144 A18
1 April 2021

20224 A1H
1 April 2022

20243 A31H
31 March 2024

202443 A31H
31 March 2024

202443 A31H
31 March 2024

50%

30%

20%

BR2019F10A21B R LM EREMD 5
BHERTES B MRS AL E2024F10820H 1t -

ZEBREHE (5 For share options granted on 21 October 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 20 October 2024:

BFEEZ

FEAH “REB BREBSLL
Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
20204F10H21H 20244510 H20H 30%

21 October 2020

2021410H21H
21 October 2021

2022410H21H
21 October 2022

20 October 2024

2024%10H20H
20 October 2024

2024%10H20H
20 October 2024

30%

40%

BR2020F7 A23B ML R BEREM S -
HERITER B BB E B B E2025F7 228 IE:

ZEBREBEE (0 For share options granted on 23 July 2020, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 22 July 2025:

BFEEZ

SEAH “RAEM BREASLL

Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

202147 A23H 202547 A22H 30%
23 July 2021 22 July 2025

202247 A23H 20257 228 30%
23 July 2022 22 July 2025

202347 H23H 20257 A22H 40%
23 July 2023 22 July 2025

* M2019F4 A30B BT = F
> M2019F12 A6E BT = F

e 20234 A5 HEHTES
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The Share Options granted shall vest in the proposed grantees in accordance
with the above timetable, each with an exercise period commencing from
the relevant Vesting Date and ending 5 years after the date of grant (for this
purpose, the date or each such date on which the Share Options are to vest
being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”).

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed, or
cancelled during the Reporting Period.

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance targets during the relevant exercise period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the year ended 31 August 2023, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had entered into any equity-linked agreement that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers each independent non-executive Director
to be independent since his appointment and remain so as of the date of this
annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total of 7,100,000
Shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of HK$23,982,734
before expenses. All the repurchased Shares were subsequently cancelled on 20
February 2023.

BORMOMFBOT: Details of the Share repurchased are as follows:

B E A £ BRA SR Frfsd

#A EafE RIKE BRE

Highest Lowest Aggregate

Month of repurchase No. of Shares price paid price paid consideration

RBEEHWER A 7 during the Reporting Period repurchased per Share per Share paid

(BT) (BT) (7&7T)

(HKS) (HK$) (HKS)

2022128 December 2022 7,100,000 3.84 2.21 23,982,734

M Total 7,100,000 23,982,734
M EXATIRBEE  RARSE T ME AR  Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
EHEEAREAHANERS  PEEO AL purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock

AR B 3P BT R85

Exchange during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have occurred since
the end of the Reporting Period up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers are mainly students. For the year ended 31 August 2023,
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
revenue and none of single customer accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s
revenue.

For the year ended 31 August 2023, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 29.1% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s single largest supplier
accounted for 11.3% of the Group’s total purchases.

As at 31 August 2023, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the
Group'’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers and understands that maintaining a good relationship with such
stakeholders is critical to the Group’s sustainable development in long term.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Directors or other
officers etc. for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts, provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of said persons.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries have maintained director
liability insurance to provide the Directors and other officers of the Company and
the Group’s subsidiaries with adequate security.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 August
2023 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



MBME

AEERNEBEAEYBRFENRE EEMAGH
ZENAFRFEN0Z221EH [HHBHEI Nt
MEBEY TEREEZEEMERERN— MO -

RIKKREERFGE

ARrl R REERMAENFBHAREETH
SRS

RIKETE

FEAN -AEEETEAMEEXEBOMNE R
AMEEASEW T HRAFEFENTREREF
B -HZEMBRAAREBEF EKNANZFEL R AH
RIBREFAEHK-BFREETIN AEEAEX
MERARBHNOEE - HFHREDRERSEEIR
AR B BBk -

EE-AEEE2HEN2000F12ARBEEERG
HRABEFEEAR Lz AFEREEE (R
BMEstdl]) %ZEAAEERLAKEZEEDH
BE ABYURTAZNZESRE BB
zREME AKBEARRBELIIZEEEN
& M5%IE R B HNERE Z HRE —
H-BARFZES2R LR AEMEE1,5008
TT e

AREEHZSHTENERNB2HEENES -
gt B E2023F8A31AEFE ZE5 8B T
4 3000 WA FRRT 4 AN SR B B RV ED IR B BUK
o LA R 52202348 531 B I £ 0] AR WAL X o

AHEIR

H E2023F8A31H B HEHR A £H9,755%EE
(B E202248HA31H 1L £9593%) 'R EEAHR
NEBBRESEERREEESESEE AT - BiF
FEEEREREE SEARELHSEHAMA
BRREEMEBLGRES BREEREAES
EEZRB BERR - £ERER ITERBRRELE
R - £SEEESMHITEBRERIG R|EHAL
BCFE TR ERLEMNS -

AEBERBINEMEAL REQF BEAWMH
BENINEEFHFHES HFMBERREASE R
TR TR ELFIRETHMNERE 2ZMAE
BASRS MUBE BEA/NEESHH- R
AEB-ERBRBEEE TN FEREBRMIN
AR AERIEDIET B ST E - EEREBRRER R
SEEMEK-

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five financial
years is set out on pages 220 to 221 “Financial Summary” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in note 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

PENSION SCHEME

Mainland China — The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed
by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The Group
has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Hong Kong — The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong
Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) since December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held, separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
independent trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
a percentage of 5% of employees’ basic payroll to the MPF Scheme, which is
the same as the employees’ contributions. The maximum monthly amount of
contributions is limited to HK$1,500 per employee.

The Group’s contributions to the schemes are simultaneously and fully vesting
to the employees. Accordingly, there were no forfeited contributions under
the Schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions during the year ended 31 August 2023, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as at 31 August 2023.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 August 2023, the Group had a total of 9,755 employees (9,593 as
of 31 August 2022). The increase was mainly due to the Group insists on
high-quality development and continues to introduce high-quality talents. As
required by the PRC laws and regulations, the Group participates in various
employee social security plans for our employees that are administered by local
governments, including housing provident fund, pension, medical insurance,
maternity insurance, work injury insurance, and unemployment insurance. The
Group maintains a good working relationship with employees, and the Group did
not experience any material labor disputes during the Reporting Period.

The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contribution-driven, fair and
competitive in the market” for employees. The remuneration policy is designed
according to the different position sequences of the Group and its schools, and
the salary is determined with reference to the capability, job responsibilities and
contribution of its employees. At the same time, the Group has been actively
cultivating the capabilities of its employees and has been providing external and
internal training programs for employees to build a quality team to meet the
development requirements of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or health care personnel at each of the schools
operated by the Group, in order to handle routine medical situations for students.
In case of certain serious and emergency medical situations, the Group will
promptly send the students to the local hospitals for treatment. With respect to
school safety, the Group has engaged a qualified property management company
to provide property security services at the school premises of the Group.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended 31 August 2023, the Company was not engaged in
any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 August 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed
and discussed with the management in relation to the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company, the internal controls and financial report
matters, and the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The
annual results of the Group have been reviewed by the Audit Committee together
with the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
96 to 113 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year ended 31 August 2023.
The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the 2024 annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as auditor will be proposed at the 2024 annual general meeting.

During the preceding three years, there was no change of the auditor of the
Company.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts
for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Chairman

Li Xiaoxuan

China, 28 November 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability
of all operations of the Group. The Group believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of
the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules.

The Group has three executive Directors (including Mr. Li) and three independent
non-executive Directors, who have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning as well as a fairly strong independence element in the
composition of the Board.

CORPORATE CULTURE

With the mission of “enabling every student to achieve career success and
happiness in life”, New Higher Education Group adheres to its corporate social
responsibilities, creates value for students, employers, government, faculties,
partners, investors and other stakeholders, advocates the value of “Putting
Students First”, “Contribution-driven” and “Adhering to Long-term Principles”,
and insists on the education philosophy of “Strengthen Moral Education and
Cultivate Talents, Teach Students in Accordance with Their Aptitude, Apply What
One Has Learned”, and is committed to building the most student-oriented
university in the PRC.

The Group is committed to promoting corporate culture, disseminating and
driving it from the Board, senior management, middle management, and
employees, in a top-down approach. The Board oversight of the corporate culture
encompasses a range of measures and tools, including employee engagement,
retention and training, solid financial reporting, whistleblowing, risk management
and legal and regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety, wellbeing and
support. Taking into account the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the
Board considers that the culture, purpose, values and strategy of the Group are
aligned.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented various initiatives
to promote corporate culture and will continue to monitor and strengthen the
Company’s cultural framework. Details of relevant initiatives are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report and the 2022/2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Group adheres to the high-quality development strategy, actively responds
to national policies, and focuses on the strong demand for application-oriented
technical and skilled talents in national economic and social development
during the “14th Five-year Plan” period. With building of the Party as the guide,
enhancing morality and fostering talents as the fundamental task, serving
development as the purpose and the high-quality employment as the orientation,
the Group will constantly optimize the structure of majors and the model of
talent cultivation.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The overall management of the operations of the Group is vested in the Board.
The Board is responsible for the leadership of the Group and is collectively
responsible for guidance and monitoring the affairs of the Group.

The Board supervises and gives guidance to the management directly and
indirectly through committees, including formulating overall strategies for the
Group’s development and monitoring their implementation, approving major
policy issues, overseeing and controlling the Group’s operational and financial
performance, internal control and risk management systems, and overseeing the
performance of senior management. The Directors are required to make objective
decisions in the interests of the Company.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and operations
to the Company’s senior management, and reserves the final approval authority
for major decisions of the Group.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) bring to the
Board extensive and valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise
that contribute to the efficient operation of the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains a
high standard of governance, balancing the powers of the Board and exercising
effective and independent judgment on corporate actions and operations. During
the year ended 31 August 2023, all Directors have devoted sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no other financial, business or
family relationships among the members of the Board.

MECHANISMS FOR THE BOARD TO OBTAIN INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND
OPINIONS

The Company has established a mechanism for the Board to obtain independent
views and opinions (including but not limited to the Articles of Association, terms
of reference of Board committees) to ensure the Board has an independent
element as a key measure to improve the efficiency of the Board. The
mechanism covers the channels for the Directors to seek advice from external
professional advisors; the right for Directors to obtain further information and
documents from the management in connection with the matters to be discussed
at the Board meetings; the procedures and criteria for election of Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors); and the number of independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments and contributions to the
Board. The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanism and believed that the mechanism can ensure the Board to obtain the
independent views and opinions.
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As of the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors consists of six
Directors, and the list of Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Shen Chunmei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

As of the date of this annual report, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Change in Information of Directors” in this annual report, there was no other
change in information of Directors and chief executive of the Company was
required to be disclosed in purchase to Rule 13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers, and renewed the liability insurance for Directors and officers.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Ms. Shen Chunmei, executive
Directors of the Company, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a specific term of three years, which is automatically renewable. The service
contracts of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai have commenced from the
Listing Date and the service contract of Ms. Shen Chunmei has commenced from
27 August 2020. They are automatically terminated by either party by giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing to the other party and such notice shall
be valid until the expiry of the fixed term.
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Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit
Peter, the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing
from the Listing Date, 26 August 2019 and 26 August 2019 respectively, which
is automatically renewable until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing given by the independent non-executive Directors to the Company
or immediately upon written notice by the Company to the independent non-
executive Directors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Directors of the above service
contracts are subject to the rotation and re-election of Directors at least every
three years at the annual general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as a new member of the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board
since their appointments. They bring impartial view on issues of the Group’s
strategy, performance and control, exercise their independent judgment at
the Board meetings and scrutinize the Group’s performance. Their views carry
significant influence to the Board’s decision. All independent non-executive
Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience. They provide independent advice on the Group’s
business strategy, results and management so that Shareholders’ interests can
be taken into account as a whole, and the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders can be protected.

More than one-third of the Board of the Company (3 out of 6 Directors) are
independent non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, a member of the
Audit Committee, possess the relevant professional qualifications and accounting
and related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from all independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent and that they have met the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board holds on-site or online Board meetings from time to time to discuss
the overall strategies, operations and financial performance of the Group. In
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings are required to be held at least four times a year and the above
requirement was met during the Reporting Period.

The Board undertakes to ensure that all Directors are provided with relevant
materials on the matters before any Board meeting is held and to provide
sufficient time for the Directors to review the materials and make their judgment.
In addition, Directors may individually contact the senior management of
the Company or the office of the Board in accordance with the Procedures
for Directors to seek Independent Professional Advice to make requests for
independent professional advice on major proposals requiring approval at the
Company’s expenses. Where queries are raised by Directors, steps would be
taken to respond as promptly and fully as possible.

For regular Board meetings, notices of Board meetings will be given to the
Directors at least 14 days prior to such meetings and Board procedures comply
with the Articles of Association, as well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee meetings are completed,
recording full details of the matters considered by the Board and Board
committees, the process by which decisions were reached and any matters
raised by the Directors. Draft minutes were sent to the Directors for their
comments within a reasonable period of time after the date of the meeting.

In addition to the Board meetings, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, the Chairman, also held one
meeting with three independent non-executive Directors during the Reporting
Period without the presence of other Directors.

The attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board and other
meetings during the year ended 31 August 2023 is set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of

EENS Name of Directors Board Meetings(s)

HITESE Executive Directors

TEB A Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 4/4

i B 5 A& Mr. Zhao Shuai 4/4

RERZL Ms. Shen Chunmei 474
BUFHITEE Independent non-executive Directors

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 4/4

PR F A Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 3/4

TFEEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 4/4

BRI S A (R20235FE4 258 B E) Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023) 3/3
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, including Audit Committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee. The chairmen of Audit
Committee and remuneration committee are independent non-executive
Directors. Through appointment and authority granted by the Board, each
committee operated in accordance with its terms of reference. And the terms
of reference and member list of each committee are available on the website of
the Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice and other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment and removal of external auditors. As of the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (being the chairman of Audit Committee),
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is a fellowship member of CPA Australia.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s unaudited financial results for
the six months ended 28 February 2023 and the audited financial results for the
year ended 31 August 2023, and was of the opinion that the preparation of the
relevant financial statements complied with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. In addition,
the Audit Committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors.
In addition, the Audit Committee reviewed the internal control of the Group and
oversaw the risk management and internal control systems of the Group during
the year end 31 August 2023.

During the year ended 31 August 2023, two meetings were held by the Audit
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at
the meetings is set out below:
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SBERY

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEng Name of Directors Meeting(s)
BBEE L E Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
BRFR R e A (FA2023F4 B 258 B BT ) Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023) 2/2
PRAE A (FR2023F4825H B ERT) Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (appointed on 25 April 2023) 0/0
TrHEE LT Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 2/2
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Financial reporting

The finance department is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for this financial year which shall give
a true and fair view of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the
Company and its subsidiaries for that period.

Upon appropriate enquiries, the Directors believe that the Company has adequate
resources to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, therefore it
is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

Directors’ responsibility in respect of the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2023. The
management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before them by the Group for approval. The
management provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

Appointment of external auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and
any questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The Company
has been engaging Ernst & Young as its external auditor since its listing.

Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the year ended 31
August 2023 are as follows.

AREEF T

RMB’000

ZE R Audit services 4,500
IEIX EUR 75 Non-audit services 228
4,728

BB EmAASBERERGE AR -

Non-audit services included tax consulting services provided to the Group.
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Risk management and internal control

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate legal, compliant and effective
operation of schools, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks,
and to safeguard assets of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board also recognizes
its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviews their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. In addition, the
Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and assessing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. During the Reporting
Period, the Group has adopted the following policies and procedures and taken
the following measures to improve the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal control
systems, with the integration of the real situation of the Group and various
applicable laws and regulations, the management develops solutions towards the
risks with an aim to organize the business operation systematically, and monitor
and mitigate possible risks. The Group also requires all staff to comply with
certain internal risk management and internal control standards so as to build
a regulatory environment of risk control and standardized operation. In addition,
the Group has also established policies and procedures applicable to each of its
operating units with clear segregation of duties and continuous improvement to
ensure the effectiveness of risk management and internal controls.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the Audit Committee
supervises the Group’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and economic
activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to ensure
the effective implementation of risk management and internal control systems
and the Group’s standardized operation and healthy development. In order to
comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code in
relation to the risk management and internal controls, the Group has established
an internal audit department (risk control department) for the purposes of
simultaneous updates between its governance and the Corporate Governance
Code and continuously improving the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal controls. The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal control systems are maintained so as to safeguard the
Group’s assets and the interest of the Shareholders.

The Group’s senior management in charge of internal audit function and the
chief/joint financial officer, attend regular meetings of the Audit Committee
to report on the risk management and internal control reports as well as the
summary report of internal audit findings, and to respond to questions from
members of the Audit Committee. The report on risk management and internal
control, the summary report on the results of internal audit and the annual audit
plan are presented to the Audit Committee, and are reported to and approved by
the Board after being approved by the Committee. All Directors are informed of
the results of the internal audit.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
systems and considered that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company were adequate, appropriate and effectively implemented. Such
review covered all material controls, financial, compliance and operational
controls as well as risk management mechanisms. The Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee, also reviewed and was satisfied with the
adequacy of the Company’s resources, the staff’s qualifications and experience,
the training courses and the related budgets in accounting, internal review and
financial reporting functions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND RESPONSES

The Group has always attached importance to the review of the risk environment
in which it operates, and has focused on strategic responses by incorporating
ESG risk assessment into the review of internal risks. Considering the likelihood
of occurrence of risks and the severity of their impact, the three principal risks
that have the most significant impact on the Group are as follows :

1. Teaching quality risk: Teaching quality is the core of the education sector.
The quality of teaching directly affects students’ learning outcomes and
future development potential. If the quality of teaching is poor, it will lead
to student and parent dissatisfaction and a decline in trust, which in turn
affects the reputation and brand image of the school.

2. Compliance (regulatory, standards and reporting) risk: compliance is the
foundation of the education industry. As most of the schools in the market
are public schools, it is important for China New Higher Education Group,
as a leader of private universities, to keep compliance with relevant
laws and regulations and policy requirements, otherwise it will face
serious legal liability and reputation loss. Compliance, including financial
management, enrollment management, teaching management and many
other aspects, any negligence in the procedure may have a negative
impact on the reputation and brand image of the school.

3. Brand and reputation risk: The reputation and brand image of a school has
a direct impact on the choices of the students and the decisions of their
parents. A good reputation and brand image can attract more students
and parents and improve the market competitiveness and profitability of
the school.

The Group is of the view that the aforementioned major risks are intrinsically
related, and that the control of the risk of quality of teaching is the main
constraint on the occurrence of other risks, and that the fundamental measures
to cope with these risks lie in adhering to the strategy of high-quality
development to lead the Group’s work in the areas of connotative construction,
teaching, employment and students’ and teachers’ experience, so as to
consolidate the competitiveness of the Group by means of excellent quality of
education and to fundamentally enhance the ability of the Group to cope with the
risks of uncertainties in the external environment and internal governance.

In response to the risk of teaching quality, the Group launched teaching quality
assurance and monitoring in three dimensions (professional, curriculum and
classroom), organized high-level experts to carry out diagnostic surveys
and research on institutions in terms of top-level design, planning for the
establishment of branch campuses, and the construction and development of
professional clusters, etc., and set up the “Theme Year of Teaching Quality
Enhancement” to identify specific tasks and continuously promote the
construction of teaching quality under the Group.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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In response to compliance risks, the Group eliminates stock risks and controls
incremental risks through special inspections and rectification supervision, so as
to promote the implementation of compliant education at each school. The Group
continuously tracks government policies and regulatory trends, utilizes internal
and external expert resources to conduct targeted policy research and formulate
forward-looking measures to address these risks.

In response to brand reputation risks, the Group has strengthened its brand
marketing and publicity management, strictly enforced the Administrative
Measures for Publicity Work of the China New Higher Education Group, and
regulated news reporting, external publicity, on-campus publicity, reporting of
public emergencies and control of public opinion. The Group has continued to
promote student and teacher experience and pay attention to the experience of
cooperation units, with a view to enhancing the reputation of the school among
stakeholders.

The Group has integrated risk management into internal control and implemented
risk management projects in the areas of asset management, procurement
and supply, and infrastructure and logistics, strengthening the identification,
assessment and management of micro risks, and continuously improves the
continuity, professionalism and timeliness of risk management at the corporate
governance level.

On the other hand, the internal control systems of the Group include a sound
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and power.
The principal is responsible for the daily management of each school and the
vice principal assists in different operation areas. Each school has established
the board of directors to be responsible for the overall management and
decision-making on important matters of the school. The board of directors, the
principal and the vice principal of the school shall manage the operation of the
school within the scope of authorization, and implement and strictly execute the
strategies and policies formulated by the Group. Schools are required to report
regularly on the implementation of the policies and strategies developed by
the Group and to inform the Group immediately of any significant development.
Schools also assign personnel to oversee ongoing compliance with relevant PRC
laws and regulations that regulate the business operations, and to oversee the
implementation of any necessary measures. Schools have established emergency
response mechanisms to clarify emergency management methods for major
incidents. The Group has purchased insurance that are in line with the usual
coverage of the education industry in the PRC.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of reference
are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment),
and to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive
Director, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun
Wilson and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and the
senior management; and no material matters relating to the share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were reviewed and/or approved by the
Remuneration Committee.
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During the year ended 31 August 2023, two meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee at the meeting is set out below:
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EEnS Name of Directors Meeting(s)
BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
TE A Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 2/2
FRRR R e A (FA20239F4 258 BT ) Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023) 2/2
T I EE L (R2023F4825H B ERT) Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (appointed on 25 April 2023) 0/0
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Remuneration policy

The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contributor-based, fairness,
competitiveness”. The remuneration policy designs structure for remuneration
based on different position of the Group and its schools. Emolument is
determined with reference to staff capacities, position responsibilities and
contribution.

The Remuneration Committee regularly reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market practices.

Meanwhile, the Group is committed to training employees’ abilities actively and
providing employees with external and internal training plans with the aim of
building up a quality team suitable for the Group’s development.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management

As of 31 August 2023, the Company had six directors and six members of senior
management, and details of their remuneration by band are set out below.

During the Reporting Period, there were no amounts paid or receivable by any
Director, non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company, and there
was no compensation paid or receivable by any Director, past Director, non-
Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the Company for
loss of office as a director of any member of the Group or of any other office in
connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

FHEE (AR%T)
Remuneration band (RMB)

AE
Number of individual

0-500,000 3

500,001-1,500,000 7

>1,500,000 2
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 30 March 2017 pursuant to resolutions of the Directors.
Its composition and written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to
recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration
of the nominees’ independence and qualification in order to ensure the fairness
and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable director candidates
and making such recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee
would also take into account various aspects of a candidate, including but not
limited to his/her education background, professional experience, experience with
the relevant industry and past directorships. As of the date of this annual report,
the Nomination Committee comprised three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan,
an executive Director, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong
Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi. Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board, during the Reporting Period.

During the year ended 31 August 2023, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee
at the meeting is set out below:

HERE

FEE

BBRE

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEMR Name of Directors Meeting(s)

TEB A Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 1/1

BREELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1

PRZGEE Mr. Chan Tung Hol 11
ERBE GOVERNANCE POLICIES

AEEEREERETNEBRLEXRT AR
BEYFETRRASEZOBEEBRREEXEZ
BEEERR AREECRANERZHREARE
BREENBTI 2T RAETEREN  HAI R
BOIA RS REEMEKT REEEREHER K
SRR ZERER UWRRAERKRELAEE
K5 BRREE LA AR T I EER o

The Group emphasizes ethical and professional conduct of Directors and
employees. All employees are required to comply with various Group policies that
reflect the Group’s core values and corporate culture. The Group has adopted
and implemented a number of governance policies that require Directors and
employees to act in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations in
order to improve the standard operation and ensure the healthy development
of the Group. The Group reviews these policies from time to time to ensure
that they are in line with the Group’s business, development strategies and
stakeholders’ expectations.
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The major governance policies and systems of the Group published on the
Group’s website include:

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS

In order to strengthen the governance and internal control of the Group and its
schools, strictly comply with laws and regulations, and prevent corruption and
bribery in the course of business, the Group provides reporting channels and
guidelines for employees or partners who have dealings with the Group to report
suspected misconduct, fraud and violations. At the same time, the risk control
department of the Group will strengthen the handling of reports, complaints and
appeals of the Group’s faculty and promote the integrity and self-discipline of
the Group and all units directly under the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT MECHANISM

In order to further regulate the inside information management of the Group,
clarify the responsibility for disclosure and confidentiality of inside information
and adhere to the principles of openness, fairness and impartiality of information
disclosure, pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and guidelines such
as the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance promulgated by the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong, as well as various internal reporting requirements, and subject
to the requirements of the securities regulators in Hong Kong, the Group has
formulated the Inside Information Management Mechanism taking into account
the actual situation of the Group, and has consistently implemented the
principles of confidentiality and timely disclosure of inside information.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. This policy sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Board currently has one female Director and as such has achieved gender
diversity in respect of the Board. We will continue to strive to enhance female
representation and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity. We will
also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior
level and provide more suitable on-job training to them, so that we will have a
pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to our Board in
near future.

As of 31 August 2023, the ratio of male and female employees (including senior
management) of Company was 40.2% and 59.8% respectively. The Board
was satisfied with the current gender diversity across the workforce (including
senior management) of the Group. The Company is committed to creating a fair,
unbiased, equal and diversified recruitment and working environment. Information
about the diversity, including the gender diversity, in the workforce during the
Reporting Period are set out in section headed “People-oriented Collaborative
Development” in the 2022/2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

NOMINATION POLICY

This policy is about the main selection criteria, principles and relevant
nomination process used by the nomination committee in nominating suitable
candidates to the Board and advising the Board on the appointment of directors
and the succession plan of directors.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure the investors and the shareholders of the Company receiving accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the publication of
annual reports, announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all
corporate correspondence on the Company’s website at www.xingaojiao.com.
The Board and senior management of the Company maintain regular dialogues
with institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the
Board and the Board committees will attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The Board is of the
view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has facilitated
sufficient shareholders’ communication and considered the policy is effective
and adequate.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors need to stay abreast of the changes of business and regulatory
environment to help them perform their responsibilities effectively and to ensure
that they continue to make informed and appropriate contributions to the Board.
Directors are aware of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
relating to the requirement on continuous professional development, and have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development training to
update and develop their knowledge and skills. During the Reporting Period,
the Company arranged external training for directors and provided directors
with written materials on the latest compliance information from the regulatory
authorities.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors
received the following training in compliance with the requirement of the
Corporate Governance Code on continuous professional development for the year
ended 31 August 2023:

RER/BNEG B/ MK/ EER
RAURERNER Hh B R 8

Accounting/Financial/
Management or
Other Professional Skills

Corporate Governance/
Updates on Laws,
Rules and Regulations

HERE HERE/
BB SR B AR SE=
Attend Attend
Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/
BEEMR Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings
BITES Executive Directors
FEHEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan Y y y Y
it B 5 A Mr. Zhao Shual Y Y y Y
RE/ZT Ms. Shen Chunmei Y Y Y Y
BYFHTEE Independent non-executive
Directors
BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson Y Y y Y
B2k E Mr. Chan Tung Hoi Y Y y Y
TFEET Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter Y Y y Y
IR A (R2023F4 A258 BT Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on
25 April 2023) Y Y Y Y
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report.

Further, senior management of the Group and staff of the headquarters who are
involved in the core work of release of results are subject to a two-month black-
out period prior to the release of the Company’s annual results and a one-month
black-out period prior to the release of interim results.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised policy on the payment of dividends (the
“Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2021. The Dividend Policy aims to set
out the principles and guidelines that Board intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. Details
are disclosed as follows:

1. R Al % 15 5l 1. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES
11 REFASHEARNERANGEHER 1.1 Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the articles
MA([EABRERMA]) ARAIESE of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”),
SAEHNBATESZ R LK K the Board of the Company has absolute discretion on whether to
B ARAERFEMNBKENMEETE declare and pay dividends. Declaration or payment of dividends by
EHRSHSENTERNNERBED RER the Company is also subject to the applicable laws and regulations
AR ARG ERAMA o including the laws of the Cayman lIslands and the Articles of
Association.
EFREHE Dividend Policy of the Group
12 EFEARAEREMNEN KB RHE 1.2 The Board determines the form, frequency and amount of dividends
B-BUARARRRI B EE BEWE based on the Company’s financial results, general financial
MR RREERBF BE2FK éf$ conditions, future operations and earnings, capital requirements,
RTREE -EZELAEEFR - BERE E capital adequacy, statutory fund reserve requirements, cash flows,
HRH - BEEBHI = RERNHE contractual restrictions, future business prospects, statutory and
BREERS - AQF Hx%%fm)ii ES regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, interests of the
eRARENENEMEAE- Shareholders of the Company and any other factors that the Board
considers relevant.
13 EEHRBERTFERBTLNAEAR 1.3 The Board currently intends to recommend an annual dividend of
A& B B E AT R ER AT 4 0 R F)OE &9 not less than 30% of the profits available for distribution earned by
30% ° the Company in each financial year.
1.4 Eﬁcﬁ BAT ARBHERBE AR # 1.4 In any event, a dividend may only be declared and paid out of the
DERMFBMNEE (BEROEE)E profits and reserves of the Company that are lawfully available for
K EORMRE BEmam SRR distribution (including share premium), and in no circumstances
REMBMARNTHEENEETHE may a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being
EBREHNER - unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED #E# =X EEERAT
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1.5 Shareholders may declare dividends by ordinary resolution in
general meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the
amount recommended by the Board.

1.6 Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend

upon the availability of dividends received from the subsidiaries of
the Company. Regulations in China may restrict the ability of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

2. REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the Company’s
financial and cash flow position. The Board will continue to review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount, if at all, for any given
period. During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
there was no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to conform Articles of Association with the core standard protection
standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which took effect on 1
January 2022, and to make some house-keeping amendments, Shareholders
has passed a special resolution for the adoption of the amended and restated
Articles of Association at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24
February 2023, which took effect on the same date.

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board understands the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with Shareholders and investors. The Company had established
a shareholders’ communication policy and the Board shall review it on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the
Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the following ways:

1. the holding of annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings
(if any, which may be convened for specific purposes) which provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board.
Members of the Board attend the Company’s annual general meetings
to answer relevant questions at the meetings; in order to protect the
interests and rights of Shareholders, separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings for each major individual issue, including the election of
individual directors. Resolutions will be voted on by poll in accordance with
the Listing Rules and the results of the poll will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meeting;
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2. the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and
circulars as required under the Listing Rules and press releases on the
latest information of the Group, maintaining a high level of transparency
and ensuring that Shareholders and/or potential investors receive
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information about the Group;

3. the publication of all the latest information of the Group on the Company’s
website at www.xingaojiao.com; and

4, regular dialogue with investors and analysts, organizing investor
roadshows, and attending investor conference to inform Shareholders
and/or potential investors of the Group’s strategy, operations, management
and plans. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s
website and make enquiries through the Company’s Investor Relations
Management Department, whose contact details are available on the
Company’s website.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has review the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, including steps taken at the
annual general meeting and the handling of queries received (if any) which were
conducted during the year ended 31 August 2023. The Board is satisfied that
the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented and is
effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more member(s) of the
Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings on a one vote per share basis in the capital of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board of the Company by
mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix Place, 5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District,
Beijing, the PRC, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR
ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

If a shareholder (who is eligible to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company) wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for election
as a director at a general meeting, a written notice to that effect must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The notice must include (i) a notice
of the shareholders’ intention to propose the person to be elected; (ii) a notice
signed by the person of his or her willingness to be elected as a director of
the Company and a written consent to the publication of his or her particulars;
and (i) the biographical details of the person to be elected as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

The minimum period for lodging such written notice shall be at least seven days
commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
at which the election is to be held and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

If the Company receives such notice after the publication of the notice of general
meeting, the Company will issue an announcement or a supplementary circular
to the shareholders containing the particulars of the proposed candidates in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as applicable) prior to the general meeting.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors of the Company by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix
Place, 5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, or by email
to ir@xingaojiao.com. The office of the Board is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
recommendations and inquiries, to the senior management of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose
biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has informed the
Company that she has taken at least 15 hours of training covering corporate
governance during the Reporting Period to comply with the requirements under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Her principal contact person of the Company is
an executive Director, Ms. Shen Chunmei.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 119 to 219, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 August 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 August 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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AENEF—HTFRANET EEELFFHA
ARET-Ait BEENEFERATEELRES
FHHRAVHERRENERRMARETHEN
B BFENEFNEF (BR/EENTERMH
THEFINER RESHENSAMBERRE
REABRREHTER-

BREEEE
Key audit matter

B &R E

Impairment of goodwill

R2023F8 AR BEEEBARE—RIIWKEmE
EHEBEHRARKEIBEE L HBHREEES
STHERISE36SR AR EETHFEREER T IALE -
BB HBE L REXRMGE RAE  B1E:

The Group recognised goodwill in an aggregate of RMB752.0
million as at 31 August 2023 arising from a series of
acquisitions, which were supported by an annual impairment
review required by HKAS 36. Management’s assessment
process involved significant estimates and judgements,
including:

e EREHEN BEEERXRALFHEFRES
FTRANERREeREERRR BEERER
BEEME: K

° the assumptions of the expected cash flow growth
used in the Group’s most recent budgets for the next
five years approved by management including growth
rates and budgeted gross margin; and

s FERARARBRERENTEBRRREEREX-
° the discount rates and long term growth rate applied
to future cash flow.

BB & 5T 155189 B F R 8 B B R (B AT 14 5 B 8 1% 5
EEHBERYBFIHEN T4(EXDFFHER G5 —
BERE) AR T17(FE) -

Information about the accounting estimates and disclosures
related to the impairment assessment of goodwill were
disclosed in Note 4 (Significant accounting judgements and
estimates — Impairment of gooawill) and Note 17 (Goodwill)
to the financial statements.

BYZBEKE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

EENETUMEERRETSE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B REFEENTEE:
The audit procedures, among others, included the following:

e IHEBEEEMARBEREBAREGIERE:
° Evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and the process by
which they were drawn up;

e BBYHBBATBLTAERMEE:
° Assessed the key assumptions by checking against the historical trends;

e HRIFEBEENGAFENERRE UM HBTHEANE
e

° Assessed the actual performance of current year against the prior year
budgets to evaluate historical forecasting accuracy;

o  HRABETHERED N
° Performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;

e HFABHREZRBAEBTERNITEMAERL BB
EEAEMANTE TEERERAERE R

° Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
methodologies, the discount rate and long term growth rate used by
comparing to those of the industry for selected schools; and

e Mt ESEEYHAHEREREARAREFENRDIL-
° Evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding the
impairment testing of goodwill.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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BYZBEKE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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BUZRBMKE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BEFHEERZBE G (BT EHE) BA0srSIHE
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EEERMAERRBHEEN RN G MES
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

HEARBIZEMBRENETEESEAALZE  The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
e report is Lawrence K.W. Lau.
&S -EES Y Ernst & Young
HEZE AN Certified Public Accountants
BA Hong Kong
2023411 H28H 28 November 2023
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H=SHEEERAT
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FREF

UTALERS:
BRFHEE A
FEIR R R

FRARNEBERKR
EBiESRAER

ER(ARETT)
—F A4

BE(ARET)
— F A A

ot
Notes
REVENUE 6
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income and gains 6
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Finance costs 7
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8
Income tax expense 11
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13

Basic (RMB)
— For profit for the year

Diluted (RMB)
— For profit for the year

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AREF T AR FIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,119,140 1,921,752
(1,313,136) (1,171,337)
806,004 750,415
407,778 340,760
(35,828) (28,706)
(95,712) (87,690)
(92,823) (112,465)
(143,576) (114,670)
845,843 747,644
(142,554) (117,432)
703,289 630,212
703,289 620,003
= 10,209
703,289 630,212
0.45 0.39
0.45 0.39
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TEE2HEWRR 85202348 A31ALEE
ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

FREF

Hitb 2 HE

REZMBBTEENRIEE
BENEMEEKES:

BEMBHRRNER E5H

ERMEAB I EEFIERE
Téﬁnﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂiﬁl& 53 FR

FREMEEYE  HRBE

FREEBFERE

LT AL
REHEAAN
FEIE R RS

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THAT WILL NOT BE
RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS
IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS:
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements

Net other comprehensive income that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AREF T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
703,289 630,212
3,234 (5,620)
3,234 (5,620)
3,234 (5,620)
706,523 624,592
706,523 614,383
= 10,209
706,523 624,592

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT



e B AR R &R 2023588318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2023
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
k3 AREF T ARBET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
) ER =L Property, plant and equipment 14 5,440,611 4,883,072
LEME Investment properties 15 402,447 421,845
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 1,078,491 1,110,245
GES Goodwill 17 752,021 752,021
EMEREE Other intangible assets 18 83,346 76,422
BEHEBRZRHTFR Pledged and restricted deposits 22 101,000 101,000
TEHATF K Time deposits 20 = 110,000
Hn3Engh & E Other non-current assets 19 192,164 142,231
IERBEELE Total non-current assets 8,050,080 7,596,836
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
B 5 REWFRIE  FBERT I - Trade receivables, prepayments,
Hih e kB R A EZE  other receivables and other assets 20 142,513 119,155
BERAFEFTAERED Financial assets at fair value through
TREEE profit or loss 21 48,789 2,530
BRI R R ST R Pledged and restricted deposits 22 146,557 253,165
TE 8317 5k Time deposits 22 = 20,000
BekBReFEEY Cash and cash equivalents 20 855,060 1,081,449
MEBEEMBE Total current assets 1,192,919 1,476,299
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EHAaE Contract liabilities 23 1,356,250 973,335
EM e RIERETE A Other payables and accruals 24 976,314 957,769
T EERTT R E M fE 5K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 1,153,554 1,129,838
HEBE Lease liabilities 16(b) 6,414 4,858
5 JE W = Deferred income 26 14,632 17,832
FE 1 R IR Tax payable 149,304 79,718
mEBEET Total current liabilities 3,656,468 3,163,350
REBAETRE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.1 (2,463,549) (1,687,051)
EEHERRBARE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,586,531 5,909,785
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BEMBMRREK 202388318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2023

20234 20224
2023 2022
k3 AREF T AR T T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FPERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 1,554,954 2,190,302
HEBE Lease liabilities 16(b) 3,331 8,129
5 FE W = Deferred income 26 310,118 312,862
FEERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 27 185,317 221,778
IEREBEEETE Total non-current liabilities 2,053,720 2,733,071
BEFE Net assets 3,532,811 3,176,714
B EQUITY
NAEB AELER Equity attributable to owners of the parent
fi& 7% Share capital 28 1,067 1,071
@& Reserves 30 3,531,744 3,175,643
s Total equity 3,532,811 3,176,714
ZZE B
Li Xiaoxuan Zhao Shuai
EZE EZE
Director Director
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

W

118'2€5e 118'2€6‘e +800'69%°1 +666'28. «(105¢5) +90L'6} «029'181 JI6'1EL ] 190°} £20¢ 1snbny |g Iy HIEH 846202\
- - (e92'29) £92'29 = = = S = SijoJd paule}l Woy Jajsuel| [R:S°%0=8 7
(028's8}1) (0z8‘s8) (0z8‘s81) - - - - - = (¢t anou) (CLEH)
PUBPIAIP §¢0¢ WiigU| S Wi HeC0e
= = e = = (pve) = = = suopdo aeys Jo
A11dxa 1o 8inyiapio) 8L Lodn B9 B e
9/asaJ uopjdo aseys Jo Jajsuel| ) W 0 b i X
696 696' = = = 696'L = = = (62 alou) s\uswabuelie (62FL) ¥ Z
uondo aJeys pajpes-Ainb3 BN ERY
(00v'12) (007'12) = = = = = (96¢12) (%) (8 810u) paseyoindal saleys (8L ) &) i s 1ml
(5215p1) (521sp1) (5215v1) = = = = = = (¢4 8jou) (CIEH)
paJejosp puspiAip gg0g [eUld & ¥ g ¥ F5¢c0cI E D
- - - - - - - - - S188.81Ul
fuljjoyuo-uou Jo uorysinbay G T
£€25'90. £25'90. 682'€0. - vee's - - = = Jeaf 8L Joj
800U BAISUaLaIdwod [e0] BHINMEIME
LA Ee'e = = vez'e = = = = slusweiels
[BIOUBUI} JO UOINBISUBL) BEYEH
U0 saauasayjip abueyox] (B MY &
:1eaf 8y} 10}
8WOooU! BAISUaL8Idwod JaylQ OMEIWPENMSY
682'€0L 682'€0L 682'€0L = - - - - - 1e3f 8U} 10 1j0Id FRQVE>
PIL'OLL'E pLL'9LL'E £69'e91’| 2eL'S1L (ge2'99) 18081 229'181 0LEESL') 120} 2207 Jaquiaydas | 1y HIH 6350202\
(82 8jou)
(8CEH )
000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY 000.9INY
VLAY  LLHFEY  ULIHEY  ULHEY LLHEY LiHdY LipdY LiHHEY LLIHAY
fynba [e101 syyoud ETVELE) L] VERE)] ENVELE]] aAJ9sal wnjwsaid [eyidea
[e101 paurejay fioinels uoryenyony} uonydo [eyide) aleys aleys
abueyax3 aleys
o3 37 L# 2657 BRI L Y% YUYE BEax i
EHYH I
juaJed 8y Jo SIaumo 0} a|qeIngLUy
DEYEHETE

HEBERAF

=

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HREI%f

124



HREBRERER HZ20023FE8A3BILESE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ks ARET R ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RETHMERENE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 354 Al A Profit before tax 845,843 747,644
AT HIEFE: Adjustments for:
A& B AR Finance costs 7 143,576 114,670
FLE M 5= Interest income 6 (21,612) (22,132)
BRI Donation income (48,097) -
B EmER Gain on wealth investment products 6 (677) (1,021)
HEME MENRZEER  Loss on disposal of items of property,

" B 18 plant and equipment 8 2,991 4,373
NEE (R EBE Fair value (gains)/losses, net:

FRE

BAFEFABERDY Financial assets at fair value through

TEAEE profit or loss 6 (1,142) -
A # I8 B 55 Convertible bonds 8 - 270
ITH LR ¢! HH b2 Revision of a lease term arising from a change
BB in the non-cancellable period of a lease 16(c) (92) -
%% 5= K& 1% TE B Depreciation of items of property,

HTE plant and equipment 14 200,583 171,350
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 15 9,860 8,431
f&*&ﬁﬁ BEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 34,111 35,998

i RE W e 2 B Amortisation of deferred income 26 (18,018) (18,903)
Hfth B & = 5 Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 25,680 23,502
B S rEWEIE - B 08 Impairment allowance for trade receivables,

HAh e W sk B & prepayments, other receivables and other assets

H it & ZERE & B 8 942 738
VAR 8 S 15 2 BE AR ME A 2 Equity-settled share option expense 29 1,969 3,324

1,175,917 1,068,244
2R & PR 17 5 Decrease/(increase) in pledged and restricted deposits
CRA) /1 5,094 (6,681)
B EWEIA - JEN A (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables,
H e W ERIE K prepayments, other receivables and other assets
Hib&E (3gm),md (27,275) 53,297
HEMEAZRIERETER Decrease in other payables and accruals
By (32,015) (159,117)
SRBEEEM Increase in contract liabilities 382,915 622,402
REEBFEERS Cash generated from operations 1,504,636 1,578,145
B 8 Interest received 27,640 18,175
SENIZIE m Income tax paid (109,429) (62,130)
R EBFTSIRESME)FEE  Net cash flows from operating activities 1,422,847 1,534,190
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BERERER HE2023F8A318 ILFE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

BRERPHERERE
BEWME BELREERAB
HEWE FFEREREHEE
PS50 IR
BREEREEE
BlEYE  BEMRE
B B R BT i BY
NEHMEBLEE
BEREME

Uit FE Bl /B8 2 =)

B o 5 IR 1 77 308 0
B EmE N
EHFEFRD (3 hn)

REERSMARSREFR

K‘—ﬂé/é@ﬁﬁ Eﬁfﬁmui

BT TSR

BEIMNEHE

BO ORI BRRES

FIgIR1T M E AR E R

BERIT R EMER

HENKOASED

EHE

BB 13 A B A5 3R

Yo R R A

EENE @,

B N R S 7K
B ()

METHAABRSREFR

ReEMREEED

B () FER
E%ﬂﬁ’i\&iﬁ/\“{ﬁ%
SMEERB BN E  FH

FREGRACEED

k=g
Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of right-of-use assets

Receipt of government grants for property,
plant and equipment

Additions to other intangible assets

Purchase of investment properties

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Increase in pledged and restricted deposits

Increase in wealth investment products

Decrease/(increase) in time deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares

Purchases of foreign exchange options

Repayment from issue of convertible bonds 31
New bank and other borrowings

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Payment on purchase of shares

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Dividends paid

Decrease/(increase) in pledged and restricted deposits

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AREF T AR F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(615,350) (564,376)
6,623 623
(47,184) (161,763)
12,074 134,944
(32,604) (37,174)
= (461)
(40,000) (42,759)
(2,760) (46,484)
(42,793) (1,509)
130,000 (9,910)
(631,994) (728,869)
= 113
(1,647) -
- (646,790)
1,506,659 1,758,437
(2,144,591) (759,554)
(5,507) (19,416)
(145,035) (181,873)
(21,400) (54,499)
(165,000) (282,920)
(145,175) (296,623)
104,274 (16,885)
(1,017,422) (500,010)
(226,569) 305,311
1,081,449 775,787
180 351
855,060 1,081,449
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REHRERER HZE2023F8A31AILEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

DR E NIBESESEWEEEE  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

B M BN KRR
ReEMREEED

HAERERERATA
RekReEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of cash flows

k=g
Notes

22

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
855,060 1,081,449
855,060 1,081,449
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MR EE 25202358 A31BILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023
1. 2FAREEEHR 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

NANBIR2016F7AsEBEHREE S QA The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited

EEMKLAEREBR AR ARQ AT liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.

fift #% == & #b 41k ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive, The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins

P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The

Islands e N 2 & 2017 F4 A19B E & BB & Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong

REGMABBR AR ([BRZAT])EREM- Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

RARAB—RREERAG -FA ARAR The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the

EMBAR(GHIAEE])ETEHEFREA Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were

REMBE ([FH])RERERRSERE - principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC”).
BRHEEARNER INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
ARRIEEMMBRARFBOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
HEMAEL/ EmR BRTER/ RAFEL
% EENHERAH HftRAEE REFSL TEED
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
B &
Direct Indirect

FERAZEECSMBEARAA 20168 A5H - 1,000,000% 7T - 100% SR AR % B R R AR A
([BEDRR) (Hite) wEC) B/ A (I%Ex])

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and 5 August 2016, United States dollar - 100%  Rendering of technical and
Technology Co., Ltd. (*Huihuang Company”) PRC/Mainland China (“USD") 1,000,000 management consultancy
(Notes (@), (b) and (c)) services

EMERRHERAREARAA 2005658198 - B #34,900,9597C - 100% REZR
(Wit ko) B/ A

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., 19 May 2005, RMB34,900,959 - 100% Investment holding
Ltd. (Notes (a) and (b)) PRC/Mainland China

EHIBER (Wita) 2005F8A11A - AR #16,000,0007T - 100% REHE RS

HE/ BN,

Yunnan Technology and Business University 11 August 2005, RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Note (a)) PRC/Mainland China services

EMIABESR (Hitae) 20127 A3E AR #64,240,0007C - 100% REHE RS

RE R E R,

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute 3 July 2012, RMB64,240,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Note () PRC/Mainland China Services

RBEERSR ((RILER]) (Wite) 2003F58228 AR 821,372,000 - 100% REHERS

B/ B R,

Harbin Huade University (“Northeast School’) 22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 - 100%  Rendering of education

(Note (a)) PRC/Mainland China Services
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEIF =B EEARATE




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

RAREEESH (&)
BARAELARNER (&)

BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

&%

Name

REHMEBEZR (DEHER])
(i)

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational
College (*Luoyang School’) (Note (a))

ERRZBRBX SR (HMide ko)

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College
(Notes (a) and (0))

BERAZEERBESRKERS
(Wite L)

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle
School (Notes (a) and (d))

BRIMAZERBERMER
(Wiete L)

Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation
and Technology School (Notes (a) and (d))

ML BEER ([ERER]) (Wite)

Hubei Enshi College (“Central China School”)
(Note (@)

BNESRRER ((HEER])
(Hiita)

Lanzhou College of Information Science and
Technology (“Gansu School”) (Note (2))

ERBARMBERRERAR
(=B (Wit@ky)

Beijing Union Open Education Technology Co., Ltd.

(“Beijing Lianhe") (Notes (a) and (b))

HME ERE BRTLE/ NG i

EEMERAH EMRAEE RERD L TEEH

Place and date of Nominal value

incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

registration registered interest attributable

and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities

HE %
Direct Indirect

201357 A198 - A 10,000,000 - 100% REHERH
RE/ R E R

19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China Services

2006417208 - A #33,000,0007T - 100% REHERHK
RE/HERAM

20 January 2006, RMB33,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

200644 4108 AR #5,000,0007C - 100% REHERHK
RE R E R

10 April 2006, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2009107268 AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERS
RE R E R

26 October 2009, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

20101 A1E - AR #3,000,0007T - 100% REHERSE
RE R E R

1 January 2010, RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

200211 A228 - AR #80,000,0007T - 100% REHERSE
FE/RE N

22 November 2002, RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2014567178 AR #10,000,0007T - 100% fRERITRS
RE/HE R

17 June 2014, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technology
PRC/Mainland China Services
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BB RMET & E2023F8A31H IEEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

1. 2AREEEH (F) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
BARMEARINESR (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
AL R BRTLE/ NG i
% EEMERAH EMRAEE RERD L TEED
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
HE %
Direct Indirect
EEMRNEERAYEEIERAR 2011128318 AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHE RS
AR ([ZHBEER]) (WRE@EY) RE/ R E R
Kunming High Tech Zone Einsun Education and 31 December 2011, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
Training School Co., Ltd. (*Yunnan Vocational PRC/Mainland China services
School”) (Notes (a) and (b))
B i R B (TE M B ) 200948108 - AR #123,000,0007C - 100% REHE RS
(Hiita) RE/HE R
Zhengzhou City Vocational College 10 August 2009, RMB123,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(“Zhengzhou School”) (Note (a)) PRC/Mainland China services
EFNLEEBRDF (W@ R) 202094 F 248 - AR #1,000,0007T - 100% HEEX
RE/HERAM
Yunnan Wenxin Books Co., Ltd. (Nofes (a) and (b)) 24 April 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sale of textbooks
PRC/Mainland China
ERERARMBRDEREER (HMite)  2014F108258 AR #400,0007T - 100% REHE RS
B/ E A
Kunming Einsun Technology Secondary Vocational 25 October 2014, RMB400,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
School (“Yunnan Secondary Vocational School”) PRC/Mainland China services
(Note (a))
Kt - Notes:
(a) HARZERRAVESECEMNE A RNEHE Btz (a) The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
ERAIMNENEBEAARRERER INP LT management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies
E&@ui K do not register any official English names.
(b) BRETARNRPEARKLMER T - (b) Limited liability companies established in the People’s Republic of China.
(© BRRA—HREPEZEZEEIMAIGEELE - (©) Huihuang Company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
(d) REERGEA[BERSER] - (d) These schools are collectively named “Guangxi Schools”.

ERINPFESERATIBFZEFAREXEK
AEBEEFETEN D Z2ARANMBE LR
A-EERRREHEMHBARNFERSE
HREEANITR-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

fm AL &
ZEMBHRROIREELGMAES ([FE
SRS BONBEEVBREER (5
BMBHREER ] BREMAREMBHRELE
Al BAEGHER ([FASFER]) ki)
REB DR G RANARE B R ARG & B
BHRERHE ZFVHRETIRIBE LKA
BHRR (RAFEMAENRAIFEFAR
S EMEERIN) ZFEUBBRREUARE
25 BBERBERAEIN MAEEORER
BIR T8

NEEN2023F8 A3 BB R E A GEF
O\ R #2 463,549,0007T (20224 : AR
1,687,051,0007T) - E A B F 71202348 A31H
HA&# 8B E ARE1,356,250,0007T (20224 :
AR #973,335,0007T) °

ERFRBEERR RFEAEERTH
ABETBEGENERUBERN FF
EEEERARENARADES RERR
HARRERE -

REBREBLZENREAA EFTEREE
BAEENKRARRRYBETIHE2HE
THWKEE - RAEKASER RS MW E
MR EcHBE ASECAAEEFEVHHE
BISRABITEENRNIIMNSBEE-

Bt  EF2BR BEFELLEELERUMBR
RR/BE - MARBERERFSEELELE B
BELABRUMBEEBEEN R S5
AR ge B EREMBEFELERE-
ZERABNTZELERRNMHERERA -

REE%E

BATBBRREEARARENBERAAHZ
20238 A3 IEFEMPHBHRE -MBE R A
EARREESMELZHNER (BELE
ftER) EAEEBHBSHEREYRNEH
EEMAE A EERNAKRKEREZTE A
Bl WEABRENDERBHREHSNEN (B
SAEEHBERNARNTEREHSNMEREE
FHIREERN) L EZ SR HE - BIEUSEH
o

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB2,463,549,000 as at
31 August 2023 (2022: RMB1,687,051,000), included in which were
contract liabilities of RMB1,356,250,000 as at 31 August 2023 (2022:
RMB973,335,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained adequate banking
facilities from reputable financial institutions to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due.

Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 August 2023. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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BMERERMET HE2023F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

2.1

fm B ELE (&)
REEE ()

R—RERNTHFES BIRZETRIE S #
ZHEFE-BARAEEKEAKAELIRNERE
HERZEORRENBLUER £ EE
TEAEHREHSRNENR A5EEE
BFREHRBEEMBER B :

(@) HEREHREMRREFEENGOL
B

b)) HMEORHELNEN: K
(€ AKREHRRENEBLERRE

MEARMMBERREREARF —HNE
ABRERRA-REPERRE -MBRARMNE
RHASERSZHEE BEFAREKRE
VTHREFAGEREEZEHRRLEEAR
1o

BamMhEMEE WSS EAEKSD FER
AEBERBNEAR ARIFFERES BIE
RS FEREaEBMER A& H
RERRIRARZ RO ASEARRREE
EEAE #E KE FAXEREAEAR

REREEEE-

Z—HEKZEHRE( AEEEEH TG
HEBEMNBIZET N —RHHM B QR /E
EREEmZE (LEARETHE) HIERERD
L YN X

WAEBREHWE QAR NZHE Blar
IHEROZHBRATINEE (REAE)RE
& ()VEREZERERZOERAEE: Ri)it A
B RFEL 2 TERONERBARED
NEE: (VERREEEH R FE: &)
BHEEENTANABIEL -LATE R EA
FPHAWREEROAEEEBGARTD HEH
NEZEESEFREN (ER)  EEHER
CEEREHENMEERBBMBERANE
EFHE e

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

22 B BIERRKESD

AEBORAFE 2V BHREEREAUT
RIETRBHHRE LR -

EEMBREEL HYELZEM

BIF BRI A

EEMSRELER  R20214E6H30H #Covid-194F

B0 2 BRI A Bl ER

AR ER YE BERKE: BHTHE

B0 2 BRI A B2 B30 8

BE G AL EEEH—ETTEHZ A

EITH BRI R

BB BREEL BEMBREENSIH

20189 Z2020%F EAMBRELERNEIR -

Bz FRA#E BB RS A B 165K
BERT 2 & BRI R B R BB
SEHER|F4E 2 EER

BEARALEENEEI RS EHREERE

R AT

@ BAVBHREERNZEIR 2B AU
20185 F6 A MM WA B E M 2 1EH 2
IRIMER S BT AT T 1 K e R 2 B HE 48
R ([MARERE]) MBARKEE
AT - ZFET AN EEY B R
HEAESRBEHEEBLEMSELEMU
ETEEXBECER 2ERRAMA
—TE B IMNE R o 5Z B INME SRR TE - H R
BEESTEDEITRKETS (R
BREREBZE D) —REFANREAEE
AMBEERKABENS WZFAE
BEBEAMEREFEMHPESE A
JERBAEYBHmELEANFEIRNEEE
DR EBAGHENEITRIE S (H
BEHEREREBZE D) —REF21%R
MIESIELR BN ZFEETREE
HAREERWBABRTFEERIEME -
AEBMENMEEEZEETARERBR
2022F9RTH 2 B EBEAMERE B
HRAFETEEBAGHF ZZFBER
HAEEBY BRI RRE T ETAF
%20 o

2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for
the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendment to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment. Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to
the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify
for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 September 2022. As there were no business
combinations during the year, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after
1 September 2022. Since there was no sale of items produced prior
to the property, plant and equipment being available for use, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at 1 September 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are applicable to
the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different from
the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include
only those paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 September 2022. Fees
included in the modification of the Group’s financial liabilities
during the year meet the definition above, the amendment did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Insurance Contracts’
Insurance Contracts’ ®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information”

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the "2022
Amendments”) 2%

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules’

Lack of Exchangeability’
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

5 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020

Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In
addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS
4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

7 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification overlay
set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures
by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to
HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency
with the amendments.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit
is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions
other than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did not
recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences for transactions related to leases. Upon initial application
of these amendments, the Group will recognise deferred tax for all
temporary differences related to leases at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented. During the year, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment on the impact of amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction.
The Group has estimated that it will recognise a deferred tax asset of
RMB1,742,000 for deductible temporary differences associated with
lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability of RMB1,742,000 for taxable
temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets at 1 September
2022.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition
and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the implementation of the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective
and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is
enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. Entities are required
to disclose the information relating to their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but are not
required to disclose such information for any interim periods ending on or
before 31 December 2023. Since the Group did not fall within the scope
of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects to measure the non-controlling interests at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired

set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 August. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its wealth management products and foreign
exchange options at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than financial assets, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iiiy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

1.9% to 12.1%

Qver the shorter of

the lease term and 10%
12.1% t0 19.4%

4.9% 10 19.4%

19.4% 10 32.3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic devices

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(CONTINUED)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for any impairment in value. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of an investment
property to its residual value over its estimated useful life of 50 years or
over the remaining lease term.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the costs of the item can be measured reliably;
otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment at its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification and such transfer does not change its cost for accounting
purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, the transfer does
not change the carrying amount of the property transferred, nor does it
change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five to
ten years.

Client relationship

Client relationship acquired through the acquisition of a subsidiary is
stated at cost less any impairment losses and amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

40 to 50 years
2 1o 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

()

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of staff dormitories and office premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the
Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes wealth management products and foreign exchange
options. Interest income from wealth management products classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or
payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company
or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at
cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Tuition and boarding fees received by colleges are generally received in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not
yet recognised is recorded as a contract liability and is reflected as a
current liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects
to earn within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is
generally from September to June of the following year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Service income is recognised at a point in time when the services are
rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Donation income is recognised at a point in time when the ownership of
assets has been transferred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related services to the customer).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 29 to
the financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. The functional
currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China is the Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and the functional
currency of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China is RMB, which
is the currency of the primary economic environment in which those
entities operate. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are restricted from investing in such
business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all
economic benefits of these subsidiaries through contractual arrangements
(“Structured Contracts”).

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interests in these subsidiaries,
as it has power over the financial and operating policies of these
subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of these subsidiaries through the Structured
Contracts. Accordingly, these subsidiaries have been accounted for as
subsidiaries during the year.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 August 2023 was RMB752,021,000
(2022: RMB752,021,000). Further details are given in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
student’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance, does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenues were generated in the PRC and all of its
long-term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the year.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

WASITHOT An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000

KEEFEFEAZIHA Revenue from contracts with customers

25 Tuition fees 1,897,582 1,741,268
FREE Boarding fees 221,558 180,484
2,119,140 1,921,752
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6. WA HfttWmRBam (HF)
REEFEMZHBA
() UADEEH

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(i)  Disaggregated revenue information

R % A
HE R

& TS
B A i

L ON A
BE Iy ] HE RS S W IR 75

20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARE TR ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Type of services
Education services 2,119,140 1,921,752
Geographical market
Mainland China 2,119,140 1,921,752
Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred over time 2,119,140 1,921,752

TRINTFNAREHEEROBRA S
BoREeBECHARSHONENARE:

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities

at the beginning of the reporting period:

20235 20224
2023 2022
ARET R AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

FFAREHTEHNBEN Revenue recognised that was included

ERRBA : in contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
BE R Education services 973,335 350,933
(i) EBHEH (i) Performance obligations

BHEBRREEHMEER BEE
MEBEEBBENSEFINZAELER
Hy

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally received in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.
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6. WA -HitthzmREaw (F) 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
REEFEHZWA (F) REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)
(i) BHZH (E) (i) Performance obligations (Continued)
2023 8RR MMEHEBAERE W At 31 August 2023, all amounts of transaction prices related to
MXSERSBERHER —FANERA performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
WA - T AR IR E S B TS RS AE B 1558 within one year and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
Findr UWEEEIREZEREK (2 price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts (or partially
BOXREKR)ABHOZFHEE- unsatisfied) is not disclosed.
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR® TR AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hh gz & 18 5 Other income and gains
Pl 75 W Service income 162,957 141,566
e as Rental income 125,164 100,395
BE W (B itE)) Donation income (Note (a)) 57,982 16,730
8T 48 B Government grants 22,479 18,903
RITH B Bank interest income 21,612 22,132
N EREFEE Fair value gains, net:
BRATEF ABERS Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 1,142 -
PO E i Gain on wealth investment products 677 1,021
B = Catering income = 18,854
Hh, Others 15,765 21,159
407,778 340,760
Wita: ZE2EITEAREAETREERBA LK Note (a): The amount primarily consists of external donations of electronic devices
A& VERTHE = &9 5N 5B 18 B 1Y Bl 24 B25F &) and software related to teaching activities to promote integration between
HENSTRERE - industry and education and cooperation between enterprises and colleges.
7. BMERE 7. FINANCE COSTS
BERADHWT - An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARE TR AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITERRHEMERFE Interest on bank loans and other loans 177,140 154,205
HEBEMNE Interest on lease liabilities 565 508
W IR A FEFT ABTH Total interest expense on financial liabilities
TRIBENNEF AR not at fair value through profit or loss 177,705 154,713
W BEAEFE Less: Interest capitalised (34,129) (40,043)
143,576 114,670
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8. BRBIAEF 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REBBRBRADE R DEME (GFA)UTE The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
THIBES:
20234 20224
2023 2022
k=3 ARET ARMEF T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B R AR AR Cost of services provided 1,313,136 1,171,337
BEBAMASZ (TBIEZESE  Employee benefit expense
K& T A B 5 (excluding directors’ and chief
(Ha9) ) - executive’s remuneration (note 9)):
IER%® Wages and salaries 767,560 697,808
ARES N 2 BRERX Equity-settled share option expense 1,697 2,657
BRIKEET B Pension scheme contributions
(EEHRETE) (defined contribution scheme)* 58,314 46,145
827,571 746,610
ME BEMRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 200,583 171,350
HEYERE Depreciation of investment properties 15 9,860 8,431
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 34,111 35,998
Hth & = iH Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 25,680 23,502
T FT A A Research costs 3,869 2,310
e W Rental income 6 (125,164) (100,395)
I 7T 7 BN Government grants 6 (22,479) (18,903)
KT AHEABHEZ Lease payments not included in the
HEFRIE measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 167 294
1% 1 il 357 B Auditor’s remuneration 4,500 4,500
RITH B = Bank interest income 6 (21,612) (22,132)
HNE ZERE - JFRR Foreign exchange differences, net 24,951 41,685
B 5 ERIE - Fa N RE Impairment allowance for trade receivables,
H Ath jE U FRTE & Ho A prepayments, other receivables and
BERERE other assets 942 738
NFE (W) /EEFFE: Fair value (gains)/losses, net:
BEAFEFAERZSN Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss (1,142) -
AR E 5 Convertible bonds - 270
HEWE WMENMBKEIEE  Loss on disposal of items of property,
o) R plant and equipment 2,991 4,373
WELSWERTEAER (EAEEXZ) AR E * There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
BHEFKF - reduce the existing level of contributions.
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FOHEAR AR (BHEESFEER)BRHE
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T

BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20234 20224F

2023 2022

AR®ET T ARMEF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wwe Fees 980 1,082
o Ath 3R BN - Other emoluments:

e EMEEYRET Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,759 3,589

KIRMEEEIEA Performance related bonuses 2,581 2,581

VAR #E S 2 B AR 4 =2 Equity-settled share option expense 272 667

RIKEET 83K Pension scheme contributions 124 161

6,736 6,998

7,716 8,080

RBEFE REAQFBRESE ETE
ERBRERAKEREHRS M ERBARE
ERE-—FPHBERYBRERME2 - %F
BERENATERRLAHEE IREB
HAEBRSRPER Mt ARKFERB
BROSHEBRAELANEERESTERA

BB WE-

During the past years, certain directors were granted share options, in
respect of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above directors’
and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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9. EERESITHAEHM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

AN BIIHTESE (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
REASTHFBILIIERTESTNEES W The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
N year were as follows:

2023F
2023
e UYL
ERR 3] Xz Rike
ik ENEF HBEA BRERX TEIMX @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
ARBTR AR®Tn AR¥TRT AR¥TR AR¥Tx AR%T=x
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEIEHE  Mr Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - 8 - 324
M RAES M Hu Jianbo® 138 - - 6 - 144
BRAM%EAE  Mr Chan Tung Hol 263 - - 9 - 212
¥7HEL DrPang TszKit Peter 263 - - 9 - 212
980 - - 32 - 1,012
HA R ST A 8202344 25 H #E B 1T 98 3 I . Mr. Hu Jianbo resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect
BWITESE- from 25 April 2023,
20224F
2022
e VARR
e =5 Iz Rike
e EMEHN BEEL BRERAX SRR @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and henefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARBTRT AREBTT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BERELE  Mr Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - 22 - 338
HEMESLE M Hu Jianbo 240 - - 17 - 257
BRA/BEAE  Mr Chan Tung Hol 263 - - 35 - 298
¥ 7HEE DrPang TszKit Peter 263 - - 35 - 298
1,082 - - 109 - 1,191
FRN BERNBIIIENTEENEM There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
R (20224F - f®) © executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).
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EERBRETHAEHFMH (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)
(B) HMITEE (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
20235
2023
e BURR 78
=193 £ %) Tz Bike
ne ENEA HEEAL BRERX TEHR @
Salaries,
allowances  Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARBTT AR¥Tn AR%ETR AR%Tx AR%Tx AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HOES Executive directors
FEZELAY MrLi Xiaoxuan® - 1,088 1,000 126 42 2,256
HEN LA Mr. Zhao Shuai - 692 600 44 65 1,401
B&ELZ L Ms. Shen Chunmel - 1,979 981 70 17 3,047
- 3,759 2,581 240 124 6,704
20224
2022
g bR
ZH R =5 itz RikE
ok EMEF MEATL  BRERS SRR @it
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARBTR  ARETR ARETL ARETL ARMTE ARETX
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
HOES Executive directors
ZZERAES MrLi Xiaoxuan® - 1,088 1,000 289 54 2,431
eV A Mr. Zhao Shuai - 687 600 17 92 1,496
B&MBLZ L Ms. Shen Chunmei - 1,814 981 152 15 2,962
- 3,589 2,581 558 161 6,889

FEHEE([FEEDREARFANTE
ERE=SIR-

FR TERHBBREEHARSITERA
EMEXFERETAME -

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year.

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (“Mr. Li"), who acts as an executive director of the Company, is
also the chairman of the board.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

10.

LEREHMHNES

FR DARSFHEELE=AESE (202
FZREER)  HHB BN LA -
BTMA (02F ME)FARAEERR
BITBRABNEBHMIEE 2 FRHMFEE
s

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three directors
(2022: three directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2022: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

20235 20224F

2023 2022

AR®E T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

e RMEKEYEN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,320 1,175
FRILMEBEIELT Performance related bonuses 1,180 1,075
VARG ¥ 2 7 2 BE IR A A =2 Equity-settled share option expense 63 178
RS EIMHR Pension scheme contributions 103 146
2,666 2,574

TFATHENIFEZTRIFERSITHA
ReRTHMESHBEWT:

#
FE
1=
gt
H,

H

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

EE#A
Number of employees
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
1,000,0017% 7T 21,500,000/% 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1 -
1,500,0017% 7T 22,000,0007% 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 2
2 2

RBEFE CAZBHFEERIFEEHTR
ABERSFHEEAERAEBRERRBE K
HERE FRE - PHBHENYBERRM
HOMBEREEEAN -ERBHANIBRRE
AOERBRELAFERREBHEE M
FAARNFEEPHERRANSEDEHN XX
EZNFRRTBRABRRGHHMERH SN
BEEEA-

During the past years, share options were granted to the non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their services to
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note
29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

Fr g %t
ARAREMSESDAERASES M
RIAEHREEREEAR AL BAHM
S Bt

HRARERFALEBEAREELINE
78 R BR B JE AR B s A BRI R 5L E OB A SR
AR -

RIER2016F11 A7H 28 & R20174F9718
ERH(EEARREAESEBEZESHER
BR(FEAREMBERBABEREE B
REDY ([2016F R E]) RMERTB D
BERBREDKNEBEERRANER N E
RERETEROEBAELORHER R
RMERNERENETREREENKAS
FIERFERLIEEFERER  HEIRME
NEEBHENERMUBRIEEFIVERRIN -

R2021F5 8148 BB EMR (hEAR K
MBERMBZREREXETHEIEH) ([2021F &
MBIl ) - B2021F9 A1 H AR - 20215 &
MR H A (PEARLMBERBHRE REZX)
IR AT G - ABIE2016F R TE K2021F &
M Bl - R B A = XM EBUTEIER T
BB E R (R20165F R F M2021FE &

MR PIR T KRB FRE) » M IEE RS2 AT
TR BB R R TR

REZEMBEHRRUERR AEERFEA
REAMBNBRADENR D BREMBES -

BIE AR EAERABAALEBEEEN
WHXMEBENBN)  AEEEE/m M-
B -HE HtE kAR AR ESEE
EBHNETAEAKER BRAIZHE15%H
BEELEMSHBE - H Z=2023F8A318 &
FE - REABAAREERERE BEA
AIBRIMM R RPN PEMEH -RBIEER
EHBETESRAERAMEARE 2 ERBR
MRIEEMHE THBRRESI%HNE
BEEMSHEBE - AEBES H AL
MEMER EREESAENKRITEERN
25% BB FEFTISHL -

11.

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the
year.

According to the Decision of the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress on Amending the Private Schools Promotion Law,
which was promulgated on 7 November 2016 (the “2016 Decision”), and
came into force on 1 September 2017, private schools are no longer
being classified as either schools for which the school sponsor(s) require
reasonable returns or schools for which the school sponsor(s) do not
require reasonable returns. Instead, the school sponsor(s) of a private
school may choose for the school to be a for-profit private school or a
non-profit private school, with the exception that schools providing nine-
year compulsory education must be non-profit.

On 14 May 2021, the State Council released the Implementation Rules
for the Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC with an effective
date of 1 September 2021 (the “2021 Implementation Rules”). The
2021 Implementation Rules are the detailed implementation rules of the
Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC. Pursuant to the 2016
Decision and the 2021 Implementation Rules, a private school may
enjoy the preferential tax policies, which are not defined under the 2016
Decision nor the 2021 Implementation Rules, as stipulated by the related
government authorities and a non-profit school may enjoy the same tax
policies as enjoyed by a public school.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group’s
schools in the People’s Republic of China are still in the process of
classification registrations.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for the In-
depth Implementation of Western Development Strategies, certain
qualifying entities/schools of the Group that are located in Yunnan,
Guizhou, Guangxi, Gansu, Hubei Province and the Tibet Autonomous
Region engaged in the encouraged business are entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15%. Huihuang Company was subject to the
PRC income tax at 9% under the Tibet Autonomous Region’s preferential
investment policies for the year ended 31 August 2023. According to
the Preferential Policies for Key Pilot Zone of Development and Opening
Up (EZhB 3R a8 &) in Ruili City, Yunnan Province, certain
subsidiaries located in Ruili are entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 9%. Other entities/schools of the Group established in
Mainland China are subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on
their respective taxable income.
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1. FrE® (&) 11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

H Al b 52 FE RR A gk A O B IR TD AR BB N 5 B 4K
ERERAEROBITHETE-

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®BT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB'000

Bl HA Current
FAZ M Charge for the year 179,015 74,537
B (K7a227) Deferred (Note 27) (36,461) 42,895
FRFIES H 4R Total tax charge for the year 142,554 117,432

BARABARAEKRBOMERABMERDEER
FOA TE B 3R 5 H A9 BR B AT S A8 A &Y TR
XEBEERBREFEORBERAXHERNT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates is as follows:

2023%F 20224F
2023 2022
ARBT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 354 A A Profit before tax 845,843 747,644
REEREAENNIEA Tax at the statutory tax rate 211,461 186,911
HEEMIEHEEAETITH Lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted
BE & by local authority (88,166) (78,777)
FR B B8 A &) 0E H K 78 B bE Effect of withholding tax on earnings remitted and
ARz BN E anticipated to be remitted by subsidiaries 17,638 16,327
BAERBUA Income not subject to tax - (44,824)
BEMBH X Expenses not deductible for tax 2,388 32,341
FESNOBR A BB B & R A EF Tax credit arising from additional deduction of
THELENTIEE R research and development expenditures of
the PRC subsidiaries (2,561) (260)
BB A BT A MR I B 18 Tax losses utilised from previous periods (4,820) (490)
RIERWBLIAEE Tax losses not recognised 6,614 6,204
EAEBERAEAFEDN Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate
IR H 142,554 117,432
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BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

K E 12. DIVIDENDS
20234 20224F
2023 2022
AR¥ET T ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RH-SREER Interim — RMB0.119 (2022: RMB0.106)
ARBE0.1197T (20224 : per ordinary share
AR #0.1067T) 185,820 165,000
EEAP-SFREER Proposed final — RMB0.096 (2022: RMB0.093)
AR #0.0967T (20224 : per ordinary share
AR #0.0937T) 149,304 145,175
335,124 310,175

FARBERIMBEAFT AR B RER EREK
RBFREG LHERTAEE-

BRAAEERRREGERER

BREXZFSBEHREFAT AR LT ER
P& R FE A5 3% ) & FF 91,557,025,630% (2022
£ :1,570,028,357/% ) B BT E@MAR I F 1T
HErHE -

EREERNEEIREFAG AR EBK
P 3R P A0 M 5t B 6 F R B DA IR BR ] R
BEFHBRENTE (HER) (RTX)-
AERMANEARNEFOBESFEER
EXBNAANFASETHERAKREA
AR BEMERETENNEBRBRIFE
TEAABREBRFEATHERTHE
38 P B DN SF 1 B

13.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,557,025,630 (2022:
1,570,028,357) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
adjusted to reflect the impact on profit or loss from the convertible bonds,
where applicable (see below). The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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13. R F&H
(&)

BRERNLEERNNOAETLER:

BRERREMLS

Z F 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (CONTINUED)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

20234 20224F
2023 2022
AR®E T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
E*'J Earnings
AESRERANMMAZ Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
SRR EEBBREREN SR : the parent, used in the basic earnings
per share calculation: 703,289 620,003
-l EHFEEENTE Add: Impact on profit or loss from convertible bonds = 331
& &—Hﬁ‘ BEHFEERD Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
FEANY R EEBRRK the parent before impact on profit or loss from
Hﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ ikl convertible bonds 703,289 620,334
BHEE
Number of shares
20234 20224F
2023 2022
&5 Shares
STEEREARBRNFBZEAN  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
BT S AR IR T B issue during the year used in the basic earnings
per share calculation 1,557,025,630 1,570,028,357
BETE-ZTBRINETHE :  Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares:
i iz e Share options* = -
AR B Convertible bonds - 10,383,307

1,557,025,630

1,580,411,664

B E2023F8A31H IEFE R# £2022F8A31H Ik
FE RAEERBERTNC 2BERES TR
ERBFNTZE RERMKRITEBRRELMES
BREABICEEARBEELE-

The effect of share options on the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
August 2023 and year ended 31 August 2022 were ignored in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share as the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BB ERMT 8 E202348A318ILFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

31 AUGUST 2023

720229818
A
ZitE

REFE

720229818
SHBR A NE
RE

HE
FRFRNE
BRATETR
HEERANE

2023587315 -
BMRRANE

R2023%F8F31H :
RA
25T E

REEE

At 1 September 2022:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 September 2022,

net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation provided during the year
Transfer from construction in progress
Transfer from investment properties

At 31 August 2023,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 August 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

B HEXE RE  BEREE ETRfE BEIR @t
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARBTT AR%Trn AR¥TR AR%Tn AR¥TR AR%Tr AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
4,376,103 34,567 15,008 450,493 199,173 465,869 5,541,213
(354,008) (9,322) (10,599) (177,522) (106,690) - (658,141)
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,97 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
47,280 3,183 425 124,390 65,522 517,397 758,197
- - (1,632) (6,360) (1,621) - (9,613)
(100,558) (8,499) (119 (59,667) (31,740) - (200,583)
563,665 12,489 - 21,276 5,833 (603,263) -
9,538 - - - - - 9,538
4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
4,996,586 48,439 12,835 575,290 264,852 380,003 6,278,005
(454,566) (16,021) (9,752) (222,680) (134,375) - (837,394)
4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 AUGUST 2022

R20215F9A1R -
RA
25T E

REFE

HM202159A18 -
ENRRHTE

H"E

WEMB AT
e
FRGHRITE
BRaaRIR
BRERANE

R2022%87318 -
BMRRATE

202258731H
A
23HE

REFE

At 1 September 2021:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 September 2021,

net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals
Depreciation provided during the year
Transfer from construction in progress
Transfer to investment properties

At 31 August 2022,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 August 2022:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BF HERE RE REREE BYRE EgIR @t
Leasehold Motor Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures (evices in progress Total
ARETT AREFTT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
3,689,976 8,929 15,141 334,194 153,357 402,647 4,604,244
(275,558) (4,324) (11,849) (134,790) (86,465) - (512,986)
3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258
3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258
- 16,085 1,150 101,380 41,990 443,315 603,920
347,014 1,841 1,744 14,954 7128 19 372,700
4 - (758) (4,234) - - (4,996)
(87,397) (4,998) (1,019) (53,003) (24,933) - (171,350
355,137 7,112 - 14,470 1,406 (378,725) -
(7,073) - - - - (1,387) (8,460)
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
4,376,103 34,567 15,008 450,493 199,173 465,869 5,541,213
(354,008) (9,322) (10,599) (177,522 (106,690) - (658,141)
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 465,869 4,883,072

MR2023F8 A3 H EAFENEARE
650,739,000 T (202248 A31H : AR
532,920,000 ) KA THEFINEREDENE

s

R2023F8A31H WMEMWE BE KX
% (2022F8A3H KR FEAARE
80,091,000;CM A EB A FTEF - RERKEKE
UREFRME) SR TERREITREAMER

(Hf5E25) °

At 31 August 2023, the application for the property ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately
RMB650,739,000 (31 August 2022: RMB532,920,000) was still in

progress.

At 31 August 2023, no property, plant and equipment (31 August 2022:
certain of the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic
devices with a net carrying amount of RMB80,091,000) were pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings (note 25).
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BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

15. REWHE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARET ARBEF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

REYVZEAE Carrying amount at beginning of year 421,845 349,125

FHAMRNE Additions during the year - 461

BWEEBARE Additions from acquisitions - 70,400

#wEg(z) /BEEME Transfer (to)/from owner-occupied property (9,538) 10,290

FRFHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (9,860) (8,431)

RERZIRAEE Carrying amount at end of year 402,447 421,845
M8A31H : At 31 August:

N Cost 450,120 459,658

REHITE Accumulated depreciation (47,673) (37,813)

R F(E Net carrying amount 402,447 421,845

AEBNREMEAEEREERREEDN
BFERLHERE ARAEZTERERY
ENME BHLERBEREMERBE
ME-REBEBIDEXGEEMETHNEER RE
MEZ R TFEMET QR AR ES62,800,0007T
(20224 : AR #972,800,0007T) ©

ZREMERBEKLEHEHETE=7#
— S BFBENY B RRME6

72023F8 A318H  EE L E ¥ ¥ (20224 ¢
AEBETREVENEDFEAARE
49,571,00070) B A FERET R HE AR
(Pff5E25) ©

DN EER

ATEERFARBEBAN I AFEAER
BAE=R-MAFHERENEDFEMNG
BRIEAKRREREE MBENEHE
TEBMABBAGHAEEE HEE.
BEEREHEEE-

The Group’s investment properties are the buildings and land use rights
leased as canteens and shops. The directors of the Company have
determined that the investment properties are commercial properties,
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The
fair value of investment properties estimated to be approximately
RMB862,800,000 (2022: RMB972,800,000) based on valuations
performed by an independent property valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 16 to the
financial statements.

At 31 August 2023, no investment properties (2022: certain of the Group’s
investment properties with a net carrying amount of RMB49,571,000)
were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings (note 25).

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurements
for disclosure purposes are categorised in Level 3. The valuation technique
used in assessing the fair value of investment properties is the discounted
cash flow method, and the key inputs to the valuation of investment
properties are estimated rental value, rent growth, discount rate and long
term vacancy rate.
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BB RMET & E2023F8A31H IEEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

16. #HE 16. LEASES
AEBEREABAA THE GROUP AS A LESSEE
AEBBERAREEREENNAZTMENT The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its operations.
EA 4B RATE R — XM FRA M BT IR Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
BHE L A A40E0F MBEZS T the government with lease periods between 40 and 50 years, and no
W ENET BT BB TR FRIE - I ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
NREYVENHEEBEE_ZERAF - —KRME Leases of office premises generally have lease terms between 2 and 5
AEBRTAMAEEBAIATEZEHER years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
EEE- leased assets outside the Group.
(a EFEHBEZE (a)  Right-of-use assets
FR AEBEFRAREEETDAENIED The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
m movements during the year are as follows:
L
WMAEWE HERE wWet
Prepaid
Office premises leasehold land Total
ARBT T ARBT T ARBTF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2021F8A31H & As at 31 August 2021 and
202199 A1H 1 September 2021 7,955 831,325 839,280
NE Additions 24,102 198,862 222,964
W HE B B A A Additions as a result of acquisition of
MARE subsidiaries - 85,829 85,829
EERENEYE Transfers to investment properties - (1,830) (1,830)
WEEHR Depreciation charge (10,508) (25,490) (35,998)
R2022F8 A31H & As at 31 August 2022 and
2022998 1H 1 September 2022 21,549 1,088,696 1,110,245
NE Additions 3,040 - 3,040
mEER Depreciation charge (8,326) (25,785) (34,111)
A E Al HSE HA %A & Revision of a lease term arising from
mE B EEET a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease (683) - (683)
PR2023%8HA31H As at 31 August 2023 15,580 1,062,911 1,078,491
178  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI# S EMERAT



16. #H%E (&)
AEBERREA (H)

(b)

()

BB ERMT 8 E202348A318ILFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

HESE (b)  Lease liabilities
FRHEGBEZREAEAREHNT The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during
the year are as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
REVZEREE Carrying amount at beginning of year 12,987 8,301
MHEE New leases 3,040 24,102
FRAEHRANNENEEE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 565 508
E=N Payments (6,072) (19,924)
HETAIBEEEESE Revision of a lease term arising from a change
mE MM BAERT in the non-cancellable period of a lease (775) -
RERZEAEE Carrying amount at end of year 9,745 12,987
DT A Analysed into:
BN ER&E Current portion 6,414 4,858
FERNER R Non-current portion 3,331 8,129

HEABNIHASTRI BRI
STHE -

RERAERNHERBRENT

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to
the financial statements.

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

follows:
20235 20224F
2023 2022
ARE T ARBTF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEAENE Interest on lease liabilities 565 508
FTRREEECHEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 34,111 35,998
HEHHEEENFEX Expense relating to short-term leases
(FFASEERARITHBIS)  (included in cost of sales and
administrative expenses) 167 294
MENAIHEHREE Revision of a lease term arising from
B B A HAE 5T a change in the non-cancellable period of
a lease (92) -
KRB AERFIBERE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 34,751 36,800
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BMERERMET HE2023F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

16.

*ﬁﬁ (n\ﬁ)
AEBEEREBEA (F)

(@ MEBRRDEAER
5235 -

FEBEEAHBEA

AEEREBECLEHELHAERREEREH
BEREETERBWENREDE (HiE15) -
ZEHMENKABEERBEPINERES
VRERITHMRETEHHESAE - FRA
EE#EANE WA AR AREK125164,0007T
(20224F : AR #:100,395,0007T ) » 55 1% & 7 Bt
53R K M 7E6 -

A B 75 R 2% BT 5E31(c)

R2023F8A3TH  HEASERFEEEMAF
ZAAHEEEEENEWAREIRAENIE
R

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to the
financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting of
several commercial properties in the schools and academic buildings
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB125,164,000
(2022: RMB100,395,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

At 31 August 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

20234 20224F

2023 2022

AR¥ET T ARBEF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 107,699 68,253
—F U EMFEUR After one year but within two years 77,493 56,172
MEMN FE=ZFUR After two years but within three years 48,942 37,773
ZFLNEENFENR After three years but within four years 27,008 20,772
ME EBERFUR After four years but within five years 10,580 16,522
FEE After five years 6,301 8,989
278,023 208,481

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



17.

BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

B
1

20218 H31 8 :
%N
ZiHRE
BREDFE

7202148 A31 A A A - H1kk R TR E
Y g — K B A A

7202248 A31H 202348 A31H

202298 A31H K2023F8A31H :

17. GOODWILL
AR F T
RMB'000
At 31 August 2021:
Cost 371,569
Accumulated impairment -
Net carrying amount 371,569

Cost at 31 August 2021, net of accumulated impairment 371,569
Acquisition of a subsidiary 380,452
At 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2023 752,021

At 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2023:

BN Cost 752,021

RETRE Accumulated impairment -

IREDFE Net carrying amount 752,021
EERERNR IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

PREBAHRBNBEDIEETIRE

A B ETTRE R

s HMNEBERREELFM

s EBERRESELEM

e HEERRLELEM

s ERERREELFEM

s EZEHRBEXERFASELEM
s RILEBRASELEM

e URBARETELEM

s ERERBREELFEM

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the

following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit
Luoyang School cash-generating unit

Gansu School cash-generating unit

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
Northeast School cash-generating unit

Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit

Central China School cash-generating unit
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BMERERMET HE2023F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

17.

BE (&)
BmERENR (&)

RREFRSIEESHSELAEMNNEERE
HENT :

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023%F 20224

2023 2022

AR¥ T ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BMBRIRGEESM Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit 380,452 380,452
BEERREGELESM Luoyang School cash-generating unit 195,364 195,364
HRERASCELEMN Gansu School cash-generating unit 129,321 129,321
EBHERRGEEBM Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit 28,982 28,982
ETHBEERBEEEAEN Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit 16,353 16,353
RUABRREGELESM Northeast School cash-generating unit 750 750
IRl aReEASEMN Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit 516 516
ERERRGESBEM Central China School cash-generating unit 283 283
752,021 752,021

TR ELEBEMNI KB SENRERE
EEMENATHVSEERENESRE
FERAFEAEBAENELZET - AREE bt
BBARLTHESELEBENZREREZRE
#RERR2.2% (20226 :2.3%) °

FHE EIR & B A B (7 R 20235F 20224 HY
FREEN ASEEFEAZERZ TR
MEBEAETHERENAMEENE S
REEANMKENSBEEZ®RE:

BERA-FBREHESBIERELEER
BEEHRRMGHTAL -

BEENX-BEM TREENEZNEED
AMANERFEFEN —FETNFHE
M= (IR BABERTHT) RIAM T 5 5
=

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating units
had been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by management. The long term growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the above cash-generating units beyond the five-year
period is 2.2% (2022: 2.3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above cash-
generating units for 2023 and 2022. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.
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BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

BE (&)
BmERENR (&)

MAMBRR-FAMRRSHRRAAE B
RRERBELERNTERR I2E8
BRBERPEARETERREFZETA
MEMARZEBLERERERNEEEER
AEE - HEBERCELEUNEREER
B MR ARG R R T

17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Pre-tax discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units, which are determined
using the capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient
and debt ratio of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in
the PRC education industry. The pre-tax discount rates used in the value-
in-use calculation for each cash-generating unit are as follows:

BMERRECEEEM
REERAEEEEEM
HRERREELEN
EREERAEEELEM
ERBEERACELEM
RIEERBEELEEM
tRBEReELEM
FRERACELEM

Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit
Luoyang School cash-generating unit

Gansu School cash-generating unit

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
Northeast School cash-generating unit

Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit

Central China School cash-generating unit

20234 20224
2023 2022
18.1% 18.6%
18.2% 18.3%
16.8% 16.7%
17.3% 17.6%
19.7% 20.0%
16.7% 16.6%
16.9% 17.0%
16.9% 18.0%

REBRCELEUNTHERIBERN
ERTERIAE TOEERINLER KR
e

ARAMEEC A EBRBRNABT 42
B GBI RS ERM T AT
BN ARSRT EEY AL E
T 2 A B iz A M1 7R 40 B 4 2 B O
A REYE R T HEEGHTWE S HE)
RN EBEE

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the
cash-generating units and the discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in the key assumptions and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavorable possible values were assigned to those assumptions, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
effects of such assignment on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its
carrying amount,
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18. HtEFEE

BB RMET & E2023F8A31H IEEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20238 H31H

20229 A1 H KBk 7N -

RRINEE RT3
NE
FAFHREH

72023F8H31H
202358 318 :
AR
EET

FREDF(E

202258 A31H

H2021F9 A1 H YR AN -

REINBR Rt s
NE
Yo 8 T B 2 )
F R 55

202248 A31H
202248 H31H :
%N
RET 5

FRmEHE

31 August 2023

Cost at 1 September 2022,

net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 August 2023

At 31 August 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

31 August 2022

Cost at 1 September 2021,

net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 August 2022

At 31 August 2022:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

B4 EFBR% et
Client
Software relationship Total
ARBFL  ARETL  AREBTL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
75,916 506 76,422
32,604 - 32,604
(25,366) (314) (25,680)
83,154 192 83,346
161,109 1,200 162,309
(77,955) (1,008) (78,963)
83,154 192 83,346
61,296 820 62,116
37,760 - 37,760
48 - 48
(23,188) (314) (23,502)
75,916 506 76,422
129,404 1,200 130,604
(53,488) (694) (54,182)
75,916 506 76,422
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BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

HMERBEE 19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARET ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I b {5 AR RE TR ROR Prepayment for land use rights 185,176 136,992
Y% B MR B TR RE Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 6,988 4,239
WE T RIB Prepayment for investments - 1,000
192,164 142,231
BESEWRE -FEFFHE -HMMEY 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
MERHMEE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARET T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 5 WA Trade receivables 19,503 18,215
B EEERRE Less: allowance for credit losses (4,924) (7,327
14,579 10,888
BRI E At U GRIB Advance and other receivables 75,861 47,735
ENER Prepaid expenses 11,962 11,127
e R E A B W FETB OB Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 30,401 37,431
BT #R Staff advances 9,710 11,974
142,513 119,155

EESERE B HERREREETRED T
NEERBEEER -BEXRAERUE
BERANTRAEFPSBELOE (AIREPER
A ERBRREFAE HEERRRT
BENEER BRBHEBEN SRS A S
ESHERBESMH BRI EREL
BERRFFRNAE R AT FHFER -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

200 ES W E -ENRE-HEMEY 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

MERHMEE (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
TXEHNBEASEE S EWRFIBEEBEE Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
EEMNEERRER: Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
2023%8H31H 31 AUGUST 2023
=5k
Past due
Ik PME 1228 2R3 3B4E 4E £ @
Less than 1to 2to 3to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
HHEEEEX Expected credit loss rate - 0.78% 2.50% 43.52% 75.63% 100.00% 25.25%
BERE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) - 9,115 4,365 1,783 1,116 3,124 19,503
FHEEER(ARBTIL) Expected credit losses (RMB'000) - 71 109 776 844 3,124 4,924
2022%8H31H 31 AUGUST 2022
EaH
Past due
et PIME 1506 2E3F 3B4F 4EPLE B
Less than 110 210 3o QOver
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
EBREEEEX Expected credit loss rate - 0.78% 2.51% 44.67% 89.75% 100.00% 40.23%
LERE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) = 7,825 2,151 1,652 1,102 5,485 18,215
BEHEEHEE (ARETT) Expected credit losses (RMB'000) - 61 54 738 989 5,485 7,32
R EHANE S ERFEZRRZS BB RN An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
MEERENERRTOT : period, based on the transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T T AREBETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—F RN Within 1 year 9,044 7,764
—EMF 1 to 2 years 4,256 2,097
ME=F 2 to 3 years 1,007 914
=F Over 3 years 272 113
14,579 10,888
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BB ERMT 8 E202348A318ILFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

EZEWRHE -ANRE -HMMEUY 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
REREMEE (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
BSREBAENEESEREZSHNT The movements in the allowance for credit losses in respect of trade
receivables are as follows:

g5 EWRE

Trade receivables

AREF T

RMB'000

2021 9H1H At 1 September 2021 6,819
FRERBEEE Impairment loss recognised during the year 738
F M Write-off during the year (230)
R20228 A31H K2022F9 A1 H At 31 August 2022 and 1 September 2022 7,327
FRERBEEE Impairment loss recognised during the year 942
F A8 Write-off during the year (3,345)
20238 A31H At 31 August 2023 4,924
RAFEFABEZENEREE 21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT

OR LOSS

20234 20224F

2023 2022

ARET ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

EMIEFMERE HAFE Other unlisted investments, at fair value 48,789 2,530
LFHiEEMEE AP EAMRITEITAEY The above unlisted investments were wealth investment products and
EmEIINERE BEAGNRESRELIEE foreign exchange options issued by banks in Mainland China. They were
BENRERAE MR 2EAIKLAT mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
Bt \BEmfEREE- loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal

and interest.
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BMERERMET HE2023F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

2. RERBASEEY EHRFEK BE 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME DEPOSITS,
AR ZREFER PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS
20234 20224
2023 2022
g3 ARET T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Re MIRITER Cash and bank balances 884,891 1,134,614
EHTFR Time deposits 217,726 431,000
1,102,617 1,565,614
B BB Less: Pledged deposits for:
RITERKEMER Bank loans and other loans 25 (196,726) (301,000)
HERFX Project deposit (49,244) (46,484)
EBRFRXES Restricted bank balances in escrow accounts
RITH R - (5,182)
E PR ISR 1T 45 £ Other restricted bank balances (1,587) (1,499)
REERREIEAB Non-pledged time deposits with original
BB=EAZ maturity of more than three months
R B E when acquired = (130,000
BekREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 855,060 1,081,449

BeRBRITHEBATIERE:

The cash and bank balances were denominated in the following
currencies:

AR RMB
ETT USD
BT HKD

Be LRTTHER

Cash and bank balances

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AREF T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,074,612 1,555,003
22,603 10,050
5,402 561
1,102,617 1,565,614

AR T b 8 o 3B LA B9 © AT - AR 98
Y MBI IEHI) B (B BER
REZRRE) A% E 5 BEE R
I S 75 ) 3R 17 45 A B 6 4, 3 2 1t 5 o

FARSRIBBTERTERA RS H T
BAEH S EHEREROTRBRTA
EEMABRSBERH AN R LIRS A
CHTEE RN ERRAS  BITEBRE
WERNERR DA SE AR AEER
T ERAT o

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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BB ERMT 8 E202348A318ILFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

EHEaE 23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

AHBRESFEBOT: Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
2023 8H31H 202248 A31H 2021F9A1H
31 August 31 August 1 September
2023 2022 2021
ARET T ARETTT AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2% Tuition fees 1,169,514 855,857 310,220
FEE Boarding fees 186,736 117,478 40,713
EHBERE Total contract liabilities 1,356,250 973,335 350,933

BRI BEBTER AR A8 &R M A E
EZEBBR AEER SR FF A/ AR
BEMNBELRERE-ZSEREBREREN
REERHRRLI R -BEAREREHR
REMEERGESER -

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from students
in relation to the proportionate services not yet provided. The Group
receives tuition and boarding fees from students in advance prior to
the beginning of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are

recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
programme. Students are entitled to a refund of the payment in relation to
the proportionate services not yet provided.

TR2023%F K2022%F8A31H A ABE MY

FTEBHRKE Himﬂ;ﬁ&@éﬁ A SR N

P2k - students.
HttESREREGTER

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 August 2023 and 2022 was
mainly due to the increase of advances of tuition and boarding fees from

BEME BEEREDN

JEEH' /T/\IE
FERT AR B
H fth & 1+ 5018

MESZEWRNEEER (fiE))
& A< B2 A % 2R # BT R B

JEFHIEAL Mt &R

me

A A B

e &R

BN A 1EE IR
R BERE

Payables for purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Dividends payable

Other payables

Miscellaneous expenses received from students
(Note (a))

Government subsidies payable to students and
teachers

Accrued bonuses and social insurance

Deposits

Advance from lessees

Accrued expenses

Payables to cooperative schools

Consideration payable for acquisitions

2023%F 20224F
2023 2022
ARET AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
207,010 143,641
185,820 -
147,471 175,131
109,916 100,315
98,480 113,673
88,463 85,950
72,087 75,633
54,025 40,628
9,311 13,824
3,731 3,974

= 205,000
976,314 957,769
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24.

25.

HttENRERETER (&)

bt T EER R AR - RER ARE
e A BB H e 3R R ERH B RO BR

EHEREAFERES-

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the year
approximated to their fair value due to their short-term maturity.

Kiit@: BEZFBERERASEWDOMBER BREE Note (a): The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which
X fte will be paid on behalf of the students.
SFEBRITREMER 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
2023 20224
2023 2022
ERA=E 0 AR¥Tn B FI® HE ARETL
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000 interest rate Maturity RMB’000
(%) (%)
B Current
BHEBHFITER Bank loans - secured 1.80-4.30 2024 246,223 4.25-5.00 2023 605,727
BEALMER Other loans — secured 212 2023-2024 61,746 4.35-4.69 2023 200,364
EEARBEBTER  Current portion of long-term 3.55-4.80, 2023-2024 812,458 3.60-5.80, 2022-2023 256,990
#ENE A bank loans — secured SOFR+2.20 LIBOR+2.20
BHEMEHEMEST  Current portion of long-term 5.84-8.00  2023-2024 39,392 5.84 2023 66,757
RENER other loans - secured
R HKAR Transaction costs (6,265) -
1,153,554 1,129,838
JEENER Non-current
BEMRTER Bank loans - secured 3.40-4.80 2024-2034 1,554,954 3.60-5.80, 2023-2034 2,148,615
LIBOR+2.20
BHEAEMER Other loans — secured = 4.35-8.00 2023 55,317
RHBA Transaction costs - (13,630)
1,554,954 2,190,302
2,708,508 3,320,140
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STERITREMMER (&) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
20234 20224F
2023 2022
AR¥ET T ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
DT Analysed into:
JEEZIRITER: Bank loans repayable:
R—FRHIZEK Within one year or on demand 1,052,416 862,717
RE-F In the second year 360,285 1,304,941
RE=ZFEZFERF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEEME) 656,289 340,484
HidAF Beyond five years 538,380 489,560
2,607,370 2,997,702
FE(EE A& 50 Other borrowings repayable:
R—FAHIREK Within one year or on demand 101,138 267,121
RE—F In the second year = 55,317
101,138 322,438
2,708,508 3,320,140
HKiat - Notes:
AEE R IRIT R EAERIA TS EHEETE - The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARB T AREBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 2,111,560 2,631,068
E UsD 596,948 689,072
2,708,508 3,320,140
R2023F8A31H B TRTER K EME K As at 31 August 2023, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
BT oI I8 1 R secured and pledged by:
() AEEETHBARZRHE: (i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(i) ZFTREETHEAER(H5E34(0)) (i) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 34(c));
(i) AEERAEBENBAREILHRAE (i) corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
wr & Group; and
vy AEEMZS A ARM196,726,0007T (iv)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB196,726,000
(FF3E22) © (note 22).
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25. FFERITREMER (F) 25.

26.

202248 A31H - B THRITE R K H M &R
B N5 & IR R R IR

() AEEBAETEEBFEARARE
80,091,000 2 EF - RKEAREBEULESE
FaE (MEE14)

iy "EBETERBFEAEARIE
49,571,000C I E W % (M 7E15)

(i) AEEETHBARZRKE:
(v) ZERAEZEIHEAER (MFE34(c))

v AEBLRASENBRABRILINARE
(R

Vi) AEEMZS A ARE301,000,0007T

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 August 2022, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
secured and pledged by:

(i) certain of the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic
devices with a net carrying amount of RMB80,091,000 (note 14);

(i) certain of the Group’s investment properties with a net carrying
amount of RMB49,571,000 (note 15);

(i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;

(iv)  personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 34(c));

(v)  corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group; and

(vi)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB301,000,000

(Bt5E22) ° (note 22).

& i U 2= 26. DEFERRED INCOME
20235 20224
2023 2022
ARE T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R E ) At beginning of year 330,694 214,653
RE Additions 12,074 134,944
YN = Released to profit or loss (18,018) (18,903)
RER At end of year 324,750 330,694
R BNEAER Less: Current portion (14,632) (17,832)
JEBNER &L Non-current portion 310,118 312,862

3T W s $E L T M & 2R P B A BT
B-ZERNMPORNAEREENTAHAER
FHABA R -

Deferred income represents the government grants received for subsidies
in connection with certain leasehold improvements. These government
grants are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the
relevant assets.
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27. IEEFIE 27. DEFERRED TAX
FRNELEHRBEENEEZEFHUNT The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are
as follows:
ELEBEBEEE DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
20235
2023
g
MEAR
EEx
Sk DNEERE Hth et
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Others Total
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥ TR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
720229 A1H At 1 September 2022 16,327 176,209 49,014 241,550
FAFTABREAELTRIE  Deferred tax credited to
the statement of profit or
loss during the year (8,469) (4,478) (12,546) (25,493)
72023F8 A3THMIEIETIIE  Gross deferred tax liabilities at
BELE 31 August 2023 7,858 171,731 36,468 216,057
BEEHBEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
2023%F
2023
{35 84
S SREE  RRERM
AERYA HEBE BINEE  RERER Hitr @t
Losses
Unrealised Impairment available for
income losses on offsetting
received in financial ~ against future Unrealised
advance assets  taxable profits profit Others Total
ARBTR  AR%TZ ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20229 A1H At 1 September 2022 3,288 7,403 1,235 5,032 2,814 19,772
ERX(NBE) /5 A Deferred tax (charged)/credited
BREMELTHE  tothe statement of profit or
loss during the year (288) (192) 453 10,315 680 10,968
20238 A31HHK  Gross deferred tax assets at
EERBEESBE 31 August 2023 3,000 7,211 1,688 15,347 3,494 30,740
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27. EEBIIE (&) 27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
ELEREEE DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
20224
2022
i —
L=
EEZ
BHH  AFEAER Hth BEr
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding  acquisition of
taxes a subsidiary Others Total
ARETT ARBTrT ARETRT ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
72021 9H1H At 1 September 2021 6,928 114,866 21,662 143,456
FRAMBE/ (TN EBHEXRH Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
BRI the statement of profit or
loss during the year 9,399 (4,360) 25,610 30,649
WHEEHIARE Addition from acquisitions - 65,703 - 65,703
720228 A31 B REEF 18 Gross deferred tax liabilities at
BERE 31 August 2022 16,327 176,209 47,272 239,808
ELEHREEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
20225
2022
AR 8
AUk SREE RRERM
REBMA HREEBE ENNEE REREF Hit m@Et
Losses
Unrealised Impairment available for
income losses on offsetting
received in financial  against future Unrealised
advance assets  taxable profits profit QOthers Total
ARBTL ARBTL ARETL ARETL ARMTL ARETZ
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2021F9A1H At 1 September 2021 2,361 387 8,845 - - 11,593
ERXEA/ (MBE)  Deferred tax credited/(charged)
BuEMELEHE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year 927 (1,877) (17,400) 5,032 1,072 (12,246)
WREBEZAE Addition from acquisitions - 8,893 9,790 - - 18,683
1202248 A31H Y Gross deferred tax assets at
EEREEELE 31 August 2022 3,288 7,403 1,235 5,032 1,072 18,030
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27. EEBEH (&)

LEJNEBNME BB ARE30,740,0007T
(20224 : A R #18,030,0007T) K & T iE TR
HEENBREDCRYBMRRAERPEE-UT
ARV BEREENME ANEERERIBESRE
B AT -

BMEMERMET 2 E2023F8A31AILEE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

27.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
amounting to RMB30,740,000 (2022: RMB18,030,000) have been offset
in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARBT ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
RERE AR R R Net deferred tax assets recognised in

EERIAEEFE the consolidated statement of financial position - -

iz e AR R R ERL Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in
EEHIEEEFE the consolidated statement of financial position 185,317 221,778

AEENARAETREAMHHTEBEBEBARE
24,775,0007T (20224 : A FR¥#32,178,0007T) °
MEBRBEBR —ERFRIH o] HLASE
R PR FE SR B v A o

AATHEBBREDACHEERE —BREBK
MEBARELERRASE TNARIER BRY G
MABEEERAERER MW ARUATHIA
BEERERRECHEEE -

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB24,775,000 (2022: RMB32,178,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

MIE K18 Tax losses

2023%F 20224F
2023 2022
AREF T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
18,499 27,238

ERERBEBEIRAEERAERER LA
AREEBRRERVENERABHEMNR
RR-ZEHBEEEEN2026F (BEZF)
25

B (PEAREMBOCEMERE R
Bl AL HINERECERINEREES
I HY IR BB IR10%H R BN TR T - 7% 38 F B
200841 A1H A% B @B R2007412 831
BEAERM-- WP B A RINEEREE R LR
BET W e T RASEBENHEHEE - E
B AEBRZERAPRANMKNZOME R
Al B2008F1HIHRMEE AN 5K K E
BRTEAIR - A EE B/ T M B2 B R20204F
BREEEER T MHFERMN2023FELE 2020
FE 20255 i Bl K& B5% °

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable
profits is probable. These tax losses will expire up to and including year
2026.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. Certain subsidiaries of the
Group obtained the Certificate of Resident Status of Hong Kong in 2020
and renewed in 2023, the applicable rate is changed to 5% from 2020 to
2025.
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27.

28.

EEBIE (&) 27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
202358 A31H » 7N & B #E R AT 7 &Y 1§ 2k As at 31 August 2023, the Group recognised relevant deferred tax
BETHBAREREART ZEBEEER liabilities of RMB7,858,000 (2022: RMB16,327,000) on earnings
HEEAEARMKT?8580007T (20224 : AR anticipated to be remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable
16,327,00070) - B R A ISR R ER N & future. Other than the amount recognised in the consolidated financial
FHN > 202348 A31H  MABRIELF A statements, at 31 August 2023, the aggregate amounts of temporary
BEMNTRERNBHNBARMNKERBETREE differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
AL A ARE?2298,363,0007T (20224F - China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
AR #1,612,291,0007T) © B & F & B B approximately RMB2,298,363,000 (2022: RMB1,612,291,000), for the
FEMBARREM AR RAEREA earnings expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be
INEIREE - EERAR ZEHRTREIBRE remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion of
EFBEAARAEELENRER  ALZ the directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland China
EHB AR NAERME KA ETE D IRZ for the expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these
FEHRTNAR - subsidiaries will distribute such remaining earnings in the foreseeable
future.
% 2 28. SHARE CAPITAL
i) SHARES
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ET AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EETRER: Issued and fully paid:
1,555,250,6300% (20224 : 1,555,250,630 (2022: 1,562,350,630)
1,562,350,6300% ) & i@ A% ordinary shares 1,067 1,071
RATRERAZES PO T - A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:
BHEEE &5 &5
Number of
shares Amount Amount
AR T T
FET =
RMB’000
USD’000 equivalent
B aEf: Registered: 2,000,000,000 200 1,355
BRTRHRE: Issued and fully paid:
20218 A31H At 31 August 2021 1,585,822,310 158 1,086
FE AR 19 Shares repurchased (23,509,000) ) (15)
BT AR i Share options exercised 37,320 - -
M202268H31H & At 31 August 2022 and
2022F9H1H 1 September 2022 1,562,350,630 156 1,071
BERMD (#itaE) Shares repurchased (Note (a)) (7,100,000) ) (4)
F2023%F 8 A31H At 31 August 2023 1,555,250,630 155 1,067
Kiit(@) - #EHZE2023F8A318 I FE - AR R R AT iE Note (a): During the year ended 31 August 2023, the Company repurchased 7,100,000 of its
[517,100,0008% fi% 15 - 42 X (B & A R #21,400,000 shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of RMB21,400,000, which
JC - W RE RN EE 8K o were cancelled immediately.
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H=SHEEERAT
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B (4])
W

AR BRI HERT 8518 R IE A 8 E TR B
i B AR B S TR FE29

B RS

Apa s —HBERETS ([F18)) BF&
BEPAEBEEERIINESERDHEERE
REpEOFK -FTENEER2EERBELRA
AEES (PEBIIENTES) A5EEM
BERAEBEERKRE 2 HER) -5rER
20173 R208 £ BRIESITEUH KB F]
BRI EZBERERTF-

RIEFE BRAIETFETFTHRITEERED
Ee¥EATENMHEERN ETABS (A
201748198 ) AN AR B 1T H10% ° FE £
M+ EABEAN REERERGTISNEG
HEBER2EEBRTNRNESHE HR
RARGEMEEDBETIRGD 1% - E[ 8
R B R E — PR B AR R A SRR R TE AR
RAREH -

BTARBRER RRTBRABHETERE
HETABEANBREREBIIFNTE
EERME-RIN BT ARBETERREE
MIFMITE FREEAB R AT RE
838 AN X B A B [ B 31T B 40 B90.1% 3k 42
B (REBERAAFRR L EBORDER) BB
SEEETT EEMTZEABEA ALK
RELEERRAS L#E-

BETBERENEQARENBRHET = +N
BARE®A THARANRERERRNE
ToMRHBREZTEMIHESRET X
RZELFREHRAL ERTEREK
BELHBHEFAFEEERARTE (A
REERE) -

BRECTEFERESETET EIEERMNU
Trziwmma: (\NAFRG 2EE: ()R 2A A
BORBREZNABPEB M2 BHE:
KA RRIBROREZZNHBI AR S
BEBZA 2 FHWRmE-

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to the financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20 March
2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the listing date,
i.e., 19 April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HKD5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKD1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period
of three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; and (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.
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29. B RERTE (&)
B A 3 B T A A MR B R B R K
BIREZEH

RIEARDFR2017E3A20B R KN 2128 &
ZF2023F R2022F8 A3 B IEFEN ER T
% 1 -

AT AR RIREE 8118 R 1768 2 8 g

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

Under the Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2017, there
were no share options granted for the years ended 31 August 2023 and

2022.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

the year:
20235 20224
2023 2022

nE¥19 B E NiEF ik
e #A 1T1EE 2B

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
BRER T BRET )
HKD per share ’000 HKD per share '000
M9A1H At 1 September 4.452 13,924 4.447 14,058
FRE LI Forfeited during the year 4.201 (560) 4.373 (97)
FARBITE Exercised during the year - - 3.110 (37)
8A31H At 31 August 4.350 13,364 4,452 13,924

REE2023F8A31B IEFE R A TER
HEEITE - ME E20229F8A31H L FE R 1T
FEBRENTEBRZMEFHRELER
31247 7T ©

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31 August 2023
and the weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised during the year ended 31 August 2022 was HKD3.124

per share.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding

EER(I N as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
202345 2023
BREHE TEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T HA Exercise period
T & BRET
’000 HKD per share
332 5.920 20195 9A83H £2023F9A2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
199 5.920 2020598 3H £2023F9A2H 3 September 2020 to 2 September 2023
142 5.920 202159H3H £2023F9A2H 3 September 2021 to 2 September 2023
1,823 4.202 2019538 1H ZE2023F10825H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
821 4.202 202053H1H £2023F10825H 1 March 2020 to 25 October 2023
553 4.202 2021%F381H £20235F10825H 1 March 2021 to 25 October 2023
559 4.202 20194 9H3H £20235F10825H 3 September 2019 to 25 October 2023
382 4.202 2020%9H3H £20235F10825H 3 September 2020 to 25 October 2023
232 4202 2021%9H3H £20235F10825H 3 September 2021 to 25 October 2023
60 4.202 2022%F9H3H £20235F10825H 3 September 2022 to 25 October 2023
60 4.202 2023 9H3H £20235F10825H 3 September 2023 to 25 October 2023
5 4202 20194108268 £20235F10825H 26 October 2019 to 25 October 2023
3 4202 20209108268 £2023F10825H 26 October 2020 to 25 October 2023
7 4202 20215108268 £2023F10825H 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2023
10 4320 2019%1182H £2023F1181H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
6 4320 2020911 82H £2023F1181H 2 November 2020 to 1 November 2023
4 4320 2021%F1182H £2023F1181H 2 November 2021 to 1 November 2023
1,093 3.640 2020%F481H £2024%F3831H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
664 3.640 2021F481H £2024%F3831H 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
449 3.640 2022%F481H £2024%F3A31H 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024
560 3.110 2020510821 H £2024510H20H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
682 3.110 2021510821 H £2024510H20H 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
868 3.110 2022%F10H21H £2024510H20H 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024
1,299 5.330 202175230 £2025F7H22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025
1,155 5.330 2022%7H23H £2025F7H22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025
1,396 5.330 2023%7H23H £2025F7H22H 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025
13,364
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29. BERHESTE (&)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

20224 2022
EREHE (B
Number of options Exercise price 77 1F 2f Exercise period
T BRETT
'000 HKD per share
332 5920 201949 A3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
199 5920 20209F9A3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2020 to 2 September 2023
142 5920 20219 A3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2021 to 2 September 2023
1,893 4202 201993 A1H £2023F10H25H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
864 4202 202093 A1H £2023F10H25H 1 March 2020 to 25 October 2023
580 4202 20213 F1H £2023F10H25H 1 March 2021 to 25 October 2023
591 4202 201999 A3H £2023F10H25H 3 September 2019 to 25 October 2023
401 4202 202099 A3H £2023F10H25H 3 September 2020 to 25 October 2023
245 4202 20219 A3H £2023F10H25H 3 September 2021 to 25 October 2023
60 4202 202299 A3H £2023F10H25H 3 September 2022 to 25 October 2023
60 4202 202379 A3H F£2023F10H25H 3 September 2023 to 25 October 2023
5 4202 2019410826 H £2023F10H25H 26 October 2019 to 25 October 2023
3 4202 2020910826 H £2023F10H25H 26 October 2020 to 25 October 2023
7 4202 2021108268 £2023F10H25H 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2023
10 4320 2019411 F2H £2023F11A1H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
6 4320 2020911 H2H £2023F11 A1H 2 November 2020 to 1 November 2023
4 4320 202111 2B £2023F11 A1H 2 November 2021 to 1 November 2023
1,161 3.640 20209F4A1H £202443H31H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
707 3.640 2021F4H1H 2202493 H31H 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
477 3.640 20229F4F1H 2202443 H31H 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024
583 3.110 2020910 H21 B Z=2024410H20H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
705 3110 2021910821 H £2024%F10820H 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
899 3110 2022910 H21 B Z=2024410H20H 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024
1,341 5330 202147 H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025
1,197 5.330 202247 H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025
1,452 5.330 202347 H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025
13,924

HE2023F8A3IB L FERAARNEBERER
B X AR #1,969,0007T (& 202248 A31
BHIEFE: ARES3,324,0000T) °

RS B R AR BB IR 5T 81 513,363,620
MERTE2BRE-RBRBEAQARERNER
R BHOERMARTEZEBREBSERA
N B E%1713,363,620 1% B8 /0 I i A% K B8 SR AR
1,336.36 7T (FOFREETTHSZAT) ©

R EZENERRZ B AQRIREFE
% 58,166,31010 &1 R 171 2 RS #E - 4015 &
NANZ B BT HA0.53% ©

The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB1,969,000
during the year ended 31 August 2023 (year ended 31 August 2022:
RMB3,324,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 13,363,620 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 13,363,620 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of US$1,336.36 (before issue
EXpenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 8,166,310 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.53% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.
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30.

AEERAEERBEEENEERERE
PREMEEENGAERRD RN

BB

AEBEMEABEEAEENB QA KEAR
BEAEANBANIE -FANTREASE
WA A B — [ M B 2 B JF PR A AR A K A
BEFERD-

EERHMBHRHE

REFPEREBER A2RNTENERQG
EREEHREEMNOBETADIKHEEE (H
ERATEMNBARNESSETE) %ERHE
BREOBEREERAH — KR EELIBRE
HREE -

) BREPERAE ALEEETHBAGF
ERRELE ASREBEFETE S
ZE BI| P B 5E B BR B 1RO M AV10% ) B =
HEBMNATERHE BEEHBES
H%BaEMEARm50% - &+ B A FDE
P E TIRGIHRR T #8005 E B8k
REBATELSEMER EERRNE
B TR R B ANE925% °

(i) WREBEPHOBEEERER B2021F9AH
THRE - ZEFERFERAZTFHER
RLORI0%MEBIZFEMLWREZ O ESR
EFRES MIESTUBERERBEHZ
RADI0BE T ZRHEEFEEE
REERNSBERERES -HEES
ARERNERIEERREREHR
B AR

RERERERWEE

AN FEIERERS

FRN AEBERBLABEMHEHEZES
FELEFHAREELTEERGEIER S
AE AR B3,040,0000T (2022F - AR
#24,102,0007T ) & A R #3,040,0007T
(20224« AR#24,102,0007T) °

30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The deduction during
the year represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets resulting from
the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary of the Company.

STATUTORY AND OTHER SURPLUS RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-
distributable reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the
relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general reserve
of the limited liability companies and (ii) the development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to registered capital, provided
that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital.

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, since
1 September 2021, a for-profit private school is required to
appropriate to the development fund not less than 10% of the
audited annual net income of the relevant school while a non-
profit school is required to appropriate to the development fund not
less than 10% of the audited annual increase in the non-restricted
net assets of the relevant school. The development fund is for the
construction or maintenance of the schools or the procurement or
upgrade of educational equipment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,040,000 (2022:
RMB24,102,000) and RMB3,040,000 (2022: RMB24,102,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for office premises.
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31. REHERERWE (E) 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(B) RMIEEBELECAEBEEEH (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
20234 2023
RITR
Hitt B HEEE st
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities Total
AR®ET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
PR20229F9A1H At 1 September 2022 3,320,140 12,987 3,333,127
BMERSRKREZESE)  Changes from financing cash flows (637,932) (6,072) (644,004)
HEE New leases - 3,040 3,040
FAETAIBESEA%E F Revision of a lease term arising from
mE BB AT a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease - (775) (775)
ENER =g Foreign exchange movement 26,300 - 26,300
MEZH Interest expense - 565 565
72023F8 A31H At 31 August 2023 2,708,508 9,745 2,718,253
20224 2022
BT
HER HEEE THKES Bt
Bank and Lease Convertible
other loans liabilities bonds Total
ARETT AREFTRT AREFTT AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20219 A 1H At 1 September 2021 2,354,632 8,301 646,459 3,009,392
BERGRECLE Changes from financing cash flows 998,883 (19,924) (646,790) 332,169
MMEE New leases - 24,102 - 24,102
NI B2 ) Foreign exchange movement (33,375) - 61 (33,314)
FEZ Interest expense - 508 - 508
NEE/BE Fair value losses - - 270 270
720224F8 A31H At 31 August 2022 3,320,140 12,987 - 3,333,127
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31. EHERERWE (FE) 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(C) HEWMABEER (C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
AR RERZEBAENBELR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
BT flows is as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®EFT AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FFAKEEEA Within operating activities (167) (294)
FFABEEEA Within financing activities (6,072) (19,924)
(6,239) (20,218)
32. EEEH 32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RAEEBRTERER - AEEHEEFBR Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank loans are
R R R M FE25 © included in note 25 to the financial statements.
33. &IE 33. COMMITMENTS
AREBRBEHREUTE RFE: The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the

reporting period:

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
DRI AB R B Contracted but not provided for:
WE - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 318,012 419,748
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3. BEBAR S R
AATEERE NERN UTEHF/RAE
HEAREBBERSNEHIBEE T

(A)

204

ZBRBEE
HASEER
B AR b NN v RS
THE BEFEgXE
ALZBX AN AR ST E &R
ERARA A 2 41
B 52K 7 £ R2023F 4 A25H B T 8 3L 9
HITEER ALBIXANERERD AT
BAAEBERNBEE -
MR ZERBRR LM T AFR 2R

S AEERTFARBBO BN TR
5

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/
companies are related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group during the year:

(A)

NAME AND RELATIONSHIP

Relationship with the Group
Name of related parties and the Company
Mr. Li
Xi'an Zhaowen Human
Resources Co., Ltd.”

Chairman of the board
Ultimately controlled by Mr. Hu Jianbo

Xi’an Zhaowen Human Resources Co., Ltd. was no longer a related party of the
Group since Mr. Hu Jianbo resigned as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 25 April 2023.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with a related
party during the year:

ST 2B ITOREE
BAZBXANERBR A

Service fee to a related party
Xi’an Zhaowen Human Resources Co., Ltd. -

20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,182

R BIREE B R T7 LRI E &0 R FRAN 5
HETT -

The transaction was carried out in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved.

HEBELI2HERS (C) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
o0 B 7 R 2 P sE25 AT B A EEEE T AT As set out in note 25 to the financial statements, certain of
BRETAEMERBATEEER- the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were
guaranteed by Mr. Li.
AEEFTEEBEAENHE (D) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE
GROUP
20234 20224F
2023 2022
AR®BT T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
MHEEREAM Short-term employee benefits 13,052 12,075
BRIKEET B K Contributions to the pension scheme 487 671
LA B& #8832 A5 B BB A 4 S Equity-settled share option expense 340 1,181
MTXEEEASXTE4EI4  Total compensation paid to key management
personnel 13,879 13,927

FREER&ESTBRAEMENE -
ABEN M RR MY

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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3. TMIANDSE 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

REEHRR SEeMTAENEEBENT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

20234 2023
THEE Financial assets
RATE R
FFABEN RAGTE M0
Financial assets
at fair value
through Financial assets
profit or loss at amortised cost Total
AR®TR  ARMTRT  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
St AZE S EWEIE - FB  Financial assets included in

B - H b K GRIE & trade receivables, prepayments,

EMEEMNTREE other receivables and other assets - 129,299 129,299
B R R #1775 Pledged and restricted deposits - 247,557 247,557
BERAVEEABEGN Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss 48,789 - 48,789
ReERFEEEY Cash and cash equivalents - 855,060 855,060

48,789 1,231,916 1,280,705

2HEE Financial liabilities
R
RAGTEN
SEEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
ARBT R
RMB’000
SFAHMEMAFENEFEBANS R EE  Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 824,515
FFERITREAME K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 2,708,508
HEBRE Lease liabilities 9,745
3,542,768
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3. TMITANSE (F)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

20224 2022
THEE Financial assets
EAFE bivg: s
FFABEE AT ER/
SREE SREE HE
Financial assets
at fair value
through Financial assets
profit or loss  at amortised cost Total
AREET T AR®EF T ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FTAE S EWHIE - B Financial assets included in

I - B EURIA R trade receivables, prepayments,

HEtEENSREE other receivables and other assets - 99,947 99,947
B R BRI F R Pledged and restricted deposits - 354,165 354,165
EHFR Time deposits - 130,000 130,000
BRATEFABRED Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss 2,530 - 2,530
RekBReEEY Cash and cash equivalents - 1,081,449 1,081,449

2,530 1,665,561 1,668,091

THEE Financial liabilities
AT E 8
SRBE

FRARMENREREFEANSREE

FHERTTREMER
HE&RE

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

ARBTT
RMB'000

831,191
3,320,140
12,987

4,164,318
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ERIENAFERATFEER 36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AEBEESHRTEMNEABELRAYE (KRET The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,

BHEATVEAEEENESRMIAEIN AT other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to

fair values, are as follows:

REE ATE
rEE Group Carrying amounts Fair values
20234 20224F 20234 20224
2023 2022 2023 2022
ARBTR ARETT AR¥Tn ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
CHEE Financial assets
BRI R ZBEHFR - EREE S Pledged and restricted deposits,
non-current portion 101,000 101,000 104,674 104,597
THGER FERBE S Time deposits, non-current portion - 110,000 - 110,439
BAFEFABRNSRHEE Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 48,789 2,530 48,789 2,530
149,789 213,530 153,463 217,566
cHEE Financial liabilities
FFERITERREMER Interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings 2,708,508 3,320,140 2,710,106 3,321,910
EEECDIHH AekBEeEEY CHER Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
ZRETFRENEE D THER FABSE equivalents, the current portion of pledged and restricted deposits, time
WERIE - TR RIE - IR E R Mt E E deposits, financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
MEeRIEE FTAHMEBENARERESTER other receivables and other assets, and financial liabilities included in
NemaENATERERBERE =2 other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
EHRZELEMERE- due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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AEENERYHERENUHKHEFHIEERR
TRIANAFEAEEETRRNIERF U
BREMNBEEVBENBERZZESERER-
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BEEPIBEARNEENTZGAZE A
EHERMBELETEHNRSLE-BREZER
SEEFIRAEBENMERRAALETH
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TREEMBENATFTEUAZIANBRER
ZHEBANRS (BB EHERI)F
MRZXHERAR TXHEIBREFTAFE
#7708 R R AR

EEBERZRHNER  CHER FFERITR
HEEFERN BN A FEZREEREF
o EERREGBTFHIAENREATAL
KPABLIRTE AR R PRIB € R E 5T & - 1R202348
A31B AR AEET ERT REMERLN
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36.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The change in fair value as a result of the Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 August 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
investment products and foreign exchange options issued by banks in
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on
the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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3. TRMTANAFERAFEER

TRIPAEERTANRFEFERER:

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

BERFETENEE: Assets measured at fair value:
DNTEFERAHE
720238 A31H As at 31 August 2023 Fair value measurement using
RER EAATEE EAFTAHER
miEHRE BWABE WARE
(%) (B5=8%) (B=8) #at
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥ETR AR¥T R ARETR AR¥ET R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEATEFABRN Financial assets at fair value
PREE through profit or loss - 48,789 - 48,789
ATEFEFARE
M2022F8 A31H As at 31 August 2022 Fair value measurement using
RIER ERAHE EARIABE
ISR RE B A\ B W A B
(B—#&) (E=#) (B=8H) 3
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BATEFAERD Financial assets at fair value
THEE through profit or loss - 2,530 - 2,530
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6. TRMMIANAFERAFEEEHR 36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

(#&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
AFEREBR (&) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
BERFETENEE: Liabilities measured at fair value:
720238 H31H K202248H31H » N&EE I The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as
BEEMEATESENEREE: at 31 August 2023 and 31 August 2022.
ERERAFEHEE: Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
ATEFAEFRARE
7202358 A31H As at 31 August 2023 Fair value measurement using
RE R EATHRE EBEAFUHEE
™% RE LN ¢ - LN ¢
(E—#%&) (£=#&) (B=#&) #5t
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBT R AR¥T R ARBTR AR¥T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BB RZRHFER Pledged and restricted deposits,

JERNEREL 5 non-current portion - 104,674 - 104,674
REEHEFMAEE
720228 H31H As at 31 August 2022 Fair value measurement using
N EAABEE SEAPAUHE
% 8 WE B ABE i ABUER
(B—H) (B_#%) (FE=/) #Er
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AREFT AREFTT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BAEA MR TR Pledged and restricted deposits,

JERNERE non-current portion - 104,597 - 104,597
THIFER JERIEAEES  Time deposits, non-current portion - 110,439 - 110,439
- 215,036 - 215,036
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6. TRMIANAFERAFEEEHR 36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
(1

&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
AEEER (&) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
EHELFENEE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
NFEFERAHE
R2023F8A31H As at 31 August 2023 Fair value measurement using
RIE R EAUBE EBEAFAUEE
mIEHNERE WARE BAYE
(F—-%&%) (B=#&) (B=8) At
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARMTRE  ARMTT  ARMTRE  ARMT:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

STEBRITER R EAME R Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings - 2,710,106 - 2,710,106
REEHEFMAEE
7202268 A31H As at 31 August 2022 Fair value measurement using
NVER BERAHE BAILAHE
ISR IwE B A\ B T A BUR
(B—H) (B=4) (B=H) Foe
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AREFT ARBTTT AREFTT ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

STEBRTER R EAMER Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings - 3,321,910 - 3,321,910
FR 2HEELRABBENATENETER During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
F—REE_H2EER TEESALED] between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into and out of Level 3 for
B (20225 - &) o financial assets and liabilities (2022: Nil).
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BRE(BBZEERMZNZE)WNT:

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits,
and pledged and restricted deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and
other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest
rate. The interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are
disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
as follows:

LA (T RR B A0 R
B () /#Em

Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase

in basis points in profit before tax

20234 2023

AR RMB 50 (5,066)
AR RMB (50) 5,066
20224 2022

AR #& RMB 50 (6,139)
AR #& RMB (50) 6,139
S E @k CREDIT RISK

FERARERZHUFEEIXNTHRETEAN
EEMSRNEBRRR AEELEREF
ZHEBAZEREERR - FREZFN
REFRRT ZERTHASEELIZENS
BEE-AKEERRORAEERRARES
REFEEY BERRIRBIER EHF
H B 5 EWEKR - B UR - B AR R
K H A EERREE -

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of
a counterparty to meet its contractual obligation. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third party debtors. Deposits are mainly
placed with licensing banks which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk refers to the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets.
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37. BEEKREEEEREE (#) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FERK (&) CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
BERBEAFRASH Maximum exposure and year-end staging
TRETMEASENEABRREERNER The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
mEMEAEERRBRHO ZBREEFEER credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
BEMNBBEER (RIEEMLERELZEBRE past due information unless other information is available without undue
ARSI ANBERTAES) UREES cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 August. The
ABMFERN BN E-FEIHNEE LD amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
BREEMEmE-
20234831 H As at 31 August 2023
+-EAEH
FEFE 2HEREERFE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-E& FEE F=EBR R p 3 @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AR®TR ARBTRT AR¥Tn AR%®Tn ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FAB S EMGE Financial assets included in
BRNZE EfEKFIER  trade receivables, prepayments,
HhEENsREE other receivables and
other assets*
—EE™ - Normal** 114,720 - - 19,503 134,223
EEAREREIFH Pledged and restricted deposits
— 8 A 48 R — Not yet past due 247,557 - - - 247,557
ReRBEEED Cash and cash equivalents
— A8 ~ Not yet past due 855,060 - - - 855,060
1,217,337 - - 19,503 1,236,840
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37. IREAREEEREREREK (#)

FERRE (&)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

RERBHERT R (&) Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2022F831H As at 31 August 2022
+EAES
FEEER 2HEREEBE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
FRBE FRER EHE Gk YaRzA @i
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT AR®FR AR%Tr ARBTT ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FAESEMNGR Financial assets included in
FENFIE EfMEWFIER  trade receivables, prepayments,
HEENSBEE other receivables and
other assets”
—EF - Normal*™* 89,059 - - 18,215 107,274
EEARERSIFH Pledged and restricted deposits
— fa) R 480 R ~ Not yet past due 354,165 - - - 354,165
TEHEH Time deposits
— e R 480 R ~ Not yet past due 130,000 - - - 130,000
RBekHEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
— e R 480 R ~ Not yet past due 1,081,449 - - - 1,081,449
1,654,673 - - 18,215 1,672,888

R ARNEERAEZREEN[E 5HERZE-
ERRE HiERREREMWEEINNE HE
WK TE T & - SRR B B PR A B R R B 7 SRR B e
207 5% -

HREAE S RUGRIE TR FOR - A UK IR
REMEE REBRNFBAANSBREE WAE
B BYEEANKAZEREEB VG ERAK
ERRBRBEEM BRAEEEERAIER]-
BRI SRMEENEREAZRB /B[R] -

HRAREBEENZENEERIFNE=Z7E
IR5 BUBETHNERR - FEERRES
EREP/HFAFURMBER KNEBEL
EaEETHEERR-

y3 ></|'

ot

For trade receivables included in “Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets” to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, and prepayment for investments is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk
are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty and by geographical
region. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.
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BHEREREEEERBXK (H)

S BE 2 B

AEEEHEBRSMREEFEY R
REMEREENEERE -

Ti‘«%??tﬂﬂﬁ’\}\ﬁﬁg%%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ?m/\
AREEE) EMBAHEMEBHERT TENIS
/RT BAREENRE RO A S (F
\A“ﬂ%éﬁ)&ﬁﬁﬁ’] FEEDH) WHRE
DT

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of RMB
against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

Enk
B TEE Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁu
(T¥&) /LH W) 18
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase in USD  increase in profit
and HKD rates before tax
% AR®EF T
% RMB’000
20235 2023
MAREHETTRAE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (25,548)
MARE R ETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 25,548
MARKHEBTRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 235
W AREHLETLHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (235)
20224 2022
MARBHETEE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (33,676)
MARBHETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 33,676
MAREHLABTEE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (41)
i AR S B TTHAE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 41
REE LR LIQUIDITY RISK
AEBNAEELRBDECFE TAEEH The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
EsRmrMRR ZTEERaREELS liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its

MEEMENIRBARKAELEXTHNE
ARERE-

AEBEEBEBNARTEN TRRES
HERBEIRAEMARERRFESHE LA
BRIz R TE -

financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, convertible bonds,
lease liabilities and other interest-bearing loans.
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37. AR EEEERBEK (&) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REBEcRER (&) LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

AEERREPRERADRBEBLRDS
BEEHBERNT

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as

follows:
2023% 2023
RERE =@BAR Z=ZZ+=f@A -Z1E @t
Less than 3to12 1t05
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARETT AR%¥Tx AR%Tx AR%Tx AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HEEE Lease liabilities - 1,779 5,029 3,425 10,233
ERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings = 88,746 1,018,036 1,921,064 3,027,846
AE MR SRR Financial liabilities included
B ERRERAR in other payables and accruals 824,515 - = - 824,515
824,515 90,525 1,023,065 1,924,489 3,862,594
20224 2022
REKE =@MAR Z=+-{AA —ZRfF @t
Less than 3t012 1t05
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARETT AREFRT AREFT AREFRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
HEae® Lease liabilities - 1,518 4,589 8,519 14,626
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 121,680 1,030,782 2,595,414 3,747,876
AR ER A inancial liabilities include
TAHMBERFER F [ liabil luded
EAERMNERAR in other payables and accruals 831,191 - - - 831,191
831,191 123,198 1,035,371 2,603,933 4,593,693
MEEENRE INTEREST RATE BENCHMARK REFORM

2023 F8A31H ANEE#EAFE TUAETLE
BEMFFERITREMER -BRETLH IR
TREREEELEAH ZETEMFIER (K
MBBRITRAEREAER)EETER AN
ERRBRAEAERNEBER-

As at 31 August 2023, the Group had certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings denominated in United States dollars. Since United
States dollar LIBOR has ceased to be published, the interest rates of these
instruments which were based on the LIBOR have been renegotiated to be
based on the SOFR.
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37. IREAREEERERERK (&)

EXER

AEEEAEENIEERABARAEEN
FEKLERNREFRBRNELR LR UX
SEEBLERREERAL-

AEEBTLARIEBEABREETRABERN
VTRELEERKINESHRFHEEENRR
BHREREEAEBIYHEELFAE -5
BIRFAAREAEE AEESTHERN
FREMRES REBEARFTRESR /TR
MoAREBRZEMIIBERERKLOR - HE
20234 K2022F8A3IB L FER - AEER
EAERERE BRIBEFHELCAES-

REEMRNEEABLRNT:

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regards equity attributable to owners of the parent as capital
and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 August 2023 and 2022.

The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARBT R ANREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEERN Total liabilities 5,710,188 5,896,421
BEBE Total assets 9,242,999 9,073,135
EEBELE Debt-to-asset ratios 62% 65%
38. EHEKEE 38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
R ERREBMBETMNEANSE- There are no significant events after the end of the reporting period.

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT £ 217



BB RMET & E2023F8A31H IEEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023

39. A A BB RN & 39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ARTRREMRODRRE 2 ERIT ¢

20234 20224F
2023 2022
AR®E T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
P =NGIE - E Interests in subsidiaries 451,165 449,540
FREEE Right-of-use assets 683 1,370
ERBEELE Total non-current assets 451,848 450,910
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 12,384 1,619
B R Z R 6 F R Pledged and restricted deposits 14,216 7,460
JFE U B 8 R A Due from subsidiaries 2,119,522 2,021,977
MBEERE Total current assets 2,146,122 2,031,056
RBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FTRRITREAE K Interest-hearing bank and other borrowings 597,646 131,143
HibERIBREER Other payables and accruals 265,445 72,263
mE B EARE Total current liabilities 863,091 203,406
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,283,031 1,827,650
EEHABEBRABAEES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,734,879 2,278,560
kRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FTERITREAE K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings - 545,672
FEREBBEBE Total non-current liabilities = 545,672
BEFE Net assets 1,734,879 1,732,888
R EQUITY
& AR Share capital 1,067 1,071
i () Reserves (note) 1,733,812 1,731,817
B Total equity 1,734,879 1,732,888
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RTB BRI T (&)

Byt - Note:
ARBFEEZBENT A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
EX
R3RE EXfGEE BREGE BERA RE A st
Share Exchange
Share Capital option Retained fluctuation
premium reserve reserve profits reserve Total
ARBEFT ARETT AREBTT ARBTRT ARBFTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2021458 431 B 454  Balance at 31 August 2021 1,207,647 446,239 14,814 131,951 (53,086) 1,747,565
FAZEMW =L Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 312,719 19,226 331,945
B & E20214F R HIAR S Final 2021 dividend declared - - - (131,623) - (131,623)
BT Issue of shares 147 - (34) - - 113
88 a1 A% 1 Shares repurchased (54,484) - - - - (54,484)
DA RS 4 S 1 B B S A Equity-settled share option
373 arrangements - - 3,324 - - 3,324
AR S WSk jE Mm%  Transfer of share option reserve
R E RS upon the forfeiture or
expiry of share options - - (23) - - (23)
20224 P HRAR B Interim 2022 dividend
(HiaF12) (note 12) - - - (165,000) - (165,000)
1202258 A31H At 31 August 2022 1,153,310 446,239 18,081 148,047 (33,860) 1,731,817
FAEEMW =L Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 335,776 16,985 352,761
B 5 k20224 K HIfR S Final 2022 dividend declared
(HtzE12) (note 12) - - - (145,175) - (145,175)
8 2l A& 1 Shares repurchased (21,396) - - - - (21,396)
DARSHES HEVBERSAE  Equity-settled share option
373 arrangements - - 1,969 - - 1,969
AR S WSk fEm & Transfer of share option reserve
ERERERE upon the forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (344) - - (344)
2023 AR B Interim 2023 dividend
(HiaF12) (note 12) - - - (185,820) - (185,820)
7202348 A31H At 31 August 2023 1,131,914 446,239 19,706 152,828 (16,875) 1,733,812

HAEB R K 40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk O R2023F11 Bos B EE S E The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
MM - board of directors on 28 November 2023.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HZE20195 HZ2020%F Hzo01FE Hz020% HZ2023%
124318 8A318 8A31H 8A318 8A31A
HEE ENER E5E HFEE LFE
Year ended Eight months Year ended Year ended Year ended
KEEE 31 December  ended 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Results of operations 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARETT AR®FR AR%®Tx ARBTT AR%T=x
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 1,089,221 721,644 1,497 455 1,921,752 2,119,140
EH Gross profit 542,639 288,647 667,163 750,415 806,004
8/ ERER Net profit for the period/year 430,354 197,095 591,797 630,212 703,289
AT AT Attributable to:
NEHEAA Owners of the parent 386,446 174,909 567,824 620,003 703,289
20195 20204 20214 20225 20235
128318 8A318 8A318 8A31H 8A31H
BERARE 31 December 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Assets and Liabilities 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARBETT  ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥T:R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets 4,849,628 4,719,048 6,590,227 7,596,836 8,050,080
MEEE Current assets 1,151,737 1,137,581 1,341,896 1,476,299 1,192,919
MEEE Current liabilities 2,124,500 2,057,933 2,609,083 3,163,350 3,656,468
VEIN=REbE Net current liabilities (972,763) (920,352) (1,267,187) (1,687,051) (2,463,549)
BELERADERE Total assets less current liabilities 3,876,365 3,798,696 5,323,040 5,909,785 5,586,531
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 925,209 1,295,971 2,130,733 2,733,071 2,053,720
Bl Total equity 2,951,656 2,502,725 3,192,307 3,176,714 3,532,811
I ER Property, plant and equipment 3,089,932 3,100,669 4,091,258 4,883,072 5,440,611
BekReEED Cash and cash equivalents 559,007 608,234 775,787 1,081,449 855,060
EREE Contract liabilities 725,363 274,029 350,933 973,335 1,356,250
FTERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 1,486,829 1,895,798 2,354,632 3,320,140 2,708,508
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ML X

Financial ratios

KBl E
ERILE (Wit)

Current Ratio
Gearing ratio (Note)

20195 2020 20214 20206 2023
127311 8H31H 8H31H 8H31H 8A31AH
31 December 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARETE AR®TR ARBTT ARETR AR%®T:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

0.5 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.3

50.4% 75.7% 74.0% 104.5% 76.9%

Hiit: BEREXSENRERELEERAEERRZ BLAESRN

FRRITE

AEEMERARBEBEETE-

Note:  Gearing ratio equals to ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity as of the end of the
year. Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings and lease liabilities.

RERE

Cash flows

REEDFEHERE

Net cash flows from operating
activities

HZE2019F HE020F  HE2021F  HEANF  HE02F
12R31H 8A31H 8H31H 8H31H 8A31AH
EFE LENEA IEFE IEFE LLFE
Year ended Eight months Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December  ended 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARBTL  ARETL  AREFL ARETL ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
830,909 45,526 728,779 1,534,190 1,422,847
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DEFINITIONS

(AR AR s T4

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

R YN

“associate(s)”
[ AR

“Ba Mu Pu”

[dEE R A

“Bei Ai Company”

[ERAERE]

“Beijing Daai Gaoxue”

[AERT5 %2 ]

“Beijing Fangzhi”

[t REEE

“Beijing Lianhe”

(bR # =%

“Beijing New Higher Education”

201763 H20B BIEH RN AN A el BB ER AR (KB TARHEET)
the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as amended
from time to time

BB Fm R AR TR E
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EABRRNEMEERAR —HR2010F5 8248 RIBEPBUEEKRIHBR QAR
BEAEEEEMNS.7305% RN TR LR R —

Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd.* (R RBEARFEE AR A ), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 24 May 2010 and one of the New Registered
Shareholders holding 5.7305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

IREBAEREREARET AR —MR2012F10716 B IR IFEF BIAERK LAY
ERAF HAEESE2EHE -LERAAHBRERME —S2iE

Beijing Alyinsheng Education Investment Co., Ltd.* Jt R EBERAAEHE R EBRET R A), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October 2012, and wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company is the sole sponsor of Gansu School

IRARESEHERMEERRAA —HER2018F3ABEFBEK LN ERAT
HEEEEZERSE

Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology Co., Ltd.* Qt R A B S 2H E R BER A F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 March 2018. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai
Group

IRFEEBEXEBARAG  —MR2020F4 208 RIFFEVEEKN L2 AR
N

Beijing Fangzhi Yuanlue Corporate Management Co., Ltd.* (At R 5 & RIS CEEEGR A 7)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 20 April 2020

It RBERRBERRARAR - —ER2014F6 A17THRBHRBEEEK LN AR
AA REEFEENHEZEZENBE QR

Beijing Lianhe Open Education Technology Co., Ltd.* Qt REF & MM BRI BR A F), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 June 2014, and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group

IRFeBRFRERERAT —HAEFBRKYNERAG  AEEEENEE
B B8 A )

Beijing New Higher Education Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (1t F #7 i i &)
2% R A R A 71), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Yun Ai Group
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[E5g]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

(%% A Ea& (20195 ) ]

“Business Cooperation Agreement

(2019)”
R=E3=N
“business day”
ELL L

“Central China School”

[ /R
“China” or “PRC”

[BEFBEA
“close associate(s)”

INSEESHN
“Companies Ordinance’

y

[ARA7] ]

“Company”

[ AT
“connected person(s)”

[FERS ]

“Connected Transaction(s)”

[ B B R

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

B=
DEFINITIONS

RKRREFE
the board of Directors of the Company

BEAR PREAESHMBEBRCERRGITINEBRSER R
the business cooperation agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders

BART—MRARARHARPEEBORF (EHX EHBR LB ERIRBEHARKRIN)
a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business to the public and which is
not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong

AL B e S0 (FIERIERIERXSR%2ER) - —HR2003F RIFEH BERENK K
BEHERB - EPERAERNDNANGEEHBES

Hubei Enshi College* (3#1t 2 H22F%), formerly known as Science and Technology College
of Hubei Minzu University* (414t R iR R 2% 2 Bt), an institution of higher education
established under the laws of the PRC in 2003. Central China School is a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company

REARKME - SAREMS  TEEBEE  RPIFHITHRREKSE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this report, Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

HEAEFmHRAME FHRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

RNEMED (FBEEDIFE622T ) (KA TNRHER] RIS ITIER)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FEFSHEBRERAA —HAR016F7ASHTHEESTMA L MEREH
[ /NE

China New Higher Education Group Limited (FF B¥ %71/ 2k & B A R 2 &), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

BB FmR AR T rRRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB FmR AR T rRRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEAEFmRAME FHRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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B
DEFINITIONS

[{EERTA
“Corporate Governance Code”

[REBA

“Daai Shuren”

[E%]

“Director(s)”

[EEEEE (2019F) |
“Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

BNl

“Enchang Company”

[ A% 1 3] 15 3% (20194F ) J
“Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)”

[PreeEcs

“Equity Transfers”

[ 78 5K R s HA M 17 5% (20194F ) )
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement
(2019)”

[ K Bl IR K B I8 5 G 1
(20194 )]

“Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy
Agreement (2019)”

EE LY

“Gansu School”

B

B

LR BT e O TR A E B R E T A
Code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

IRREHAKREFZRAERAA]
EHEEEE2ERA

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* t R AEH A B ZAE R
73 |)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is wholly owned
by Yun Ai Group

—ER2018F3A14HERBEKIIH AR AA -

ARAES

the directors of the Company

BEHEEEEREFZIEBRTEYUNEREETERES
the school directors’ power of attorney to be executed by each of the directors of each PRC
Operating Schools

BB ANESHELERERET AR —ER2014F 11 A13ARIE R BUEEK
VRBERAR -EHEESBE2ERE - BERARAAETERME —SEE

Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changging Education Development Co., Ltd.* (BiE &6 M %
EHEREBREEAT), a limited liability company established under the laws of the
PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company is the sole
sponsor of Central China School

HERR EESBEREBERRSES I LMRELD T HE
the equity pledge agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Huihuang Company and other parties

FR2019F8 H26H K20195F12H6H - Fh 4 BT REREREERGR X (A
Re®) BHAEREERGH X (BERER) BERERLERESAR
EHESEENEESE/RE

the transfer of equity interests in Yun Ai Group from each of Mr. Li, Kashi Daai Chengxin
Investment Management Limited Partnership* (BT AEHEREEREER X (ARE
%)), Kashi Daai Investment Management Limited Partnership* (Bt AR EEEA B
¥ (BRA%)) Huihuang Investment and Shanghai Taifu to Songming Dexue on 26 August
2019 and 6 December 2019

IBIEAR  HPEGEHEBERBRLCEARES T LNBERRAB A=
the exclusive call option agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders

BEAFEFESRABBERE T LNBRRMRG & EE S @R

the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement to be entered into by
and among Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities

BINME BRI 20 (FIBEMNEIRERMIESE) - —HR2004F B 5 F Bl X
ERINREHERE HRERARQAANGEHBEERE

Lanzhou College of Information Science and Technology* (B8 M 15 B &t £ 85%), formerly known
as College of Technology and Engineering of Lanzhou University of Technology* (8§ N3 T K
E2 R 1lf T #2 22B%), an institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in

2004. Gansu School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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“GI’OUD”, “we” or “us”

[ERSERERE]

“Guangxi School Sponsor”

[EFEER

“Guangxi Schools”

Y

“Guizhou School”

NGl

“Haxuan Company’

BZEESS- 3

“Henan Rongyu”

(BB B HRE 2R
“HKFRSs”

[7&7T] 3 [

“HK$”, “Hong Kong dollar(s)”, “HKD”

or “cents”

[ & ]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ aE

“Huihuang Company”

B=
DEFINITIONS

RAFETKOWNBEAR FEEEERRGEHBELS IR FXEMIE
RAERBKABERMBARMNERARCAMNBAEMENEHENELCELAEH
BEREBHER

the Company, its subsidiaries, the PRC Operating Schools and the consolidated affiliated entities
from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of the present subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant time

PTMEEXEHREREBR AR —BR2017F8ABRIEFREEEKR L ZBR
A

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Co., Ltd. (SX M HE X EHB R E B R A A,
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August 2017

B REEGBREER BEANMNAERRBERTERMNER R ERRBES
B REHE ERERALRRFNGAHBEER

together, Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* (& P8 B % [ [ B 2 &2 Bx),
Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School* (& 78 &% 1| 2 &5 [
BB 2 BT 224 and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School* (B P8 2% %
I3 B Bk 3 22t BT 28 AR 22). Guangxi Schools are consolidated affiliated entities of the Company

EMIEBESR —AR012F7ABRBEFEEZERIORNEEEREHE
Wi AARANGEHEER

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* (& 1 T p& B % 22%), a private institution of formal
higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012 and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BRAHEREBRAT  —HAR2016F4R 198 RIBEFEEER I BRAF -
BEH AR RRILERAME — 2L

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.* (*& B3 & & 12 &l 5 B BR 2 &), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 19 April 2016. Haxuan Company is the sole sponsor of
the Northeast School

HEEBRABEFRNER AT —HR2017F3A2BRFEKAI 2 BR AR Bk
RAERE2EMB THEBRASGERNE —RHE

Henan Rongyu Education Consulting Co., Ltd.* (A& B ZAABR A F), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 2 March 2017, and wholly-owned by Beijing Daai
Gaoxue. Henan Rongyu is the sole sponsor of the Luoyang School

H B U 1% 2 A
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

AR ABTREWN BEARBNEEEE
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong Kong

R BRI T I
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

FAEAEREEEERBEERAR  —HR2016F8 ASARB R EERK KB R
NE BRAEBNEEWRBRF

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (A KEBIEEERIT AR A
A)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 5 August 2016, which
is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
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DEFINITIONS

(B E=7
“Independent Third Party(ies)”

[ )
“Listing”

E=GR=E-i
“Listing Date”

[ R Al
“Listing Rules”

[E R (20195 )
“Loan Agreement (2019)”
&5 2R

“Luoyang School”

[ 1R

“Main Board”

E:o-5:)

“Ministry of Education” or “MOE”
[ CGEZEspAD |

“Model Code”

EAe
“Mr. Li"

[15 22+ ]
“Ms. Yang”
EERES S

“New Registered Shareholders”

BWIRARAIMEBAEATBHEBEVEBENE =F
third party(ies) who is/are independent of and not connected with the Company and its connected
persons

AR 10 PR B 22 P E MR T
the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

201744 A19H
19 April 2017

2 PTRE 2 B R A (BT ERT)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time to
time

BEAR PR %WE@EEKIHMT_LE’Jﬁ e
a loan agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC Operating
Schools and Yun Ai Group

RSB SE - *FEJJEA2013$6H$ET)§¢ BUEEKINERSEES
BIEERBAARIZIEEHBEES

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (7% F5 Rl £ B 2 225%), a private institution
of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013. Luoyang School
is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BHE S -

HERFEENESFR S A (T
BIE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

EIEEETS) + EB S B R FTGEMAL 5 2 447

REHE
the Ministry of Education of the PRC

FHRBIM ST AEN T ETAESTETIEFRFNE LT
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules

FEHLE ARFNEPA EF—FZERERR EFSEFERNTES
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z2%f), the founder, one of the Controlling Shareholders, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director of the Company

BEELZL ZTHRENRB
Ms. Yang Xuging (45 B &), the spouse of Mr. Li

EEENEBETARBERENRE MEAFEHLEE BT r@fﬁﬁﬁé
EBRAEBRHEMZBERAR SHEELREHATRCETEBARBER R
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group immediately after the completion of the Equity Transfers,
namely Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming Bamupu
Technology Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and
Consulting Services Co., Ltd.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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“Northeast School”

[BEs 5E]

“Pai Dui Pai”

[FEGREHEER

“PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[ FH Bl A EE R
“PRC Legal Advisors”

(B ESR

“PRC Operating Schools”

[HER=ERE]
“Prospectus”

[R5 2E |

“Qinzhou Yinghua”

R

“Registered Shareholders”

[R5 A5 )
“Reporting Period”

B=
DEFINITIONS

MEBBELER  —HNR2004FRBEFEEEXNUNRPSFHEMB - RILE
RERRBNGEHEER

Harbin Huade University* (%5 BB /& %= 1= E2[%), a private institute of higher education established
under the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

ERBEECEEBBRAERAR —MR201056 A28 IRIEFBZEKIMNE
RARIMAFEEE SE20.0568% R R 2R E 2 —

Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (B BA ¥k ¥ BE 4S5 = B 54 5
B BR 7~ 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 2 June 2010
and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 20.0568% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

ERBMRERPELESER SERARAINGABBER UREMBRERLE
BHEH (BARERT) FAREENREZERA A

namely, the School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company and other investment holding companies which were consolidated to the Group
by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time

BRERMEBH AARARTBRER EEER

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, the Company’s legal advisors as to PRC Laws

REMBER NEEER EMBER HEER ZHER RILER - BEASR -
EREREEMNBRARBRBRERIES Q0 ARE B EA SR

the consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Gansu School,
Luoyang School, Northeast School, Guangxi Schools, Central China School and Zhengzhou School
and other schools which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts

ARARBEIR2017F4ASANBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 5 April 2017

HMEREAERBEREBRAT  —ER2017F8 258 IRIEFBRARK L BR
AR VEHSHFTEZERE - RMNAELEASEROME —EiltE

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Company Limited* (/N HEEEXEHEKRE
B BR A7), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August
2017 and wholly owned by Songming Xinju. Qinzhou Yinghua is the sole sponsor of the Guangxi
Schools

EEEEREETHAREEZDZENRE MERAEUHELCEEEHFAGRA
ACBHABRKERZBERAR SHEELEHAT R ETEBARBER QA
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group immediately after the completion of the equity transfer
agreement, namely Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming
Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management
and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.

HE2023F8A3ALLFE
the year ended 31 August 2023

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT & 227



228

B
DEFINITIONS

[ARE]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ A& ]

“School Sponsors”

[ERBHREREEEMNEZT
% (20194 )]

“School Sponsors’ and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)”

[EREMRERESE (2019F) |
“School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019)”

[78 %5 & R 151 ]
“SFO”

[ & 1 ]
“Share(s)”

[ A% 3]
“Shareholder(s)”

(R E#EE (2019%5F)

“Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019)”

[A& R FZ st a5 (20194F ) )
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019)”

I

e

RS

“Songming Dexue”

[ERHE

“Songming Xinju”

AR REREEETE BN
Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC

REEREMEZEEE TEELR BWHEAR FUNEZE - BEQA BN
HoABERAINRBRBREBEES O ARSE B A SR EHE

the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou Yinghua,
Enchang Company, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Bei Ai Company, and other school sponsors
which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts

BRERE PREEER ERBEREZENHEBESERBREQRARITNER
BPERESENEZEHR
the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among
School Sponsors, the PRC Operating Schools, the relevant directors appointed by the School
Sponsors and Huihuang Company

ERBPEDIBERNRIAREARINERBRERES
the school sponsors’ power of attorney executed by the School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company

FBHEREBAEEG (BEEFESNE) (BTRFEFT RER)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended and
supplemented from time to time

A QT IRA R F I EE0.00013E T HY & il i
ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

EVES TN
holder(s) of the Share(s)

RERREAEREEEENRBRREBUESGANHATEENEMBRRABERARA
RmABETHRREES

the shareholders’ power of attorney executed by the Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group
and other shareholders which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured
Contracts in favor of Huihuang Company

HRERE - BRERERIBE QR EINRRENZTIH®
the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholders, the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

SREEHERRBR AT —MR2019F4A1I7TERBEPBEEN L 2BER AT -
HEARE2ERG - 2 ARERTERR 2 — W HEE EE £ E70.8305%2 A H#E
Songming Dexue Education Development Co., Ltd.* (B RAEEH F 2 R AR 2 A)), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 April 2019 and wholly owned
by Mr. Li. Songming Dexue is one of the Registered Shareholders and owns 70.8305% equity
interest of Yun Ai Group

ERMECEERABRAR —MHR2016F10A278RIBEFBEEEN L 2BRA
Al

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Company Limited* (R E N 2EIE BB A F), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 27 October 2016

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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[ BC 1B &5 (20195 ) | i BiEZ T (ZRENRB) AT ERE

“Spouse’s Undertakings (2019)” the spouse undertakings executed by Ms. Yang, the spouse of Mr. Li

[ Bt 32 Fr | 15 EBBMERSERRAA

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[#EREIEEL ] il E(BaEmaE (2019F) BREMRB R EBZAHBZE (2019F) - BRAEEZ

s (2019%F ) ~ IR EE 1R a8 (2019%F ) ~ IR RN Z st sk (20194F ) « B ER B¢
EREFRENEZTHE (2019F) BREBBPERES (2019F) ZE=EEE (2019
F) BRERES (2019F) - ERWHE (2019F) REB#AFE (2019F ) A REE 2
MEAIVHZEME KB E—FFBEDEH N ARG HHA2019F8H26H
201912 A6H +2020F548H + 202097 H29H 20208 H27H - 2021F2 A 4H -
202148208 202145 825H ~ 202149 A28 0 &2021F11 5190 2 R4

“Structured Contracts” collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the
Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the
School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the School Sponsors’
Powers of Attorney (2019), the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Shareholders’ Powers
of Attorney (2019), the Loan Agreement (2019) and the Spouse’s Undertakings (2019), and the
various agreements entered into their connection, further details of which are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 August 2019, 6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July
2020, 27 August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and
19 November 2021, respectively

Kip=NCN it BB EMRAUNME T8RE

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

E 3 it BB EMRAUME TARE

“substantial Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

&7t ] # En - EXBREEES

“USD” or “US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

[EE&H ] & EHEERYEREEEBERAT  —HMN2005FIA19BRIBEFBEZEXNIHE

RAE AERAFHCEEEFAERAR ERENBREERAA  SHE
ERESATRRCETRZARSEER LR D A% F20.0568%  5.7305% * 70.8305%
3.3822%  REEERREMBREOME —LHHE

“Yun Ai Group” Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Lid.* (ZEEERAHZHUEREEBRER A
A)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 September 2005,
which is owned as to 20.0568% by Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co.,
Ltd., 5.7305% by Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd., 70.8305% by Songming Dexue and
3.3822% by Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd. and
the sole sponsor of Yunnan School and Guizhou School

[EEER] & EHIFSEk (AEEEERRRNGBESE  [MHEk]) - —HR2005F R E
HEEERUNRRESERBERE RARANGAHBEELS
“Yunnan School” Yunnan Technology and Business University* (& T % 2 Ft) (formerly known as Yunnan

Einsun Software Vocational College* (E & & B AR BB 2 2F%) (“Software College”)), a
private institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2005, and
a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company
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[EFBEER

“Yunnan Vocational School”

[ &8N = 24

“Zhengzhou New Higher Education”

[ 8P 4%

“Zhengzhou School”

kNIl

“Zhongyi Company”

(%]
oy

METFERTHEBLCENT X EWELEY
EEEAMT— M2 E B XEEREA
ARERLENTXRAMES

CI=l=]

] AMEHBRZ A -

S UL
Bl MARKERBEXZBNPXEFRNES

% ES

Z 5

ERSVEREEARUAEEIERAERAR (FAEHBAEE T AGZEHEY
B )

Kunming High-tech District Einsun Education and Training School Co., Ltd.* (R A& #T & & &
BRABEINEREGRAF) (formerly known as Einsun Science and Technology Vocational
College” (EME AZRBHEHEZ2M))

BN EBHEREERAG —HARPEKINERAG REESENMEE
2EWERR REMNBRAME —BHE

Zhengzhou New Higher Education Technology Limited* (ZSM i m# B R BB A7), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun
Ai Group and the sole sponsor of Zhengzhou School

BN T ESRR —HURPETEESNTORISEREREER AKX
DA BB E

Zhengzhou City Vocational College* (5 35 T 5% %5 ZFx), a private higher vocational college
located in Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC and a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

EHFECEXEEEENRBER AR —ER2016F7 A128 R BUEEK LAY
ERAANAEAEEEEEII822%NRENTCER R —

Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.* (S B3RPz >3
BB AR AR A ), alimited liability company established under the laws of PRC on 12
July 2016 and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 3.3822% equity interest in Yun
Ai Group

BOk
percent

If there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of entities or
enterprises established in the PRC and their English translations, the Chinese
names shall prevail. The English translation of company or entity names in
Chinese or another language which are marked with “*” and the Chinese
translation of company or entity names in English which are marked with “*” is
for identification purpose only.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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ATIO

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Ms. Shen Chunmei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023)
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)

Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023)

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (appointed on 25 April 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)

Mr. Hu Jianbo (resigned on 25 April 2023)

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (appointed on 25 April 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan
Mr. Zhao Shuai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Wai Ling

LEGAL ADVISORS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
19th Floor

Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong
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AfBREE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HMBRPBEETEEREE

PR

BHR5 @ BB e 70 B FR 53R
[Bl Bl & i & 5 F

2018
ERTEECENMEY
a5

BT B KER2485
KT & B L4002

REREROBFERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

EERMBFEILRE
BAPRBHFELABRAA
s

BT

2R RER1835R
SRR
17181712-17165% 47
FEERBIT

P EIERTT

FRERARTT

R RIRTT

EEIRTT

TEHERTT

1B A ERTT
REAEERNAERIT
BEEIRTT

REEBEZ
®EEBERE

& # ¢ ir@xingaojiao.com
Mk - 2 T 58 B H168-2005%
B L P EI310E
NIRRT
http://www.xingaojiao.com
iz 10X 5%

2001

A

20174 H19H

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

THE PRC

20/F

Tower F, Phoenix Place

5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District
Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre

No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China

China Minsheng Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
China Guangfa Bank

Citibank

Hang Seng Bank

Kunming Guandu Rural Cooperative Bank
Industrial Bank

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Investor Relations Department

Email: ir@xingaojiao.com

Address: Room 1310, Shun Tak Centre West Tower
168-200 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
http://www.xingaojiao.com

STOCK CODE
2001

DATE OF LISTING
19 April 2017
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